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Financial Highlights

202412831 H
December 31,
2024

(ARBTARS)
BB 58
EHE R

(Renminbi (“RMB”)

in millions, unless

specified)
N Revenue 10,129.1 8,863.4 14.3%
EF Gross profit 889.4 1,029.9 (13.6)%
48 35 7 Profit from operations 427.9 465.4 (8.0)%
F R Profit for the year 273.5 319.9 (14.5)%
AN BRI R ENEF Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 189.9 210.7 9.9%
BRAEF(SKREF])  Eanings per share (‘EPS’)
(BRARMBT) (RMB per share) N
— ®HR — basic 0.139 0.154 9.7%
— & — diluted 0.138 0.154 (10.4)%
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Chairman’s Statement
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E# & KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey
= & Chairman

In 2024, global artificial intelligence technology entered a crucial stage
of accelerated integration and innovation, with the continued
expansion of application scenarios, driving Al technology from the
concept stage to practical implementation. As the core driver of
digitalization and intelligence, chips are rapidly penetrating various
industries. The Group has firmly grasped this trend. Through our two
main businesses, Comtech and Ingdan, the Group has deepened our
capabilities across the entire “chip-device-cloud” industrial chain, and
jumpstarted innovation momentum into the global technology
ecosystem.

The technological breakthroughs of generative Al (AIGC) and the
rapid development of the humanoid robot industry have driven
exponential growth in the demand for high-performance computing
chips, as well as accelerated upgrading for cloud computing, edge
computing, and storage architectures. As a core service provider in
the Al computing power supply chain, Comtech actively participates
in the construction of the global computing power network. It
conducts in-depth cooperation with international original equipment
manufacturers (OEMs) and local enterprises, providing efficient
technological and supply chain services for data centers and Al
servers. Through self-developed Al technologies, large language
models, and industry knowledge bases, Comtech continuously
enhances its chip solutions, creating higher value for customers.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Ingdan focuses on the new energy industry, especially in the field of
two-wheeler battery replacement and re-utilization, and has achieved
remarkable results. The Company has built an intelligent management
platform covering battery life-cycle, and developed a proprietary
smart battery management system that monitors battery status in
real-time to optimize its performance, significantly improving battery
efficiency. Meanwhile, Ingdan has developed its two-wheeler battery
cloud services to capture the RMB100 billion “blue ocean” market
opportunity as a new growth driver the Group, and support the
realization of the national “double carbon” goal.

Looking ahead, the in-depth integration of Al and the real economy
will drive the continuous release of new quality productivity, with
demand for chips expected to remain high. The country’s “Artificial
Intelligence +” initiative was first proposed in the 2024 Government
Work Report, and included in the 2025 Government Work Report as
a separate chapter, indicating that Al technology has become a
national strategic priority. In alignment with the government policy, the
Group will give full play to the synergy advantages of Comtech and
Ingdan by focusing on five major fields downstream, including smart
vehicles, digital infrastructure, industrial interconnection, energy
control, and big consumption, improving the “chip-device-cloud”
closed loop for the industry. We believe this strategic buildout will lay
a solid foundation for the Group to compete in the Al era.

Meanwhile, we will also continue to increase investments in innovation
and technology, and provide more efficient technical integration and
data services to the partners in the industrial chain through the
optimization and upgrading of our iPaaS platform, thereby
accelerating the launch of intelligent applications. We will actively
expand the Group’s global layout through exploring international
cooperation and strategic investment opportunities, to enhance
market competitiveness with a diversified business model. Leveraging
our intelligent tools and customized services, we will further enhance
customer loyalty and satisfaction, and consolidate our leading
position in the industry.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our management team, employees, customers, suppliers,
and Shareholders. In this new era of the rapid development of Al
technology, we remain committed to innovation and aim to boost our
growth, create long-term value for Shareholders, as well as contribute
to society with technology, joining hands to create a bright future for
intelligent technology.

KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 31, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Overall business and financial performance of the
Group

The Group is an innovative technology services platform conglomerate
dedicated to connecting upstream chip technology with the needs of
downstream innovation enterprises. Through proprietary Al
technology, large language models (“LLMs”), and specialized industry
knowledge bases, the Group provides customers with cutting-edge
chip application technology solutions, and efficient supply chain
management services. The Group’s core businesses are Comtech, a
technology services platform for the chip industry, and Ingdan, a
platform providing AloT technology and services.

During the Reporting Period, benefiting from continued strong
demand for Al computing power and growing demand for chips from
industries related to Al technology, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB10,129.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately 14.3% as compared to approximately RMB8,863.4
million for the corresponding period in 2023. Gross profit of the Group
was approximately RMB889.4 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 13.6%. Profit from operations was
approximately RMB427.9 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 8.0%. Net profit after tax was
approximately RMB273.5 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 14.5%. The increase in sales volume from
large customers impacted the overall gross margin, coupled with
higher interest costs of US dollars. These led to a decrease of profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Contlnued)
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Revolutionary breakthroughs in AIGC technology and the
technological leaps in the humanoid robot industry are comprehensively
reshaping the global chip industry ecosystem. Market demand for
high-performance computing chips is growing exponentially, driving
the upgrade of cloud computing infrastructure and the iteration of
edge computing devices, while also promoting technological
innovation in storage chip architecture. As Al applications such as
Deep Seek, ChatGPT, and Gemini are gradually implemented,
industry leaders are accelerating the buildout of Al infrastructure,
further driving the recovery of the chip market. According to the
Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA) of the United States,
surging demand for Al processors and memory drove global chip
sales to a record high in 2024, breaking the US$600 billion mark for
the first time, reaching US$627.6 bilion, marking a year-on-year
increase of 19.1%. Among them, sales in the fourth quarter reached
US$170.9 billion, marking a year-on-year increase of 17.1% and
quarter-to-quarter growth of 3.0% respectively. By region, annual
chip sales in the Americas, China, Asia Pacific and Other regions
increased by 44.8%, 18.3%, and 12.5%, respectively'. Looking

E112% HA T AMEFEEREERIEFEE  ahead to 2025, SIA expects global chip sales to maintain double-digit

10.4%° ° growth. The World Semiconductor Trade Statistics (WSTS) also
predicts global chip sales to climb to US$697.2 bilion in 2025, an
annual increase of 11.2%, with the Asia-Pacific region expected to
grow at an annual rate of 10.4%”.

1 Global Semiconductor Sales Increase 19.1% in 2024; Double-Digit Growth Projected in 2025

https://www.semiconductors.org/global-semiconductor-sales-increase-19-1-in-2024-double-digit-growth-projected-in-2025/

2 WSTS Semiconductor Market Forecast Fall 2024

https://www.wsts.org/esraCMS/extension/media/f/WST/6765/WSTS_FC-Release-2024_11.pdf

F£3R 2024 WEAH 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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During the strategic opportunity period of the global chip industry’s
development, the coordinated evolution of Al, cloud computing, and
loT technologies, coupled with technological breakthroughs in the
humanoid robot industry, is pushing global computing power demand
onto an exponential growth track. This track not only gives rise to the
iterative demand for high-performance computing chips such as
GPUs and ASICs, but also drives technological upgrades across the
entire industry chain of high-speed storage chips and intelligent
network equipment. Together they form a complete innovation
ecosystem, from chip design and manufacturing, to application
terminals. In this context, as a core supplier on the Al computing
power supply chain, Comtech is deeply involved in the construction
of the global compuitility network, and serves a broad spectrum of
sectors including computing centers, data centers, Al servers, Al
switch networking products, optical modules and a wide range of Al
applications. Comtech works closely with global leading chip
manufacturers, and has been an agent for the products of over 80
major companies including Nvidia, AMD-Xilinx, Intel, and other well-
known international manufacturers, in addition to numerous domestic
chipmakers. Comtech’s main products include GPUs, CPUs, FPGAs,
ASICs, memory chips, software, and other full product series.

With years of successful business operations, Comtech has
accumulated extensive application technology experience and
industrial resources, allowing it to provide chip application technology
solutions and supply chain management services for tens of
thousands of downstream customers within the innovation industry.
Through its proprietary Al technology, LLMs and professional
knowledge base, Comtech is able to provide intelligent and
automated solutions in the areas of chip selection, hardware design,
software development, and system integration, which greatly
enhances product performance and reliability. Additionally, by
applying Al technology and big data analytics to achieve intelligent
supply chain management, Comtech has increased operational
efficiency while reducing costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Comtech also holds a number of proprietary intellectual properties,
including an intelligent algorithm library, industry-specific LLMs, an
intelligent hardware design platform, an auto-adaptive system
architecture, an intelligent development toolchain, and a large number
of innovative technology patents, which lend a competitive advantage
in the fields of Al chip application and intelligent supply chain.
Leveraging the combination of advanced Al technologies and deep
industry expertise, Comtech continues to improve its service quality,
create greater value for its customers, and lead the industry in
technological innovation.

Ingdan, on the other hand, focuses on the new energy industry,
dedicating efforts to developing the industry for two-wheeler battery
replacement and re-utilization, as well as building a reliable asset
management platform for traceable lithium battery life-cycle data.
Ingdan provides customized solutions for two-wheeler battery
replacement, power re-utilization, and energy storage. Its proprietary
smart battery management platform can monitor real-time battery
status, effectively improve battery usage efficiency and cycles, and
realize the smart management of the whole battery life cycle from
production calibration, safe operation, asset management, efficiency
management, and recycling tracking. The business has strategically
focused on two- wheeler battery cloud services, aiming to keep track
of the market trend of new energy smart battery clouds, in order to
seize the RMB100 billion “blue ocean” market opportunity. The
project would enable the Group to sustain profitability while
contributing to the advocacy of the product standardization of China’s
two-wheeler battery replacement industry, providing technical support
and industrial driving force for the realization of the national “double
carbon” goal of carbon peaking and carbon neutrality.

F3R 2024 WEAIH
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Utilizing the Group’s deep resources and technological strengths in
the chip industry, Ingdan Academy brings together the world’s
leading chip application technologies to provide all-round technical
services and talent training for the industry. The Academy assists
upstream Al chip manufacturers in promoting their products and
technologies in the market by offering professional technical training,
while growing Al technical talent to help downstream Al application
enterprises quickly adopt the latest Al technologies and products,
thereby comprehensively enhancing those enterprises’ Al capabilities.
Ingdan Academy also provides enterprises with locally deployed Al
LLMs application solutions and helps enterprises achieve
multidisciplinary Al digital transformations. To date, Ingdan Academy
has successfully trained over 2,000 chip application engineers,
supplying the industry with a large number of highly qualified
professionals. Through continuous talent training and technical
support, Ingdan Academy is fully supporting Shenzhen in becoming a
leading chip application industry hub in China and globally, greatly
contributing to the development of the national chip industry.
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Future Prospects

The Group’s goal is to become the world’s leading technology service
platform, leveraging the Group’s “Comtech + Ingdan” business model
to form a “chip-device-cloud” closed loop for the intelligent hardware
industry. The Group strives to serve the whole of China’s growing
tech market and intends to pursue the following growth strategies to
achieve its goal:

l. Capture Business Opportunities in Al

Driven by market developments, Al technologies continue to be
implemented commercially. Al has become a crucial foundation
for enterprises’ digitalization and intelligentization, while chip
applications, intelligent hardware, and big data serve as key
pillars for various industries to accelerate their digital
transformations. According to the latest forecast by the
International Data Corporation (IDC) in its Worldwide Al and
Generative Al Spending Guide, spending in the global Al market
is expected to reach US$632 billion by 2028, with a compound
annual growth rate (CAGR) of approximately 29.0%° over five
years, as Al (particularly AIGC) rapidly integrates into various
products. Additionally, research by China International Capital
Corporation (CICC) estimates that the market demand for
China’s Al industry will reach RMB5.6 trillion by 2030, with total
investment in the Al industry in China projected to exceed
RMB10 trillion* between 2024 and 2030.

Worldwide Spending on Artificial Intelligence Forecast to Reach $632 Billion in 2028, According to a New IDC Spending Guide

AREH R A& AF204MERATEERASRBME T ERERHNER
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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With the rapid development of Al technology, it is increasingly
evident that LLMs are accelerating in their iterations with a trend
towards multi-modality. The rising demand for computing
power has propelled an already soaring market for Al servers.
This trend not only further opens up the Al chip market, but also
greatly increases the demand on the Al computing power
supply chain, which has become the main driving force for
growth in Comtech’s business. With the rise of concepts such
as the new economy, smart cities, digital transformation, the
meta-universe, and AIGC, the commercial value and strategic
significance of Al technology applications within enterprises’
business operations are becoming more significant, in both the
supply and demand sides of the market. In the future, Al will be
further applied to the real economy and innovation, driving new
scientific and technological transformations and creating new
opportunities.

China is also actively promoting its development of science and
technology to enhance its competitiveness. The country’s
“Artificial Intelligence +” initiative was first proposed in the 2024
Government Work Report. The initiative not only aligns with the
global trend of Al development, but also closely links to the
general trend of China’s industrial upgrading, with the goal of
in-depth integration of Al technology into various industries. The
initiative reflects the high importance the government attaches
to Al, and is part of its greater policy design to drive China’s
iteration and upgrade from the “Internet Age” to the “Al Age”. It
is also an important aspect of developing new productive
forces. By placing great importance on Al development, China
has actively promoted the deep integration of the Internet, big
data, Al, and the real economy to expand the intelligent industry
and accelerate the development of new productive forces,
providing new impetus for high-quality development. The Group
believes that, with strong support at the national level, the Al
industry will experience another round of substantial growth,
which opens up a new chapter for the development of the
digital industry.
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The Group will also accelerate its presence in the Al industry
chain by capturing development opportunities arising from Al
technology. Capitalizing on its industrial strengths, the Group
will cater to the Al industry chain through Comtech and Ingdan,
and hasten its construction of an innovation-driven development
model. Comtech, as the technology service platform for the
chip industry, will continue to research and develop, and
enhance the design of chip application solutions in order to
meet Al technologies’ market demand for high-performance
chips and computing power. The Al computing power supply
chain is expected to embark on accelerated growth. Meanwhile,
Ingdan, by leveraging its big data analysis capability with “Ingdan
Cloud”, will effectively integrate complete intelligent hardware
application solutions with products to speed up the successful
application of Al products. The Group will continue to upgrade
its service platform in order to provide complete service
coverage for the entire Al industry chain, and capture business
opportunities arising from the smart transformation of China.
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Enhance revenue streams from Ingdan

The Group intends to further enhance Ingdan’s revenue
streams. In this regard, the Group will actively focus on the
development of a new energy smart battery cloud business and
the deployment of resources for cloud services for two-wheeler
vehicle batteries, capitalizing on an important new market trend.
Additionally, in order to capture new opportunities in the Al era,
the Group has built an iPaaS technology integration platform, to
become a core technology provider serving the AloT “chip-
device-cloud” industry chain, with emphasis on five intelligent
hardware fields: smart vehicles, digital infrastructure, industrial
interconnection, energy control, and big consumption. As an
enterprise services platform, the Group acquires a large number
of customers, collecting their purchasing demands and data on
its platforms, while offering powerful analytical tools as
enterprise services. The Group’s “chip-device-cloud” industrial
closed loop is primed to meet the needs of the Al industry
chain. The “chip” part of the model is to provide, through
Comtech, suppliers in the upstream of the chip industry with
application design and distribution services for chips to expand
the downstream market. Ingdan focuses on the “device” and
“cloud” services portions. Using big data resource analysis and
mature integration solutions, Ingdan provides technical
integration support from systems and terminals to the cloud,
delivering tailormade solutions for various emerging industries.
As such, the “chip-device-cloud” industrial closed loop creates
synergy, enabling Ingdan to drive greater contributions to the
Group in the future. As Ingdan’s research and development
projects become more sophisticated, proprietary products will
contribute even more momentum to the Group’s performance.
The Group also plans to further enhance its performance by
providing value-added services to customers, including but not
limited to the provision of corporate and technology services, as
well as investment services such as incubation programs.
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Develop an ecosystem for the electronics
manufacturing value chain

The Group plans to develop an open, collaborative, and
prosperous electronic manufacturing industry ecosystem that
will benefit the business operations of customers and suppliers.
The Group believes this will also drive its long-term business
growth. The Group intends to broaden its platforms’
value-added services by extending into related businesses that
serve the electronics manufacturing value chain, such as supply
chain financing, insurance, and cloud computing services.

Additionally, the Group plans to monetize the vast amount of
data collected from its customers and suppliers and offer
data-driven services, such as marketing and advertising
planning, merchandising, product customization, fulfilment
management, and third-party data services. The Group believes
these complementary services will become natural extensions
of the Group’s service mix, and will help attract and retain
customers.

Further enhance customer loyalty and increase
purchases per customer

The Group plans to continuously enhance its customer loyalty
and generate greater sales from existing customers. The Group
intends to leverage its advanced market analytics tools to make
its online and offline platforms more efficient and relevant to its
customers. The Group will also continue to enhance customized
content on its platforms, by continuously collecting and
analyzing customers’ data and feedback to gain a better
understanding of their needs, so as to refer suitable products or
develop new customized products according to customers’
business needs and market trends.
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The Group also plans to continuously develop new
complementary services aimed at offering a complete range of
products and solutions for customers. Accordingly, the Group
has invested more resources in customer service, order
fulfilment, and delivery capabilities in order to enhance service
reliability and shorten customer response time, further
enhancing the overall performance of its platforms. To increase
the repeat purchase rates of newly acquired customers, the
Group will continue to provide the key procurement personnel
of new customers with powerful online tools, enterprise
resource planning, and other complementary services. These
services will enable the Group to maintain constant interactive
communications with key personnel to better understand
customers’ demands and their product development.
Accordingly, the Group will be able to create customized
marketing plans targeting new customers, while cross-selling
other products.

Pursue strategic partnerships and acquisition
opportunities

In addition to growing business through internal initiatives, the
Group plans to expand its business through strategic
partnerships and acquisitions. The Group will continue to look
across enterprises in different segments with good potential for
investment, collaboration, or acquisition. Such strategic
partnerships and acquisitions will further enhance the Group’s
business operations, help the Group expand its user and
revenue base, widen geographic coverage, enhance product
and service offerings, improve technology infrastructure, as well
as strengthen talent pools. The Group’s diversified business
portfolio will also enhance its market strengths by targeting
different market segments. The Group also plans to leverage its
market position and business model to seek attractive
cross-marketing and licensing opportunities, to enhance its
sales capabilities and capture new market expansion
opportunities brought by Al.
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2024 F E22023 FF §I Lk & Year of 2024 compared to year of 2023
TR & 5112024 F B2 2023 F H) L B HUE ¢ The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the year of

2024 and the year of 2023:

2024 F
12H31H

December 31,
2024
(AR¥®BEETRT)
(RMB in millions)

L' ON Revenue 10,129.1 8,863.4
$HE A Cost of sales (9,239.7) (7,833.5)
EF Gross profit 889.4 1,029.9
B - R R EsE Other income, gains and losses 24.1 52.9
HERDHEAZ Selling and distribution expenses (186.2) (175.7)
8 X Research and development expenses (104.1) (102.6)
TR R E At 48 & B 2 Administrative and other operating
expenses (221.7) (815.0)

CREERERERD Reversal of impairment losses (impairment

(REEE) losses) of financial assets 26.4 (24.1)
BT Profit from operations 427.9 465.4
B 75 K 7R Finance costs (125.3) (109.3)
FEAE & N R EE Share of results of associates 6.4 4.4
R B 51 0% R Profit before tax 309.0 360.5
A5 B 5 X Income tax expenses (35.5) (40.6)
FREF Profit for the year 273.5 319.9
DT EAFEREF : Profit for the year attributable to:

ViN/NETEF SN Owners of the Company 189.9 210.7

TR = Non-controlling interests 83.6 109.2
FREF Profit for the year 273.5 319.9
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Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2024, profit from operations
decreased and amounted to approximately RMB427.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB37.5 million as
compared with approximately RMB465.4 million for the corresponding
period of 2023. Profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB273.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB46.4 million as compared with approximately RMB319.9 million
in 2023. Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB189.9 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB20.8 million compared with
approximately RMB210.7 million in 2023.

Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB10,129.1 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB1,265.7 million or approximately
14.3% as compared with approximately RMB8,863.4 million in 2023.
The Group’s revenue comprised approximately RMB10,085.1 million
of sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT products and
proprietary and semi-conductor products, approximately RMB3.0
million of service revenue from software licensing, and approximately
RMB41.0 million of revenue from IngFin Financing Services. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in demand for chips from
the Al technology-related industry, and the gradual recovery of some
markets such as storage and memory module products.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024, was
approximately RMB9,239.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 18.0% from approximately RMB7,833.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in cost of revenue was
due to an increase in revenue described under the paragraph headed
“Revenue”.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2024, was
approximately RMB889.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 13.6% from approximately RMB1,029.9 million
compared with the figures in 2023. The decrease was primarily driven
by a decrease in gross margin from 11.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2023, to 8.8% for the corresponding period of 2024.
The decrease was primarily caused by a change in customer mix, in
which revenue earned from large customers during 2024 was
relatively higher than that in the corresponding period of 2023. In
general, since gross margin for sales to large customers was
comparatively lower, more sales to large customers resulted in lower
overall gross margin.

Other Income, gains and losses

For the year ended December 31, 2024, other income, gains and
losses of the Group amounted to approximately RMB24.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB28.8 million or
approximately 54.4% as compared with approximately RMB52.9
million in 2023. This was primarily due to government grants of
approximately RMB4.6 million recorded for the year ended December
31, 2024, as compared to approximately RMB19.8 million recorded
in the corresponding period of 2023. The change in other income,
gains and losses was also primarily due to a net foreign exchange
gain of approximately RMB3.8 million recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as compared to nil amount recorded in the
corresponding period of 2024, and a loss on disposal of investment
properties of approximately RMB0.8 million recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2024, as compared to nil amount recorded in
the corresponding period of 2023.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended December 31,
2024, amounted to approximately RMB186.2 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB10.5 million or 6.0% from
approximately RMB175.7 million in 2023. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in logistics and warehousing costs as a result of
an increase in product quantities of sales, and an increase in other
selling related costs such as marketing and promotion campaigns for
new customer acquisition.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended December
31, 2024, amounted to approximately RMB104.1 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB1.5 million or approximately 1.5%
from approximately RMB102.6 million in 2023. This was primarily due
to more expenses spent on the research and development of IC chip
distribution and application design, AloT products and technologies,
as well as customized technical solutions for proprietary products.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2024, administrative and other
operating expenses amounted to approximately RMB221.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB93.3 million or
approximately 29.6% from approximately RMB315.0 million in 2023,
which was primarily due to amortization of intangible assets of
approximately RMB121.9 million recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to approximately RMB190.3
million recorded in the corresponding period of 2023. The decrease
was also the result of depreciation of investment properties of
approximately RMB3.5 million recorded for the year of 2024 as
compared to approximately RMB15.3 million recorded in the
corresponding period of 2023.

Reversal of impairment losses (impairment losses) of
financial assets

This was primarily due to reversal of loss allowance on trade
receivables of approximately RMB26.4 million recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2024, as compared to loss allowance on trade
receivables of approximately RMB24.1 million recorded in the
corresponding period of 2023.

Income Tax

Qur income tax decreased by approximately 12.6% from
approximately RMB40.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2023, to approximately RMB35.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, primarily due to a decrease in profit before tax
as a result of the decreased profit from operations. The effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31, 2024, was 11.5%, as
compared to 11.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The
increase in effective tax rate was mainly due to increased ratio of
profits contributed by both Hong Kong and PRC subsidiaries to
profits contributed by PRC subsidiaries with tax exemptions. The
profits tax rate in Hong Kong is 16.5% while the income tax rate in
the PRC is 25%.
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Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company for the Reporting Period

For the year ended December 31, 2024, profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately RMB189.9
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB20.8 million or
approximately 9.9% as compared to approximately RMB210.7 million
in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in finance
costs by approximately RMB16.0 million, from RMB109.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, to RMB125.3 million for the
corresponding period of 2024. The increase in finance costs was the
result of an increase in bank borrowings. The decrease was also
partially due to decreased profit from operations, which was offset in
part by a decrease in income tax expenses year-on-year.

Liquidity and Source of Funding

As of December 31, 2024, the current assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB6,740.0 million, which mainly comprised cash
and bank balances (including pledged deposits), inventories and trade
and other receivables, in the amount of approximately RMB839.7
million, RMB3,510.5 million and approximately RMB2,380.7 million,
respectively. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB4,781.2 million, of which approximately
RMB1,885.9 million was bank loans and approximately RMB2,475.2
million was trade and other payables. As of December 31, 2024, the
current ratio (the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the Group
was 1.41, representing a decrease of approximately 6.6% as
compared with 1.51 as of December 31, 2023. The change in the
current ratio was primarily due to a change from non-current portion
to current portion of other financial liabilities, an increase in bank loans
and a decrease in inventories, offset by a decrease in trade and other
payables, and an increase in trade and other receivables.

Pursuant to the subscription agreements entered into on September
10, 2020, September 25, 2020, October 16, 2020, and June 29,
2021 (together, the “Subscriptions”), a redemption right was
granted by the Group to each investor. The redemption right
constituted a contract that contains an obligation for the Group to
repurchase the equity instruments of the subsidiaries of the Group
and gives rise to a redemption financial liability recognized at the
present value of the redemption price, being RMB650.1 million, and
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Such redemption right
under the Subscriptions have been exercised by certain investors on
December 31, 2024. Further details of the Subscriptions and the
exercise of the redemption right are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated September 10, 2020, September 25, 2020,
October 16, 2020, June 29, 2021, and December 31, 2024.
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The Group does not have other debt financing obligations as of
December 31, 2024, or the date of this annual results announcement
and does not have any breaches of financial covenants.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the capital expenditure of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB31.0 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB137.0 million or approximately
81.5% compared with approximately RMB168.0 million in 2023. The
decrease in the capital expenditure was primarily due to a decrease in
additions of right-of-use assets and a decrease in purchases of
intangible assets for R&D of proprietary products year-on-year.

Net Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, the net gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated by dividing net debt (total bank loans, lease liabilities
and other financial liabilities minus cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits) by the sum of net debt and total equity was
approximately 27.8% as compared with 25.1% as of December 31,
2023. The increase was primarily due to an increase in bank loans
during the Reporting Period.

Significant Investments

The Group did not make any material investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets as of December 31, 2024) for the Reporting
Period.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated December
31, 2024 (the “Redemption Announcement’), the Exercising
Investors (as defined in the Redemption Announcement) had notified
the Company of the exercise of the Redemption Right (as defined in
the Redemption Announcement). As a result, the Company through
Kugouwang E-commerce, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, would repurchase from the Exercising Investors (the
“Redemption”) an aggregate of approximately 5.58% interest in
Shenzhen Comtech.
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Pursuant to the Redemption, on an aggregated basis, the Company’s
shareholding in Shenzhen Comtech (through the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries, Alphalink and Kugouwang E-commerce) will
increase from 66.84% to 72.42%. Shenzhen Comtech will continue
to be a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company after the
completion of the Redemption and the financial results of Shenzhen
Comtech will continue to be consolidated into those of the Group. For
further details of the Redemption, please refer to the Redemption
Announcement.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals during the Reporting Period.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Shenzhen Comtech has submitted its listing application to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Proposed A-Share Listing (the
“Proposed A-Share Listing”) on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange on June 28, 2022 (the “ChiNext Board Listing
Application”), which was notified by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
on June 30, 2022, that the application for the Proposed A-Share
Listing was acknowledged.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated March 27,
2025, the application for the pre-listing tutoring process in connection
with the proposed spin-off and the Proposed A-Share Listing
submitted by the financial advisor of Shenzhen Comtech to the
Shenzhen Regulatory Bureau of China Securities Regulatory
Commission has been approved on March 26, 2025. As of the date
of this annual report, Shenzhen Comtech has not submitted any
official application for listing to any relevant regulatory authorities in
the PRC. Subsequently, the Company will make further submission
and/or disclosure as and when appropriate pursuant to the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules

Further details of the Proposed A-Share Listing can be referred to the
announcements of the Company dated September 30, 2021,
December 7, 2021, June 30, 2022, February 28, 2023, June 27,
2023, January 31, 2024, April 18, 2024 and March 27, 2025 and the
circular of the Company dated March 10, 2022 in relation to the
proposed spin-off and the Proposed A-Share Listing of Shenzhen
Comtech on a stock exchange in the PRC.
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The financial data of Shenzhen Comtech referred to in this annual
report is based on the separately managed business segments
identified and allocated by the Company and therefore is not
equivalent to the financial data of Shenzhen Comtech for the
Proposed A-Share Listing. The Group currently holds approximately
69.05% of Shenzhen Comtech, which financial statements will
continue to be consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Pledge of Assets

Except for the pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB231.5
million and approximately RMB287.7 milion as of December 31,
2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively, the Group did not have
any pledge of assets for the year ended December 31, 2024. The
pledged bank deposits were placed as security for credit facilities
granted by several banks in Hong Kong and PRC.

Contingent Liabilities

Neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities as of December 31, 2024.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Foreign currency transactions during the Reporting Period are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the Reporting Period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in foreign currencies are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non- monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was determined.

The results of operations with functional currency other than RMB are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of transactions. Condensed
consolidated statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the Reporting
Period. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.
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On disposal of an operation with functional currency other than RMB,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to that
operation with functional currency other than RMB is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognized.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not use any derivative
financial instruments to hedge against the volatility associated with
foreign currency transactions and other financial assets and liabilities
arising in the ordinary course of business. The Group’s management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Events After the Reporting Period

1.  Subscription Agreement

On February 7, 2025, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with the
subscriber, Optimum Profuse Technology (HK) Limited (the
“Subscriber”), an independent third party to the Company and
its connected persons, pursuant to which the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue and allot, 250,000,000
subscription shares (the “Subscription Shares”) at the
subscription price of HK$1.30 each for an aggregate amount of
HK$325,000,000. The Subscription Shares would be issued
and allotted under the general mandate granted as at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on June 5, 2024,
to the Subscriber in two tranches. The subscription completion
is subject to the conditions set out in the paragraph headed
“Conditions precedent to the Subscription Completion” in the
announcement dated February 10, 2025 (the “Subscription
Announcement”). The 250,000,000 Subscription Shares
represent (i) approximately 17.93% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the Subscription
Announcement; and (i) approximately 15.20% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Subscription Shares (assuming no other
changes made to the issued share capital of the Company
between the date of the Subscription Announcement and the
subscription completion).

F£35 2024 WEAH 27



28

EEE R WD (&)

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

REWBEIEEM TR EE _HEX(E
EHRREBEELAE)NMAZSHKHEHE
BHBEER (BEBIFMEHERBERD
FHEREE) mETEKER2025F2
H20B%E - AL IRIE—MITEE 1T
125,000,000 % A~ 2 &1 ¥ & 10+ M A 2 &
BT M4 N2025F2A20H |
1,394,262,732 & i% {7 1 =1,519,262,732 %
B 5 > 20253 A3H » B —# e R
T ARREDBTIRMMELHEEAWA
1,519,262,732 1% 3 2= 1,644,262,732 % °

EHEZRBARRATROZEZF
B BL2HRABEETEAERARAIBHA
20252 A20H Kk2025F3 A3 2 A& -

2. AEEENRHER
BAFHRIEAKBREE] —HMEZ
BE KRABEM AR REHEREED

B B T IR o

ARG HBENFEFABEBE -2
A% BEYHELRARER(ERERAR
NAEI2021F6 A298 2 RE A% (20212
BAS)))EAERBEENR2024F12 417
FrERE YEAQARMBEHEBNESE
8B 2 E O H2024F F KT K E2026
FOHI0RH W% BEANFHRA - B

B E R AIZ BRI KT

Bl TR A BREE KR
AERE RERENEREEERRE
T (E&ER2021 RBEBAE) GER B8t 7 H
FEIBEE SHIKERKREE]NTE
HARRARBAEEKRBE  ABEESEZ
B [0 7 2024 K & &K £20264F6 A

30H -

ARRHRE EHRANNERERERE
ERGIREERREZETEBERZEED

— SR -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

All conditions to Tranche One Completion and Tranche Two
Completion (both defined in the Subscription Announcement),
as set out in the Subscription Agreement, have subsequently
been satisfied (including the grant of the approval for the listing
of, and permission to deal in, the Subscription Shares by the
Stock Exchange) and Tranche One Completion took place on
February 20, 2025. As a result, 125,000,000 new shares of the
Company have been issued under the general mandate and the
number of total issued shares of the Company has increased
from 1,394,262,732 shares to 1,519,262,732 shares on
February 20, 2025. On March 3, 2025, Tranche Two
Completion took place and as a result, the number of total
issued shares of the Company has increased from
1,519,262,732 shares to 1,644,262,732 shares.

Please refer to the Subscription Announcement and the
announcements of the Company dated February 20, 2025 and
March 3, 2025, for more details of the subscription of new
shares of the Company.

Update in relation to the Redemption

Further to the Redemption as set out in the section headed
“Material Acquisitions and Disposals” of this annual report, the
Company wishes to provide the latest update on the recent
developments regarding the Redemption to the Shareholders.

Upon further discussions between the Company and Yuecai
Emerging and Chuangying Jianke, as defined in the subscription
announcement of the Company dated June 29, 2021 (“2021
Subscription Announcement”), Yuecai Emerging and
Chuangying Jianke have decided to revoke their exercise of the
Redemption right in December 2024 and have mutually agreed
with the Company to extend their respective Redemption right
from the end of 2024 to June 30, 2026 instead. Thereafter, in
addition to Yuecia Emerging and Chuangying Jianke, Yimi
Kaide, Yimi VC, Zhongtai, Shenbao Yiben, Shengdong
Investment, Changsheng Jiuliang Investment, Woshun
Investment and Guangdong Industrial Development Fund (as
defined in the 2021 Subscription Announcement) (together with
Yuecai Emerging and Chuangying Jianke, the “Extended
Investors”) have also mutually agreed with the Company to
extend their respective Redemption Right from the end of 2024
to June 30, 2026 as of the date of this annual report.

The Company will make further disclosure regarding exercise of
Redemption Right by the Extended Investors as and when
appropriate pursuant to the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
events that might affect the Group since the end of the year ended
December 31, 2024 up to the date of this annual report.

REVIEW OF OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

We have established the Audit Committee in compliance with the CG
Code. The members of the Audit Committee have discussed with the
management of our Company and reviewed the consolidated financial
information of our Company for the financial year ended December
31, 2024 set out in this annual report.
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OUR DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of six
Directors, comprising three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The functions and duties of the Board
include convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board’s
work at these meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at
these meetings, determining business and investment plans,
formulating our annual budget and final accounts, and formulating our
proposals for profit distributions and for the increase or reduction of
registered capital. In addition, the Board is responsible for exercising
other powers, functions and duties in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The table below contains certain information about each of our
Directors.

MAXREER
BEESD (BREASER)
%A Fie B EENAH H B
Date of Date of Joining the
Appointment Group (including the
Name Age Position as Director predecessor entities)
JEX e 55 HWITEF FREMERATE 20143 A1 H 200047 A
KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey Executive Director, Chairman, and March 1, 2014 July 2000
Chief Executive Officer
AR 50 HITEF BEFEMBELAAWE 2014F3H1H 2003410 H
WU Lun Cheung Allen Executive Director, Chief Financial March 1, 2014 October 2003
Officer and Company Secretary
FBH 2 40 HITEF SERENNER 2022F6 108 201696 A
GUO Lihua Executive Director, vice-president of June 10, 2022 June 2016
group financing
Bir 61 BUFEMITES 20147 H188 201447 A
YE Xin Independent Non-executive Director ~ July 18, 2014 July 2014
BRI 68 BUFNITESF 2017 6H2H 201746 A
MA Qiyuan Independent Non-executive Director ~ June 2, 2017 June 2017
4 — 656 BUFNITES 20182 H13H 201842 A
HAO Chunyi, Charlie Independent Non-executive Director February 13, 2018 February 2018
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Executive Directors

KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey (BE#{&), aged 55, is the founder and
Chairman of our Group, and was appointed as an executive Director
on March 1, 2014. He has been appointed as our Chief Executive
Officer since July 18, 2014. Mr. Kang is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business direction of the Group. Mr. Kang is
also a director of the following company of the Group:

— Ingdan Group, Inc. (formerly known as Cogobuy Group, Inc.
and Vision Well Global Limited).

Mr. Kang earmned his bachelor of engineering degree in electrical
engineering from South China Technology University in Guangzhou,
China in July, 1991. Mr. Kang has over 25 years of experience in the
Internet multimedia and electronic component distribution industry.
Prior to founding the Company in 2002, Mr. Kang founded the
predecessor of a former NASDAQ listed company Viewtran Group,
Inc. (“Viewtran”) (OTCMKTS: VIEWF), formerly known as Comtech
Group, in 2002, to act as a distribution channel for the sale of
electronic components in the PRC and has served as an executive
director of Viewtran until May 2014. Mr. Kang also founded an
Internet multimedia company, Viewtran Inc., in 2000.

WU Lun Cheung Allen (#8 B %¥), aged 50, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of our Group and was appointed as an
executive Director on March 1, 2014. Mr. Wu is also a director of
Ingdan Group, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor of business administration degree in
accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in Hong Kong in 1997. Mr. Wu is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a certified public
accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Wu is also a member and a chartered
global management accountant of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in
auditing and commercial consulting. He worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1997 to 20083, before becoming the
vice president of finance at Viewtran from 2003 to 2013, where he
was in charge of corporate finance, compliance and investment.
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GUO Lihua (3B#] %), aged 40, was appointed as an executive
Director on June 10, 2022. Ms. Guo is the vice-president of group
financing of the Company and is mainly responsible for the Group’s
financing operations. Ms. Guo currently holds various positions in a
number of companies of the Group. Ms. Guo is a director of EZ
ROBOQOT, INC. She is also a legal representative, executive director
and general manager of Shenzhen Xeno Communication Technology
Company Limited, EZ Robot (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd. and INGDAN.com
(Shenzhen) Limited. Ms. Guo joined the Company in June 2016 as
the group financing director and has served as the vice-president of
group financing since November 2021. Before joining the Company,
Ms. Guo served as a senior financial analyst in Aesthetic Medical
International Holdings Group Limited from April 2014 to June 2016,
and a financial analyst in SMIT Holdings Limited from June 2011 to
March 2014. From September 2009 to May 2011, she was a
consultant at Shanghai Evo Enterprise Management Consulting
Company Limited.

Ms. Guo obtained a bachelor's degree in Finance from Hunan
University in July 2007 and a master’s degree in Finance from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in July 2009.
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Independent non-executive Directors

YE Xin (E17), aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on July 18, 2014. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ye received his bachelor of engineering
degree (FtE R EF flT X) from Tsinghua University, China in
June 1986, and a master of science degree in Computer Science
from Marquette University in Wisconsin, United States in May 1988.
From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Ye was the Chief Technology Officer of
Linktone, a top wireless entertainment service provider in China.
Since 2006, Mr. Ye was the chief executive officer of CASEE Mobile
Ads (2824 4E4%), China’s leading mobile advertising network for
Android/iPhone applications and mobile content.

MA Qiyuan (5 B Jt), PhD, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 2, 2017. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. Dr. Ma is the chairman and chief
executive director of Time Medical System Corp., a leading
technology innovator in medical imaging and service industry he
founded in 2006. Dr. Ma has over 30 years of experience in R&D
management in the US. Dr. Ma served as a professor at Columbia
University from 1994 to 2000, Associate Professor of Harvard Medical
School from 2000 to 2005 and Deputy Director of Magnetic
Resonance Engineering Center of the University of Hong Kong from
1998 to 2004. Dr. Ma holds 30 patents and has published more than
200 papers. Dr. Ma is engaged in the field of microelectronic devices,
superconducting technology, RF devices, biomedical electronics, and
medical imaging.

Dr. Ma received his PhD in microelectronics from Columbia University
in 1990, and SEP degree from Stanford Business School in 2008.
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HAO Chunyi, Charlie (#B#k—), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on February 13, 2018. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Hao has
been appointed as the chief executive officer and director of Tristar
Acquisition | Corp., a company listed on NYSE (NYSE: TRIS), with
effect from July 18, 2023. Mr. Hao has also been appointed as
director of Finnovate Acquisition Corp., a company listed on NASDAQ
(NASDAQ: FNVT), with effect from May 29, 2023. Mr. Hao was the
chief financial officer and chairman to the board of directors of East
Stone Acquisition Corporation, an investment company incorporated
in the BVI and listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ: ESSC), from January
2020 to November 2022. Mr. Hao was the chief executive officer and
president of Shandong Haizhicheng Energy Engineering Co., Ltd., a
pioneer in the research and development in new energy engineering
projects, from 2015 to 2019. Over the years, Mr. Hao has been
instrumental in the founding and establishments of several investment
funds and companies, including China Fundamental Acquisition
Corporation, where Mr. Hao was the chief executive officer from 2008
to 2010, and a member of the board of directors and the president of
China of Asia Automotive Acquisition Corporation from 2005 to 2008.
Mr. Hao was the chief financial officer of Delphi Automotive Corp
(Saginaw Steering System) (“Delphi”) of General Motors Inc., and
oversaw the financials of three joint ventures to Delphi headquarter in
Beijing from 1995 to 1999.

Mr. Hao received his MBA degree from Pace University, Master of
Arts from University of Notre Dame and Bachelor of Arts from Beijing
Language and Culture University.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management team of our Group, in addition to the

BENLTAL: executive Directors listed above, comprises the following individuals:

BEE A&
REREEE (BEMSER)

& FHe B ¥ B & H B
Date of
appointment Date of joining the
as senior Group (including the

Name Age Position management predecessor entities)

g 61 EIEREIEH 20141 H 200454 A

CHAN Edward Vice-president of operations January 2014 April 2004

T 5 41 Bl & 20159 H 201549 A

WANG Vivia Vice-president September 2015 September 2015
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CHAN Edward (B %l ##), aged 61, is the vice-president of operations
of the Company and is primarily responsible for general administrative
operations of the Group, including human resources, customer
service, logistics and warehousing. Mr. Chan received his bachelor of
science degree in mechanical engineering from the University of Hong
Kong, Hong Kong in November 1985. Between 1987 and 2002, Mr.
Chan worked for and later served as a senior manager of Panasonic
Shun Hing Industrial Devices Sales (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. Between
2004 and February 2013, Mr. Chan was the vice president of
operations of Viewtran, and was in charge of the company’s
customer administration and logistics operations.

WANG Vivia (£ #i), aged 41, is a vice-president of the Company
and is primarily responsible for the Company’s investment and
financing activities and is the head of IngFin Financing Services
business. Ms. Wang received her BBA and MBA degrees from
Tsinghua University, China in 2005 and 2007, respectively, and has
been a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) member since 2012. Ms.
Wang has over 10 years of investment banking experience and
worked at HSBC’s investment banking department as an analyst
from 2007 to 2008 and Bank of Communications as assistant
relationship manager in 2009. Prior to joining the Company, Ms.
Wang was an associate director at CCB International’s China
Business Division from 2010 to 2015, where she was in charge of
eastern China’s clients relationship management, sourcing deals for
structured finance, IPO bond issuance and PIPE transactions.

The Directors hereby present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on February 1, 2012. The
Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on July 18, 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Group is an innovative technology services platform conglomerate
dedicated to connecting upstream chip technology with the needs of
downstream innovation enterprises. Through proprietary Al
technology, LLMs, and specialized industry knowledge bases, the
Group provides customers with cutting-edge chip application
technology solutions, and efficient supply chain management
services. The Group’s core businesses are Comtech, a technology
services platform for the chip industry, and Ingdan, a platform
providing AloT technology and services.

Comtech focuses on IC chip application design and distribution for
electronics manufacturing enterprises in China. Comtech maintains
connections with over 50% of global major high-end chip suppliers
and many leading domestic chip makers upstream and covering
thousands of enterprises in five key sectors: Pan-Al industry chain,
Digital Infrastructure, Industrial Connectivity, Energy Control and Big
Consumption downstream. Meanwhile, Ingdan focuses on the
research and development and sales of its own branded AloT
intelligent hardware products, as well as the data services of its AloT
intelligent hardware products under Ingdan Cloud. Ingdan focuses on
the emerging field of smart new energy batteries, which effectively
improves batteries’ efficiency and circulation with intelligent control
and management systems to achieve battery intelligence. Ingdan also
actively conducts R&D and marketing of its own AloT intelligent
hardware products, to customize AloT intelligent hardware application
solutions and products for customers, hence facilitating the
development of data services for the Ingdan Cloud. The Group
currently holds approximately 69.05% of Comtech and 100% of
Ingdan, which also operates certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries
and retains certain investments with less than 100% interests
strategically.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

In 2024, the Group fulfilled orders and derived a revenue of
approximately RMB10,129.1 million.

A list of the Company’s major subsidiaries, together with their places
of incorporation and principal activities, is set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2024 (including analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year using key performance indicators and discussion of the Group’s
future business development) is set out in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 6 to 7 and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
8 to 29 of this annual report. A description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company is set out on pages 39 to 40 of this
Report of the Directors.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board of Directors and management are aware, the
Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Relationship with employees

Recognizing the value of investing in its employees, the Group
ensures that its employees are reasonably remunerated. The Group
has also implemented an annual self-appraisal program to provide
incentive and motivation to the staff to attain periodic goals. The
Company has adopted the 2023 RSU Scheme to reward the fidelity
of the employees of the Group. The Group continues to seek
improvement through the regular review and update (if needed) of its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.
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Relationship with suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationships with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. Our customer service team is set up so that
they can be easily reached and serves to enhance our relationships
with customers. Our procurement and project management teams
work closely with our suppliers to maintain reliable and high-quality
product offerings. With the expansion of our service platforms, the
Group strives to provide one-stop supply chain services to all
stakeholders in the hardware innovation industry. The Group is
committed to upholding the highest ethical and professional
standards when dealing with its suppliers and contractors. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and other stakeholders.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply
with the applicable environmental laws and regulations and to adopt
effective measures to ensure the efficient usage of resources, energy
conservation and waste reduction. Such initiatives include the
recycling of used papers, the adoption of energy saving measures,
the exchange of unsold inventory for new products or credit with
major suppliers, the adoption of electronics waste disposal
procedures and the donation of old computers to a school in remote
area of China. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had
not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to any non-
compliance with health, safety, or environmental regulations. For
details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which is separately published on the Company’s website and
the website of the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 74 to 106 of this
annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, some of which are beyond our control. It is a non-
exhaustive list and there may be other risks and uncertainties further
to the key risk areas outlined below.

o We derive substantially all of our revenue from purchases made
by companies in China that engage in electronics
manufacturing. As a result, factors that adversely affect Chinese
electronics manufacturers or the Chinese electronics
manufacturing industry could also materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

° If we fail to manage our relationships with our suppliers, our
business and prospects may be adversely affected. We source
our products from some of the top brand-name suppliers in key
product categories. Maintaining good relationships with these
suppliers and procuring products from suppliers on favorable
terms are important to the growth of our business. There can
be no assurance that our current suppliers will continue to sell
IC and other electronic components to us on terms acceptable
to us, or that we will be able to establish new or extend current
supplier relationships to ensure a steady supply of IC and other
electronic components in a timely and cost-efficient manner.

° Our business is subject to intense competition, and we may fail
to compete successfully against existing or new competitors,
which may reduce demand for our services and products. We
anticipate that China’s electronic components procurement
market will continually evolve. As we further develop our
e-commerce platform, we will face increasing competitive
challenges competing for new customers and retain loyal
customers.

° We rely on third-party courier service providers to deliver our
products, and their failure to provide high-quality courier
services to our customers may negatively impact the
procurement experience of our customers, damage our market
reputation and materially and adversely affect our business and
results of operations. If our products are not delivered on time
or are delivered in a damaged state, customers may refuse to
accept our products and have less confidence in our services.
Thus, we may lose customers, and our financial condition and
market reputation could suffer.
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° We provide credit facilities to our customers to earn interest
income through our IngFin Financing Services business and
offer required payment terms to our direct sales customers,
which expose us to credit risks. The value of the collaterals for
secured loans we grant our customers may fluctuate due to
market conditions or other unforeseen adverse occurrences.
We may fail to identify high risk customers or detect
unlawfulness due to negligence, procedural errors, fraud and/or
misconduct committed by employees, customers or other third
parties. In the event that such customer or counterparty fails to
honor its financial or contractual obligations, we would suffer
financial loss.

° We rely on credit facilities such as factoring arrangements
granted by banks to partially fund our working capital. The
banking industry is sensitive to changes in market and
economic conditions and is highly susceptible to unforeseen
external events, such as political instability, recession, inflation,
changes in regulation, adverse market conditions, or other
adverse occurrences that may result in a significant decline or
other change in the credit facilities granted to us and put stress
on our cash position, which may necessitate us drawing on
existing working capital facilities or other sources of liquidity.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WU Lun Cheung Allen

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Ms. GUO Lihua

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. YE Xin
Dr. MA Qiyuan
Mr. HAO Chunyi, Charlie

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company are set out in the circular to
be published on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange and dispatched to the Shareholders, where applicable.
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The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 30 to 34 of this
annual report. There is no other change in the Directors’ information
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
since the date of publication of the 2024 interim report of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey, Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen and Ms. Guo
Lihua have each entered into service agreements with our Company
pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive Directors. The term
of office of our executive Directors is three years with effect from June
2, 2020 for Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey and Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen
and June 10, 2022 for Ms. Guo Lihua (subject always to re-election
as and when required under the Articles of Association), and
automatically renewed for successive periods of three years until
terminated in accordance with the service agreements. The Company
has the right to give written notice to terminate each of the
agreement.

Mr. Ye Xin, Dr. Ma Qiyuan and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie have each
signed the letters of appointment with our Company. The term of
office of our independent non-executive Directors is three years, and
automatically renewed for successive periods of three years subject
to the terms and conditions specified in the appointment letters, with
effect from June 2, 2020 for Mr. Ye Xin and Dr. Ma Qiyuan and June 9,
2023 for Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie (subject to retirement as and when
required under the Articles of Association).

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into any service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. None of the
Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended December 31, 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING BUSINESSES

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
headed “Related Party Transactions” and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this annual report below, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended December 31,
2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors nor
the Controlling Shareholders of the Company engaged in any
business that competed or might compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance has been entered into among the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended December 31,
2024.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers
each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (j)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors or chief executives
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); (i) required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; (iii)
required, pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange; or (iv)
disclosed according to the knowledge of the Directors were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Shares of the Company

EEHE EEME BRHOEEY BMORETOHLO
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director  Nature of interest Shares" shareholding®
REHE S L EEZY 650,200,000 46.63%
Mr. Kang Interest of controlled corporation®
BEmBEAA 1,800,000 0.13%
Beneficial owner
A% A& EnlEEA 1,800,000 0.13%
Mr. Wu Beneficial owner
Eilyegun EnEEA 600,000 0.04%
Ms. Guo Beneficial owner
G Notes:
(1) FERNDHEATFE(EEREBLF MBS IENE (1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the
XVED) #5 - SFO).
@) BE 4t 4 ¥ A Envision Global #)100%# %= @ 1M © Mr. Kang owns 100% of Envision Global, which in turn owns these

Envision Global B # A 1t /%5 - Bkt - Bk 4E
W 18 & A Envision Global 5 & & 1t % % {5 &
B o

Shares. Mr. Kang is therefore deemed to be interested in these Shares
held by Envision Global.
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©)] BAOLEHEERAS EFTUHEEANBERAM
B A H A JhiR2024F 12 ABTHE #1175
HE(WETRERIEBEZIRSIBRMDEMET
ABITHRG)HE -

(i) RBESRBEERHEXVEATiEE
fA] 25 2 T A Bt 5 B O R A

©)) The percentage is for illustrative purpose only, subject to rounding error,
and is calculated based on the number of Shares in issue as at December
31, 2024 (without taking into account the Shares to be issued pursuant to
the RSU Schemes).

(i) Interests in any associated corporation of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO

&5 RBEHRHEXVE BAERERN B4R E

Esgs Frig s 2 R M BOE B A & 5 EEME #HHE (R) Bk
Number of

Name of associated corporation securities Approximate

of the Company within the interested percentage of
Name of Director meaning of Part XV of the SFO Nature of interest (share) shareholding
REAE Envision Global® EnEBA 1 100%
Mr. Kang Envision Global® Beneficial owner

Bt EE Notes:

) FEROMHUUFR(EERESRBPEGKIE
XVER) $5 A °

@ [ %% 4 H % % A Envision Global ) 100% & 25 °

B EXFTHE TSN R2024F12 A31H » BT
MESERARAERTRABNM  MEES
RADNBRSITRABRAR RS EEEEE
(REH R EEGEXVIBATE) MG - 1878
BPXEEELEEETA)EEBERBRE K
BIEXVES BB A AR T KBTS SOR B
(BREREEHFRBEKRIBEEEXESHE
SR ABEANEZRAR) R BIKEEF KR
HA & 5 5] 25 352 {6 7B 58 A 5% 1K BT #8 09 & &2 i &Y
AR KiNRIBEETRSITBAARR
AR R TR S AR ©
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(1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the
SFO).

() Mr. Kang directly owns 100% of Envision Global.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, so far as is
known to any Director or the chief executive of the Company, none of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i) required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which the Director is
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i)
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (jii) otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at December 31, 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following substantial shareholders had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company, as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of Part XV of the SFO:

BEA IR #E
HE LB ERME wHHEE" Bk
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Nature of Interest Shares" shareholding®
Envision Global® EnlEAA 650,200,000 46.63%
Envision Global® Beneficial owner
E- 8ok Tk E R 650,200,000 46.63%
Mr. Kang® Interest of a controlled corporation
EmEAA 1,800,000 0.13%
Beneficial owner
Total Dynamic® EnlEAA 182,888,000 13.12%
Total Dynamic® Beneficial owner
k22 +© TAE RS 182,888,000 13.12%
Ms. Yao® Interest of a controlled corporation

Bt 5 Notes:

1) FrERMDHEANTFE(EHRREES KBS KA EXVED) (1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the SFO).
8

@) R 5t £ # A Envision Global #J100% # z * i1 Envision  (2) Mr. Kang owns 100% of Envision Global, which in turn owns these Shares.
Gobal Al EHE ZER M- Al REEHBEAHR Therefore, Mr. Kang is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by Envision
Envision Global# A #) 7% & i o fh FE B #E 5 - Global.

) 1k %2 =+ % /& Total Dynamic /) 100% # %5 * il Total Dynamic ~ (3) Ms. Yao owns 100% of Total Dynamic, which in turn owns these Shares.
BlEEZERHMD Bk &+ #H18 A RTotal Therefore, Ms. Yao is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by Total
Dynamicts B ZERMPEA = o Dynamic.

(4) BOLEHBEERE KT AEEANBERAAMBEL @) The percentage is for illustrative purpose only, subject to rounding error, and is

A To 20244 12 A 31 B B BT RS BR (I & 3t R
HRIBER IR A BT ABTORE) 5 -

Schemes).

calculated based on the number of Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024
(without taking into account the Shares to be issued pursuant to the RSU
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Directors
have not been notified by any person who had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group has in force indemnity provisions for the
benefit of the Directors of the Company or its associated companies.
Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation
thereto in accordance with the Articles of Association.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had 579 employees (2023:
580), of which 17 employees work part-time (2023: 18). The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to time
depending on need. Employee remuneration is determined in
accordance with prevailing industry practice and employees’
educational backgrounds, experiences and performance. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed. Apart from pension funds, in-house training
programs, discretionary bonuses, medical insurance and mandatory
provident fund, share awards may be granted to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.

Compensation of key executives of the Group is determined by the
Company’s remuneration committee which reviews and determines
executives’ compensation based on the Group’s performance and
the executives’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company also has a restricted share unit scheme, of which
eligible participants include employee participants, related entity
participants and service provider participants, details of which are
disclosed in the circular of the Company dated May 18, 2023.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 was approximately RMB153.3 million (2023:
RMB144.7 million).
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SHARE SCHEMES

The Company has one expired share scheme with RSUs outstanding
and one share scheme, namely the 2014 RSU Scheme and the 2023
RSU Scheme, respectively.

No new Shares may be issued in respect of awards granted during
the Reporting Period as no awards were granted under the RSU
Schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period.

2014 RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted the 2014 RSU Scheme on March 1, 2014,
which was terminated on June 9, 2023 at the conclusion of the
Company’s 2023 annual general meeting (the “Termination of 2014
RSU Scheme”).

As at December 31, 2024 and the date of this annual report, an
aggregate of 530,000 share awards and 265,000 share awards
remain outstanding under the 2014 RSU Scheme, respectively.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2014 RSU Scheme is to reward the fidelity of the
executive officers, senior managers and employees of the Group and
encourage their outstanding performance by aligning their interests
with those of the shareholders of the Company.

Eligible participants

This 2014 RSU Scheme is open to executive officers, senior
managers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Maximum number of RSUs (which can be satisfied
by new Shares or existing Shares) available for grant

No further awards would be granted under the 2014 RSU Scheme
after June 9, 2023 pursuant to the Termination of 2014 RSU Scheme.

Maximum number of new Shares available for issue

Pursuant to the specific mandate in connection with the 2014 RSU
scheme obtained by the Company at the annual general meeting held
on June 10, 2022, the total number of new Shares issued and may
be issued pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme would not exceed
42,304,192 Shares, representing 3% of the Company’s issued share
capital on the date of resolution for the annual general meeting (the
“2014 RSU Scheme Mandate”). Pursuant to the Termination of
2014 RSU Scheme, as of December 31, 2024 and the date of this
annual report, no new Shares were available for issue under the 2014
RSU Scheme Mandate, respectively.

Limit for each participant

Under the 2014 RSU Scheme, there is no specific limit on the
maximum number of shares which may be granted to a single eligible
participant but unvested under the 2014 RSU scheme.

Vesting Period

The vesting period of any Shares that are the subject of RSUs issued
on or after December 22, 2014 shall be determined by the
Remuneration Committee as they see fit. Details of the vesting period
of individual grants are stated in the table below.

Consideration and purchase price

Pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme, there is no amount payable on
application or acceptance of the RSU and no purchase price of RSU
awarded.

Remaining life of the 2014 RSU Scheme

The 2014 RSU Scheme commenced on March 1, 2014 and was
terminated on June 9, 2023 at the conclusion of the Company’s 2023
annual general meeting. The RSUs that are outstanding upon the
Termination of 2014 RSU Scheme shall remain in force according to
the terms of the 2014 RSU Scheme and the applicable award
agreement.
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RIE2014FE R I I Bt B IR B M ATT(E  Details of the outstanding RSUs granted under the 2014 RSU
HERFIEDELN(BEABERMBEL)FESH  Scheme (to be satisfied by existing Shares) are as follows:
FIn

Rl W20uE W2024% FRHRG
ERH® 1818 128318 BURRAS REEHE
BHEL HABEH GES T 1 HATEAR REBERHH
PN ZRH REEHE REEHR NEBEHE REEHE ERH BEREHAR RANEH RGMETES
SREBERBA LR R BEE" BAEE RHER B H# ] | %% RHEL  HEEE ERRHE" W E
Weighted average
Number of Closing price  Fair value of RSUs  closing price of the

Shares  Unvested  Granted Cancelled Vested Lapsed Unvested of Shares  at the date of grant ~ Share immediately
underlying RSUsasat duringthe duringthe duringthe duringthe ~RSUsasat immediately and the accounting before the date of

Name of Participants Purchase ~ theRSUs January1, Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting  December before the standard and policy  vesting during the
and Roles Date of award  Vesting Period price”  granted 2024 Period Period Period Period” 31,2024 grant adopted®  Reporting Period
(#7) (#7)
(HKS) (HKS)
§ s Gl a( i@‘ ,ﬁ ]
Directors” NAY
BEHNAERBFALAH
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period in aggregate
202F4A208 A 12EFESH - 480,000 240,000 - - 160,000 - 80,000 212 945,600 120
13 (2002
4A208E
2054
198)

April 20,2022 12 quarterly
installments (from
April 20, 2022 to
April 19, 2025)

HbARART
Other grantees in aggregate
202F4A208 S 12EFESH — 3420000 1,350,000 - - 900,000 - 450,000 2.12 6,737,400 120
3% (2022
4A208E
2054
198)
April 20,2022 12 quarterly
installments (from
April 20, 2022 to
April 19, 2025)

B 5 Notes:
©) RIE2014F ZRFIR D Bt E] - RABXKEAZEE (1) Pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme, there is no amount payable on application or
& {7 28 iz 5 B 78 S A AR R 3R IE - i R Hil ikt B acceptance of the RSU and no purchase price of RSU awarded.

LR RBERE -

) HZE2024F1A1H WEBREZRGIRMEN ©) As at January 1, 2024, nil awarded RSUs lapsed prior to their respective vesting
EIRHAEMNESENGEEB B AR - dates as a result of staff resignation.

©) SZRERDECHRAFERBREERNARMBHRER Q) The fair value of RSUs is determined in accordance with the accounting standards

FIERAM e ER REREE  HIRBEE THRNDE and policies adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements, which is
EMBROEREABHKRTEmTE - calculated based on the number of Shares granted and the closing price of the

Shares on the date of grant.

@) MEEERNARESHBREETMERTENZES @) None of the Directors has any outstanding RSUs during the Reporting Period.
B& 19 B AL o
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2023 RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted the 2023 RSU Scheme on June 9, 2023,
which is meant to provide the Company with a flexible means of,
remunerating, incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/
or providing benefits to Eligible Participants through aligning the
interests of Eligible Participants with those of the Company and
Shareholders by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
shareholding interests in the Company, and thereby, encouraging
Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Company and to enhance the value of the Company
and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a
whole.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 RSU Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible means of, remunerating, incentivizing, retaining,
rewarding, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible
Participants through aligning the interests of Eligible Participants with
those of the Company and Shareholders by providing them with an
opportunity to acquire shareholding interests in the Company, and
thereby, encouraging Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Company and to enhance the
value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company
and Shareholders as a whole.

Awards

Awards in the form of RSUs which may be settled by Award Shares,
which can be funded by Shares or an equivalent value determined by
prevailing market prices, or a combination of both.

Scheme administration

The 2023 RSU Scheme shall be administered by the Board and/or
any committee of the Board or other person to whom the Board has
delegated its authority to administer the 2023 RSU Scheme (such as
senior management members) (the “Scheme Administrator”).

Eligible participants

Eligible participants are determined by the Scheme Administrator
from time to time to be eligible to participate as grantees under this
Scheme, including (a) Employee Participant; (b) Related Entity
Participant; and (c) Service Provider Participant.
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Maximum number of RSUs (which can be satisfied
by new Shares or existing Shares) available for grant

The aggregate number of RSUs granted and to be granted under the
2023 RSU Scheme (excluding RSUs which have been forfeited in
accordance with the 2023 RSU Scheme) will not exceed 139,426,273
shares, being 10% of the total issued and outstanding share capital
of the Company as of the June 9, 2023 (the “2023 RSU Scheme
Limit”).

The total number of new Shares that may be issued pursuant to all
awards to be granted to service provider participants under the 2023
RSU Scheme is 4,182,788 Shares (representing 3% of the total
number of the issued share capital of the Company as of the June 9,
2023) (the “Service Provider Sublimit”).

During the Reporting Period, no RSUs involving new Shares were
granted to eligible participants under the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit. It
follows that, as of December 31, 2024, 139,426,273 RSUs and
4,182,788 RSUs were available for grant under the 2023 RSU
Scheme Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit, respectively.

The total number of existing Shares in issue which may be transferred
as Award Shares underlying an Award pursuant to the 2023 RSU
Scheme is set at 1% of the Shares in issue as of the June 9, 2023,
being 13,942,627 Shares (the “Existing Shares Scheme Limit”).
For the avoidance of doubt, the Existing Shares Scheme Limit shall
not count toward the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit. Shares which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the rules of the 2023 RSU
Scheme (or any other share schemes of the Company) shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit.

During the Reporting Period, no RSUs involving existing Shares were
granted to eligible participants under the Existing Shares Scheme
Limit. It follows that, as of December 31, 2024, 13,942,627 RSUs
were available for grant under the Existing Shares Scheme Limit.

Maximum number of new Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares issuable pursuant to the 2023 RSU
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (if any) in aggregate
is 139,426,273 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue on the June 9, 2023 (the “2023 RSU Scheme Mandate”).
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During the Reporting Period, no new Shares were issued pursuant to
the 2023 RSU Scheme under the 2023 RSU Scheme Mandate. It
follows that, as of December 31, 2024, and the date of this annual
report, 139,426,273 new Shares (representing approximately 8.48%
of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this
annual report) were available for issue under the 2023 RSU Scheme
Mandate, respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

There is no specific maximum entitlement for each eligible participant
under the 2023 RSU Scheme. Grants to individuals that exceed the
thresholds set out in the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules will be
subject to additional approval requirements as required under the
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Vesting period

The Scheme Administrator may determine the vesting period and
specify such period in the Award Letter. The vesting period of Awards
funded by new Shares may not be for a period less than 12 months
from the grant date, except in limited circumstances set out in the
rules of the 2023 RSU Scheme.

Purchase price and consideration

The Scheme Administrator may determine the amount (if any) payable
on application or acceptance of an Award and the period within
which any such payments must be made, amounts (if any) and
periods shall be set out in the Award Letter, taking into consideration
factors such as the prevailing closing price of the Shares, the purpose
of the Scheme, the performance and profile of the relevant Grantee(s).
For the avoidance of doubt, the Scheme Administrator may determine
the Purchase Price to be at nil consideration.

Performance targets

The Scheme Administrator may set performance criteria/targets in the
Award Letter in respect of Awards granted based on, among others,
transaction milestones, business or financial performance results,
individual performance appraisal and/or contribution to the Group,
and as evaluated by the Group over a specified evaluation period.
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Remaining life of the 2023 RSU Scheme

Term of the 2023 RSU Scheme is 10 years commencing on June 9,
2023 unless terminated on the earlier of: (a) the 10th anniversary of
the June 9, 2023; and (b) such date of early termination as
determined by the Board, provided that such termination shall not
affect any subsisting rights in respect of the Awards already granted
to eligible participants. The remaining life of the 2023 RSU Scheme is
approximately 8.5 years.

EQUITY-LINKED INVESTMENTS

Save for the RSU Schemes as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 117 and 118 of this annual report.

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the most recent five years are set out on pages 269 and
270 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the capital structure are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 121 to 124 of this annual
report. As at December 31, 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the Shareholders were approximately RMB2,899.2
million (as at December 31, 2023: approximately RMB2,709.3 million).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: nil).

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group has not made
any charitable and other donations (2023: nil).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as of December 31, 2024 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, save as disclosed in this
annual report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed
on the Stock Exchange (including any sale of treasury shares (as
defined under the Listing Rules)). As of December 31, 2024, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment during the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT, SALE
OR INVESTMENT

There is no property held for development, sale or investment for
which the percentage ratios (as defined under rule 14.04(9) of the
Listing Rules) exceed 5% as at December 31, 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Company held available-for-sale assets amounted to RMB796.8
million as at the year ended December 31, 2024 (as at December 31,
2023: RMB884.6 million).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated December
31, 2024, the Exercising Investors (as defined in the Redemption
Announcement) had notified the Company of the exercise of the
Redemption Right (as defined in the Redemption Announcement). As
a result, the Company, through Kugouwang E-commerce, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, would repurchase from the
Exercising Investors an aggregate of approximately 5.58% interest in
Comtech.

Pursuant to the Redemption, on an aggregated basis, the Company’s
shareholding in Comtech (through the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiaries, Alphalink and Kugouwang E-commerce) will increase
from 66.84% to 72.42%. Comtech will continue to be a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company after the completion of the
Redemption and the financial results of Comtech will continue to be
consolidated into those of the Group. For further details of the
Redemption, please refer to the Redemption Announcement.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals during the Reporting Period.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Shenzhen Comtech has submitted its listing application to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Proposed A-Share Listing on the
ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on June 28, 2022,
which was notified by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on June 30,
2022 that the application for the Proposed A-Share Listing was
acknowledged.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated April 18,
2024, after careful consideration of the new regulations introduced by
the CSRC, the market conditions and the Group’s own development
strategy, Comtech has decided to withdraw its ChiNext Board Listing
Application and will, under suitable conditions, apply for listing on an
appropriate board on a stock exchange in China.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated March 27,
2025, the application for the pre-listing tutoring process in connection
with the proposed spin-off and the Proposed A-Share Listing
submitted by the financial advisor of Shenzhen Comtech to the
Shenzhen Regulatory Bureau of China Securities Regulatory
Commission has been approved on March 26, 2025. As of the date
of this annual report, Shenzhen Comtech has not submitted any
official application for listing to any relevant regulatory authorities in
the PRC. Subsequently, the Company will make further submission
and/or disclosure as and when appropriate pursuant to the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules

Further details of the Proposed A-Share Listing can be referred to the
announcements of the Company dated September 30, 2021,
December 7, 2021, June 30, 2022, February 28, 2023, June 27,
2023, January 31, 2024, April 18, 2024 and March 27, 2025 and the
circular of the Company dated March 10, 2022 in relation to the
proposed spin-off and the Proposed A-Share Listing of Shenzhen
Comtech on a stock exchange in the PRC.

The financial data of Shenzhen Comtech referred to in this annual
report is based on the separately managed business segments
identified and allocated by the Company and therefore is not
equivalent to the financial data of Shenzhen Comtech for the
Proposed A-Share Listing. The Group currently holds approximately
69.05% of Shenzhen Comtech, which financial statements will
continue to be consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On December 23, 2019, the Company and Envision China entered
into a property leasing and complementary services framework
agreement (the “Property Leasing and Complementary Services
Framework Agreement”’), pursuant to which Envision China has
agreed, and will procure its subsidiaries to agree, to provide property
leasing and complementary property management services to the
Group.

As the Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement was expiring on December 31, 2022, on December 19,
2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Envision China to
renew the Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing and Complementary
Services Framework Agreement’) to govern the renewal of the
existing continuing connected transactions contemplated under the
Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement and the entering into of new leases from time to time for
the operations of the Company, and to set annual caps for the
transactions contemplated thereunder for the three years ending
December 31, 2025. The term of the 2023 Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement commenced on
January 1, 2023 and will end on December 31, 2025.

The annual caps for each of the three years ending December 31,
2025 for property leasing under the 2023 Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement are RMB71.9
million, RMB55.9 milion and RMB36.3 million, respectively. The
annual caps in respect of the complementary property management
service fees payable by the Group to Envision China and/or its
subsidiaries under the 2023 Property Leasing and Complementary
Services Framework Agreement for each of the three years ending
December 31, 2025 is RMB2.5 million.

Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey is the chairman of the Board, chief
executive officer and an executive Director of the Company. As at the
date of this annual report, Mr. Kang holds approximately 39.65% of
the total issued share capital of the Company and is a Controlling
Shareholder. Envision China is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Kang,
and is therefore an associate of Mr. Kang and a connected person of
the Company.
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Accordingly, the 2023 Property Leasing and Complementary Services
Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and
Envision China constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the
Company. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For further details of the above agreement, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated December 23, 2019 and February
20, 2020 and December 19, 2022.

Contractual Arrangements

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

Due to certain foreign investment restrictions under PRC laws and
regulations, it was not viable for the Company to hold Shenzhen
Kegoubai directly through equity ownership. The Company, through
Kugouwang E-commerce, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao entered
into a series of contractual arrangements, under which the Company
gained effective control over, and received all the economic benefits
generated from the business operated by Shenzhen Kegoubai (the
“Contractual Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements allow
Shenzhen Kegoubai’'s financials and results of operations to be
consolidated into our financials and as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Group.

To comply with the relevant PRC laws at the time, our cogobuy.com
was operated by Shenzhen Kegoubai. Kugouwang E-commerce in
turn supervises the business operations of Shenzhen Kegoubai and
derives the economic benefits from Shenzhen Kegoubai. Shenzhen
Kegoubai held the requisite PRC permits, licenses and approvals for
developing and operating our e-commerce platform, including the
ICP license, and EDI license. In addition, Shenzhen Kegoubai held the
intellectual property rights, including software copyrights and the
domain name, and was in the process of acquiring the trademarks
that were important for the operation of our cogobuy.com. Shenzhen
Kegoubai had also performed the value-added telecommunication
services of the Company.
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While we have completed the transfer of all of the Group’s value-
added telecommunications businesses in the PRC from Shenzhen
Kegoubai to Kugouwang E-commerce or its affiliate by the time
Kugouwang E-commerce obtained an EDI License on November 27,
2019, certain businesses historically conducted under Shenzhen
Kegoubai that had been consolidated into our financial results and
could not be transferred to Kugouwang E-commerce or its affiliate
directly due to technicality (immediate loss of net assets or heavy
taxation — see also the paragraph headed “Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements”). Our Directors are of the view that it is in
the best interest of the Company to maintain the Contractual
Arrangement until the relevant assets could be gradually transferred
to the Group without adverse effects on our financial results.

Further details of the revenue, profit and assets subject to the
Contractual Arrangements can be found in the paragraph headed
“Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements”.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks are set out on pages 39 to
45 of the Prospectus.

° Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect to
the interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations
relating to online commerce and the distribution of Internet
content in China. If the PRC government finds that the structure
we have adopted for our business operations does not comply
with PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws or regulations or
their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties, including the termination of our website or the
forced relinquishment of our interests in our operations.

o We rely on our Contractual Arrangements with our PRC
operating entity Shenzhen Kegoubai to provide certain service
to our business, and our Contractual Arrangements may not be
effective in providing operational control as equity ownership.

o Ms. Yao, the sole shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, may
have conflicts of interest with us, and she may breach the
contracts with us or cause such contracts to be amended in a
manner contrary to our interests, which may materially and
adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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° Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

° We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by
Shenzhen Kegoubai if Shenzhen Kegoubai declares bankruptcy
or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° The Contractual Arrangements between Kugouwang E-commerce
and Shenzhen Kegoubai may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities and any findings revealing that we or Shenzhen
Kegoubai owe additional taxes could substantially reduce our
consolidated net income and the value of our shareholders’
investment.

° Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of
Shenzhen Kegoubai may be subject to certain limitations and
the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

Our management works closely with Ms. Yao and our external legal
counsels and advisors to monitor the regulatory environment and
developments in PRC laws and regulations to mitigate the risks
associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Our Directors are of
the view that this would not have a material adverse impact on our
business operation in light of the immaterial revenue and profit
contribution from the Contractual Arrangements and the assets
subject to the Contractual Arrangements constitute an immaterial part
of the Group’s total assets. Further details of the revenue, profit and
assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements can be found in the
paragraph headed “Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements”.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements
relate to requirements other than the foreign
ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as
set out on pages 139 to 144 of the Prospectus.
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1. Master Exclusive Service Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Kugouwang
E-commerce entered into a master exclusive service agreement
(the “Master Exclusive Service Agreement”’), under which
Shenzhen Kegoubai agreed to engage Kugouwang E-commerce
as its exclusive provider for the provision of a number of
services in exchange for a service fee.

The services to be provided by Kugouwang E-commerce
include: (1) technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services; (2) business support services; (3) market
consultancy and marketing services; (4) technical support
services; (5) selling and authorizing Shenzhen Kegoubai to use
software; and/or (6) other services determined from time to time
by Kugouwang E-commerce according to the need of business
and capacity of Kugouwang E-commerce and its designated
affiliates.

Pricing

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement, the service fee
will be determined by Kugouwang E-commerce at its sole
discretion taking into account the working capital requirements
of Shenzhen Kegoubai and the following factors relating to the
services provided: (i) technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; (i) contents
and commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark
price of similar services in the market.

Term of the agreement

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement can be terminated by
Kugouwang E-commerce at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Shenzhen Kegoubai. The Master Exclusive
Service Agreement shall also terminate upon the transfer of all
the shares of Shenzhen Kegoubai to Kugouwang E-commerce
and/or a third party designated by Kugouwang E-commerce
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.
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Business Cooperation Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and its sole
shareholder, Ms. Yao, and Kugouwang E-commerce entered
into a business cooperation agreement (the “Business
Cooperation Agreement”). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao jointly agreed
that Shenzhen Kegoubai shall not, and Ms. Yao shall cause
Shenzhen Kegoubai not to, engage in any transaction which
may materially affect its asset, obligation, right or operation
without obtaining Kugouwang E-commerce’s written consent.

Although the contractual arrangements are silent as to the use
of the cogobuy.com domain name by the companies within the
Group other than Shenzhen Kegoubai, under the Business
Cooperation Agreement, Kugouwang E-commerce has the
right to supervise Shenzhen Kegoubai’s daily operation.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement, the election
and appointment of directors, the general manager, the chief
financial officer and other senior management members of
Shenzhen Kegoubai shall be subject to satisfaction of the
qualification requirements put forward by Kugouwang
E-commerce and shall require the explicit consent of
Kugouwang E-commerce. If Kugouwang E-commerce raises
any suggestions over the replacement or dismissal of any such
directors or senior management members, Ms. Yao or
Shenzhen Kegoubai shall replace or dismiss such persons upon
Kugouwang E-commerce’s suggestions.

Furthermore, Ms. Yao agreed that, unless required by
Kugouwang E-commerce, she shall not make any shareholder’s
decision to, or otherwise request Shenzhen Kegoubai to,
distribute any profits, funds, assets or property to the
shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, or to issue any dividends or
other distributions with respect to the shares of Shenzhen
Kegoubai held by the shareholder.
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Term of the agreement

The Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain effective as
long as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists, unless Kugouwang
E-commerce terminates it upon 30 days’ advance written
notice or upon the transfer of all the shares held by Ms. Yao to
Kugouwang E-commerce and/or a third party designated by
Kugouwang E-commerce pursuant to the Exclusive Option
Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Kugouwang
E-commerce entered into an exclusive option agreement (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement’), under which Kugouwang
E-commerce has a right to require Ms. Yao to transfer any and
all of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai to Kugouwang
E-commerce and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or
in part, subject to Kugouwang E-commerce’s specific
requirements.

Term of the agreement

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall remain effective as long
as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists, and cannot be terminated by
either Shenzhen Kegoubai or its shareholder. The Exclusive
Option Agreement can be terminated (i) by Kugouwang
E-commerce at any time upon 30 days’ advance written notice
to Shenzhen Kegoubai and its shareholder; or (i) upon the
transfer of all the shares held by the shareholder to Kugouwang
E-commerce and/or its designee(s).

Share Pledge Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 18, 2014, Kugouwang E-commerce entered into a
share pledge agreement with Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao
(the “Share Pledge Agreement’). Pursuant to the Share
Pledge Agreement, Ms. Yao unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai, including any
interest or dividend paid for such shares, to Kugouwang
E-commerce as security for the performance of the obligations
by Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao under the Master Exclusive
Service Agreement, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the
Exclusive Option Agreement and other agreements to be
executed among Shenzhen Kegoubai, Ms. Yao and
Kugouwang E-commerce from time to time (collectively the
“Principal Agreements”).
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Term of the agreement

The pledge shall remain valid until the Principal Agreements
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of Kugouwang E-commerce
or all of the Principal Agreements have expired or been
terminated, whichever is the latest.

5. Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Kugouwang E-commerce entered into an
irrevocable proxy agreement and powers of attorney (the “Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney”) with Shenzhen
Kegoubai and Ms. Yao, pursuant to which Ms. Yao nominated
and appointed Kugouwang E-commerce or any natural person
designated by Kugouwang E-commerce (including directors of
the Company) as her attorney-in-fact to exercise on her behalf,
and agreed and undertook not to exercise without consensus
with such attorney-in-fact, any and all rights that she has in
respect of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the
Exclusive Option Agreement and the Share Pledge Agreement
that Ms. Yao enters into for the benefits of Kugouwang
E-commerce or its affiliate, the attorney-in-fact shall have the
right to sign the share transfer agreement and other relevant
agreements and to perform all shareholder obligations under
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Share Pledge
Agreement.

Term of the agreement

The Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney shall remain
effective as long as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists. Ms. Yao shall
not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement and Power
of Attorney or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact
without Kugouwang E-commerce’s prior written consent.

Apart from the above, there are no new Contractual Arrangements
entered into, renewed or reproduced by the Group with Shenzhen
Kegoubai and Ms. Yao during the year ended December 31, 2024.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/
or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of the structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.
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RAERBE (kBB ERAQRDEITR  As at the date of this annual report, (i) Ms. Yao holds approximately
ABFEH11.12%: Ri)FINTEEEKkZEE 11.12% of the total issued share capital of the Company, and (i)
EHmE WAL INBEANRKARQGMNEIE  Shenzhen Kegoubai is wholly-owned by Ms. Yao, and is therefore an
At Al HEBRETFEE(RARMES  associate of Ms. Yao and a connected person of the Company.
BEWB AR BERINATEE AT LABRMRS  Accordingly, each of the Master Exclusive Service Agreement and the
EiE Lk BRERERZ S AR RINITE  Exclusive Option Agreement, which is entered into between
A EZLtREBRETRBMIILMERS  Kugouwang E-commerce, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
EHE B EHRE T L R#EZFE  Company, and Shenzhen Kegoubai, and each of the Business
EXABNARGNBERELS - Cooperation Agreement, the Share Pledge Agreement, the Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney entered into among Shenzhen
Kegoubai, Ms. Yao, and Kugouwang E-commerce, constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

BTRENVNZHENBAREE Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements

FIATEBRNWA - FREHN L AEESS  The revenue, profit for the year and total assets of Shenzhen
U Kegoubai are set out as follows:

A Revenue = —
F N H Profit for the year 2,110) (21,328)

mEE Total assets 46,995 48,038

B ZE2024F12A31 B ILFE - FINATEHHU  For the year ended December 31, 2024, the revenue and profit for
ARFE RGNS MG AREBKRARFANRAML  the year of Shenzhen Kegoubai amounted to approximately 0% (2023:
0%(2023%F : 0%) }—0.77%(2023% : -6.67%) ©  0%) and —0.77% (2023: —6.67%) of the revenue and profit for the year
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As at December 31, 2024, the total assets of Shenzhen Kegoubai
amounted to approximately 0.49% (2023: 0.47%) of the total assets
of the Group.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

As a substantial Shareholder of our Company and the sole
shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, Ms. Yao is therefore the
Company’s connected person pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules. As a wholly-owned limited liability company by Ms. Yao
and by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, Shenzhen Kegoubai
is a connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter
14A, and in particular, Rule 14A.07(1), of the Listing Rules. The Group
operates its IC and other electronic components business in the PRC
through a series of Contractual Arrangements entered into between
Kugouwang E-commerce, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao. The
transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company
from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirement
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements, including (i) the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements; (i) the requirement of setting an
annual cap for the fees payable to Kugouwang E-commerce under
the Contractual Arrangements; and (i) the requirement of limiting the
term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less, for so
long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, subject to
certain conditions.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the continuing connected transactions under the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, are fundamental to our Group’s legal structure and business
operations and have been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Company; (ii) on normal commercial terms
or better; and (i) according to the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable or to the advantage of the
Group and are in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. Our
Directors also believe that our Group’s structure whereby the financial
results of the consolidated affiliated entities are consolidated into our
Group’s financial statements as if they were our Group’s subsidiaries,
and the flow of economic benefits of their business to our Group
places our Group in a special position in relation to relevant rules
concerning connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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Our independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that: () the transactions carried out
during the year ended December 31, 2024 have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, have been operated so that the revenue generated by
Shenzhen Kegoubai has been substantially retained by Kugouwang
E-commerce; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Shenzhen Kegoubai to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; and
(i) no new contracts have been entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and Shenzhen Kegoubai during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Furthermore, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the Company’s auditor,
were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has issued a letter to the Board
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, pursuant to which it confirmed
the following:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions under the New Agency Agreement, the New
Service Agreement and the Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement, have not
been approved by the Board;

(b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

(c)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions under the New Agency Agreement, the
New Service Agreement and the Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement, nothing has
come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited to believe that such continuing transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
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Note:

(1) Reference is made to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
and the Company’s announcements dated December 23, 2019, February 20,
2020 and December 19, 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2024, given
individual lease agreements were entered into pursuant to the 2023 Property
Leasing and Complementary Services Framework Agreement, additions to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from property
leasing amounted to RMB4.9 milion (2023: RMB117.6 million), and the
complementary property management service fees amounted to RMB1.5 million
(2023: RMB1.5 million).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, save as disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, no other related party transactions disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
Reporting Period as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company, except
for contract of service with any Director or any employment contract,
were entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our customers primarily consist of electronics manufacturers based
in China. None of our customers accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: nil). For the
Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were approximately 21.5% of the Group’s total
sales, and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer were
approximately 7.6% of the Group’s total sales. None of our Directors,
their respective associates, or close associates, or any Shareholder,
to the knowledge of our Directors, owns more than 5% of our issued
capital or has any interest in any of our largest customer.
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As of December 31, 2024, we had a strong network of approximately
412 suppliers, including some of the top suppliers in key product
categories, such as Intel for industrial control, surveillance, gaming,
medical, robotics, Al, data center/cloud, Mellanox for E-commerce,
Data Center, Al, Microchip for industrial and AloT, Microsoft for cloud
service and AloT, OSRAM for automotive, illumination and sensing,
Realtek for PON communication, loT and ethernet switch, SanDisk
(Western Digital Corporation) for smart mobile device components
and OTT/education electronic learning machine storage device,
Skyworks for 5G communications and WiFi Network, and AMD-Xilinx
for Al computing from cloud to the end, as well as high speed
networking, Al PC, industrial, medical, communication IC design, test
and measurement. For the Reporting Period, our five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 53.4% of the Group’s total
purchases and our largest supplier accounted for approximately
17.8% of the Group’s total purchases. None of our Directors, their
respective associates and close associates, or any Shareholder, to
the knowledge of our Directors, owns more than 5% of our issued
capital or has any interest in any of our five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, the Company maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands or under the Company’s Articles of Association that
require the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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LITIGATION

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was not involved in any
material litigation or arbitration. Nor were the Directors of the
Company aware of any material litigation or claims that were pending
or threatened against the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed together with the management
and the external auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2024 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
(“SHINEWING”). A resolution for the reappointment of SHINEWING
as the Company’s auditors is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Further to the Redemption as set out in the section headed “Material
Acquisitions and Disposals” of this annual report, the Company
wishes to provide the latest update on the recent developments
regarding the Redemption to the Shareholders.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Upon further discussions between the Company and Yuecai
Emerging and Chuangying Jianke, as defined in the subscription
announcement of the Company dated June 29, 2021 (“2021
Subscription Announcement”), Yuecai Emerging and Chuangying
Jianke have decided to revoke their exercise of the Redemption right
in December 2024 and have mutually agreed with the Company to
extend their respective Redemption right from the end of 2024 to
June 30, 2026 instead. Thereafter, in addition to Yuecia Emerging
and Chuangying Jianke, Yimi Kaide, Yimi VC, Zhongtai, Shenbao
Yiben, Shengdong Investment, Changsheng Jiuliang Investment,
Woshun Investment and Guangdong Industrial Development Fund (as
defined in the 2021 Subscription Announcement) (together with
Yuecai Emerging and Chuangying Jianke, the “Extended Investors”)
have also mutually agreed with the Company to extend their
respective Redemption Right from the end of 2024 to June 30, 2026
as of the date of this annual report.

The Company will make further disclosure regarding exercise of
Redemption Right by the Extended Investors as and when
appropriate pursuant to the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

On February 7, 2025, the Company entered into a Subscription
Agreement with the Subscriber, an independent third party to the
Company and its connected persons, pursuant to which the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue and allot, 250,000,000
Subscription Shares at the subscription price of HK$1.30 each for
HK$325,000,000. The Subscription Shares would be issued and
allotted under the general mandate granted as at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 June 2024 to the Subscriber in
two tranches. The Subscription completion is subject to the
conditions set out in the paragraph headed “Conditions precedent to
the Subscription Completion” in the Subscription Announcement. The
250,000,000 Subscription Shares represent (i) approximately 17.93%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
the Subscription Announcement; and (i) approximately 15.20% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Subscription Shares (assuming no other changes
made to the issued share capital of the Company between the date
of the Subscription Announcement and the Subscription completion).
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All conditions to Tranche One Completion and Tranche Two
Completion (both defined in the Subscription Announcement), as set
out in the Subscription Agreement, have subsequently been satisfied
(including the grant of the approval for the listing of, and permission
to deal in, the Subscription Shares by the Stock Exchange) and
Tranche One Completion took place on February 20, 2025. As a
result, 125,000,000 new shares of the Company have been issued
under the general mandate and the number of total issued shares of
the Company has increased from 1,394,262,732 shares to
1,5619,262,732 shares on February 20, 2025. On March 3, 2025,
Tranche Two Completion took place and as a result, the number of
total issued shares of the Company has increased from 1,519,262,732
shares to 1,644,262,732 shares.

Please refer to the Subscription Announcement and the
announcements of the Company dated February 20, 2025 and March
3, 2025, for more details of the subscription of new shares of the
Company.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
events that might affect the Group since the end of the year ended
December 31, 2024 up to the date of this annual report.

UPDATES ON NON-COMPLIANCE MATTERS

As at December 31, 2024, 7 of our lease agreements with PRC
landlords had not been registered with the relevant government
authorities. Under relevant PRC laws and regulations, the non-
registration would not affect the validity of these lease agreements,
but the relevant governmental authority may ask the parties to a lease
to register the lease within a given period, and a fine ranging between
RMB1,000 to RMB10,000 may be imposed on the parties to a lease
for failing to rectify within the given period. We estimate that the
aggregate maximum amount of penalties for not registering such
lease agreements would be RMB70,000. During the period between
the Listing Date and December 31, 2024, we had not been ordered
by any authorities to register the lease agreements within a given
period or fined by such authorities with respect to these non-
registered lease agreements. In addition, the fine which may
potentially be imposed as a result of the failure to register the relevant
leases would be immaterial. Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the view that
the above incident is not material to our Group as a whole, and all the
PRC governmental authorities referred to are the competent
authorities for the matters mentioned.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Our Directors are of the view that this non-compliance incident will
not have a material operational or financial impact on us, given that
the potential maximum fine for failure to register lease agreements for
properties we leased would be immaterial.

The Company undertakes that it will rectify all non-compliances in a
timely manner and will update the progress of the rectification of the
non-compliance incidents in the Company’s subsequent interim and

annual reports.

On behalf of the Board

Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, March 31, 2025
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The Board of Directors is pleased to report to the Shareholders on
the corporate governance of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Group is the provision of an (Integration platform as a
Service) iPaaS technology services platform serving the global IC
industry and AloT ecosystem in China. The Group’s core businesses
are () Comtech, a technology services platform for the chip industry,
and (i) Ingdan, a platform providing AloT technology and services.
The Company recognizes the importance of stakeholders at the
Group level and at the Company’s two independently managed core
businesses level.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Company is committed to maintaining
and promoting stringent corporate governance and endeavour to
ensure achievement of its long-term objectives:

° Integrity — we strive to maintain high standards of ethics

° Customer satisfaction — we aim to deliver high-quality products
and services to the satisfaction of customers

° Industry development — we participate in the formulation of
national technology standards and endeavour to foster the
development of the innovative industry

° Accountability — our overall business risk is monitored and
managed promptly
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° Sustainability = — we are committed to create values to
stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous
development

° Care — we care about our stakeholders — employees,
customers, supply chain and the industry and community

The Board will continuously review the Group’s business strategies
and monitor the changing market conditions to ensure prompt and
proactive measures will be taken to respond to such changes to
foster the sustainability of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors is committed to achieving good corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value and
accountability, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended December
31, 2024, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code in force during the Reporting Period, save and
except for the deviations from code provisions C.2.1 and D.1.2 of
part 2 of the CG Code as explained below:

Deviation From Code Provision C.2.1:

Code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The Company does not
have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Kang
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board considers that the balance of
power and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired
and this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate by
taking into account circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Deviation From Code Provision D.1.2:

Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of part 2 of the CG Code,
management should provide all members of the board with monthly
updates, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
issuer’s performance, position, and prospects in sufficient details to
enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties. During the Reporting Period, although the management of the
Company did not provide a regular monthly update to the members
of the Board, the management has provided update to the Board on
quarterly basis and when appropriate, the updated business
information of the Group to keep all Directors abreast of the
performance, position and prospects of the Group and to enable
them to discharge their duties.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Board has also adopted the Model Code to regulate all dealings
by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company in respect of
securities in the Company as referred to in code provision C.1.3 of
part 2 of the CG Code. No incident of non-compliance with the Model
Code by the Company’s relevant employees was noted by the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are
commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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EE24AK Board Composition
REZE2024F12A31HEFEREZAF R During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this
AHAL ZEFg0ENUNTES: annual report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

E=pE EE=ZEERE

Name of Director Membership of Board Committee(s)

HITES

Executive Directors

ERAIE A4

(BEEHITEREFSTE)
Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey

(Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board)
AR ST A

(BEEABEFRAANE)
Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

FHRE L

Ms. Guo Lihua

BYFHITES

Independent non-executive Directors

BT A REZEGERE
FMEZEEEKE
ERZZLZBENE

Mr. Ye Xin Chairman of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Audit Committee

BT E L+ YFMZEexRE
REZBEENE
EREEGNE

Dr. Ma Qiyuan Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Audit Committee

waE— % A& EZZEEXR
REZEENE
YFMEZEEGKE

Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie Chairman of the Audit Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee

78 INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024



TRERRSE (&)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEV/REENENAFRFEEBAMNIE
ENEREREE] -

BEEeREB MU ENE 25 RBKEM
EAXRFERBER-

BYFHITES

REE2024F12A3IBIEFEARN  EET— &
BAE TR EBEEEL =LB I IEHITE
E(hESFEe=92— ULt WEAELHP—
ANEBEHENEXER R IMABEYBKER

ERIMBEE -

BA EBUFRTEETHNRITHAGREEL
A2 %E%Eﬁﬂﬁ%ii'l/,ﬁﬁfim
AN ESERARNRTERE-

ARARERBBYFATESEBERELTR

H‘J%B131'7&%%@5%4?5%|E‘fuﬁi\3’@4|§£x2§
EFEERE - ARRRSHABLIIEATE
EPRBIANL -

EEEB T HTMA
ARBIERYESTSH L MEFEHS - HEH
MRENER Eﬁﬁ% BRA®NEY T
ZOANEFTAMELBLAE  FZEH
RIS B R &8
ETHENEERRSESFINE BFEHE

BEUVHREFENENE T ERNB - 7F
HBERENMEMARRRFEZRRPLITE AL
FERSEFERA PINRESESTNEA
BIRBERFE -

REEFSBIMFEHRY EFSTFHY
HBUMETEZ ESEBULMNERES
RRXTEFS ESEHEEAEBRARN®
BRRBCETER S -

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to 35 of
this annual report.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) between the Board members.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
more than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Currently, each independent non-executive Director was appointed
for a specific term of three years commencing on the date of his
appointment letter subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Director in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve
the Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training
and development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which
will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of part 2 of the CG Code states that all
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the requirements under the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. All Directors
are subject to re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions
of the board and management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board directly
and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to
management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. The Board of Directors takes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information,
including regularly updates on the Group’s performance, financial
position and prospects, as well as the services and advice from the
Company Secretary and senior management. The Directors may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their
duties to the Company.
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The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior management of
the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Online training courses and reading material on relevant
topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.
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HEC024F12A31BIEEE  EE2HFEHEA  During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Directors have
ERIEAL AEBMEROMT e K| attended seminars and training sessions conducted by qualified
R FEIIRERE RV MBBEEE B E  professionals/legal advisers. The training sessions covered a wide
ERBEEEBE CEETALRETEETER I range of relevant topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
Sh RRBIEMESRRMEEBEEMS - 83  corporate governance and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant
ARFM R FHEEER M &# reading materials including compliance manual/legal and regulatory
E UHEELERER - updates/seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for
their reference and studying.

REE2024F12A3IHIEFEREEARFEIHR  The training records of the Directors for the year ended December

BEiALL EFEIIEHIHINOT 31, 2024 and up to date of this annual report are summarized as
follows:
= E R
Type of
BEEgR Name of Directors Training"
HITESE Executive Directors
FEARE & A& Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey A&B
R SR A Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen A&B
BHRIE L L Ms. Guo Lihua A&B
BIYFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
) S Mr. Ye Xin A&B
SRTEL Dr. Ma Qiyuan A&B
4L — e A& Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie A&B
B 5 Note:
(1) A 1) Types of Training
A EEEINRE BEETRAMERS - A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to briefings, seminars,
2 -2EKIEH conferences and workshops
B: MEAENERET  mA - BT 87 KB B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
T relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs
and delegated its authority to these committees to assist it in the
implementation of its functions. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference, which are
published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request. All
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon
request.

Audit Committee

As at December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr. Ma
Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie (with Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise). Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie is
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
internal control procedures and risk management system,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, audit plan and relationship
with external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee held
3 meetings to review, discuss and consider the interim and annual
financial results and reports, accounting principles and practice
adopted by the Group, significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, external auditor’s qualification and
independence, engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope
of works and connected transactions, 2024 full year audit plan,
financial control and whistleblowing policy.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors 3 times without
the presence of the executive Directors for the year ended December
31, 2024.

Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr.
Ma Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie. Dr. Ma Qiyuan is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management, the establishment of formal and transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure, ensuring that
no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration, and reviewing and/or approve matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting to review and make recommendations to
the Board on the policy, structure and packages for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management of the Company, and review
material matters relating to the Company’s Share Schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including reviewing certain terms of
the Company’s 2023 RSU Scheme.
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Remuneration per year

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding executive
Directors), whose biographical details are included in section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report, for the year
ended December 31, 2024 falls within the following bands:

A
Number of
Individuals

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

(equivalent to approximately RMB1,825,501 to

RMB2,738,250) 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

(equivalent to approximately RMB912,751 to

RMB1,825,501) 1

4t Total

ARANFHBREERERANEE(BRES
EEBERB)RHENFMDERKE X
#oBERSARTEHN2REEMEE -
HITESNFHNFEBN2EARANREARA
MEEN  RITHRAARBEATEENRRLE
BMEBE BTEFENFHERELATS R
ReREZR MEBEEL-THFEHEESHE
B BOEZERESREARR RN RE
AREMERD BYFATEETNHFHBRRE
EHRRBLFATESHRERALRRAER
(BR2EEZZEQ)MNHNB A RERM
ESxRHM BUFRANTEFTNFTHEIEER
REFHES MEFVRENHESTSL2EHR
BLRBEREE BIUFATESTTFHRIRRE
BARBRO BB RENER - BHEE
EREEABYELERTEED FHM -

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors and senior
management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and
involvement in the Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of
executive Directors are also determined with reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, the prevailing market
conditions and the performance or contribution of each executive
Director. The remuneration for the executive Directors comprises
basic salary, pensions and performance/discretionary bonus. Subject
to the approval of the Remuneration Committee, Executive Directors
are entitled to receive awards granted under the Company’s share
award scheme. The remuneration policy for independent non-
executive Directors is to ensure that independent non-executive
Directors are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in
Board committees. The remuneration for the independent non-
executive Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the
Board. Independent non-executive Directors shall not receive awards
to be granted under the Company’s share award scheme. Individual
Directors and senior management have not been involved in deciding
their own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

As at December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr.
Ma Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie. Mr. Ye Xin is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the Director
Nomination Policy and assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity
Policy, further details of which are set out in the section headed “Board
Diversity Policy” below, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee held 2 meetings to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to review the Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on June 27, 2014, which was revised and adopted on
December 14, 2018 and December 16, 2022. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach on the diversity of the Board and
a sustainable and balanced development. The Company recognizes
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage. During the
Reporting Period, the Board conducted a review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, and
considered that the experience and competence of the Directors in all
aspects and areas could enable the Company to maintain operation
at a high standard.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
reviews regularly the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. The
Nomination Committee will also discuss periodically and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity,
including gender diversity, of the Board and make recommendation
to the Board for consideration and adoption. Diversity will not be
considered to be achieved for a single gender Board.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out a range of diversity perspectives
in selecting candidates to the Board, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience.

F35 2024 WEEAH 87



88

TREA®E (H)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ARBMBER RARKEFEXNEAARAR
AEBEREENEEZTIEREDOHRR
VERNERHEEFSEATEERNTBELER
EORBENRBEFET UNEEBEDTE
MABEZE-

7%%%% EETEBER BSRMAUTAGE

HE
| i
ot
F;.H»
5
(€3]
_Hq
=
;‘@

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A)  atleast one of members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall be non-executive
Directors or independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(D) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(E) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall have more
than 5 years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised
in;

(F) at least a majority of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience.
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Gender
EH:ARES
Male: 5 Directors
zH:—BESE
Female: 1 Director

B

Designation
WITESF : =RES
Executive Directors: 3 Directors
BN TEE: =RES

Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors

hEAEREE Y TR R
China-related working Experience
NEEE

6 Directors

H: ALEFARBNZEER
Note: Some Directors may fall into more than one category
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An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:

FHeAR

Age Group

3R EL0m : —RES

31-40: 1 Director

MEEOE: —RESF

41-50: 1 Director
B1REBOR - —BES

51-60: 1 Director

B1RE705%: —RES

61-70: 3 Directors

HEER

Educational Background
ITHER MBES

Business Administration: 2 Directors
B kEm MEBES
Account and Finance: 2 Directors
BRIB ET HNEES
Engineering/Electronics: 4 Directors

BELR

Business Experience
gitkem =2EF
Accounting & Finance: 3 Directors
RIMER: "BES

Tech industry: 6 Directors

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the
current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives set in
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity
of the Board and will monitor and evaluate the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of
this annual report:

Z i B

Female Male

Ay Board 16.7% (1) 83.3% (5)
=R ER Senior Management 50% (1) 50% (1)
HEmiES Other employees 41.6% (239) 58.4% (335)
E-PN=! Overall workforce 41.4% (241) 58.6% (341)
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least one
female Director, one female senior management and one-third of the
other employees of the Group being female and considers that the
above current gender diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on December 14, 2018 and revised and
adopted on December 16, 2022. The Director Nomination Policy
aims to set out the selection criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors, ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company, and ensure the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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following:
° character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience;

° diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant
contribution to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/
or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

° such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and the succession planning and where applicable,
may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the
Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of
Directors and the succession planning.
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The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination Policy is

as follows:
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Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for set out above
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election
as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the

proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review of the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Director
Nomination Policy, and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board for consideration and approval to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs
to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors. The Board is responsible for
performing the functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of part 2 of
the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board

committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company held
during the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out in the table
below:

HE BITERERE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Exg REZES FHEEE HRZES BRAE"

Nomination Remuneration Audit General
ZEE#%E  Name of Director Board Committee Committee  Committee Meetings"
FRH(E Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey 1111 NEA NA TEBNA  T@EANA 11
AR Wu Lun Cheung Allen 1111 TEANA TEANA  TEANA 11
FBH Guo Lihua 1111 TEA NA TEANA  TEENA 1/1
Bir Ye Xin 11/11 2/2 1/1 3/3 1/1
BT Ma Qiyuan 11/11 2/2 1/1 3/3 11
B 4 — Hao Chunyi, Charlie 11/11 2/2 1/1 3/3 1/1

BREHRITHESSZZN REZE2024F12
ASIBLEFER  EFENTRATESTIESHN
BRTEBYIFATEETRT—NSEHE -

BYRTEECHEARARRAG U2
HTHREROER -

BEeZ ARGESeRENSTEINE
BLZEREEESeXNEEMEEARAZENS
N EEIE o
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Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have attended general
meeting of the Company to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of the Shareholders.

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring the Board’s approval
were also arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions to all
Board members.



TRERRSE (&)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EENERAREBTBERE

E%@E ﬂap?ﬁc@mﬁx Eﬂﬁ;ﬁ%?—_}#é}14a%
§%§%§$°Z‘EAE@E$A&§§§@E”
BEELAIERAM-
EEQERXHERMBEE  TBRAED
BHELERESFSERREEETRRTH

SRAIEARFABESR UREFRHERELRD
ANRFEREF BN - L FEDBRIEAIR
T EFSGREEENRA/BEER  TABTT
EREREEABNBIEE-

E%T%ﬁ%‘iLﬂ%%L%ﬂﬁfﬁﬂjﬁ%Q% biz
ELERBXRENEER MEANREE
B’\EALL‘ TRABERAIFH BEFNRER/RN

BEXIZABTWNEETEENSETRIE
BEAMzm BTE@RAATENEE AR
N TERBERARBERR
RAMELEMELEETERINEE O

ﬁlE’Ji)&i&%%ﬁﬁE’JEH%{F&E‘%LE’J&Q
BER-MEESSERRZBERNERA

8 A A WERT ﬂ$ﬂ%%§$ﬁ%ﬁ
BES E Rie -
EERAAUMBBREENEE

EEAREEEAREARS B A =2024F12
AB1BIEFEMNIGFEMNBERE  WERLE Y
R EE M AT i AL B B FE AR R R AR
BEBREEAERGTERRER

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management as and when they deemed appropriate.

Directors may attend meetings either in person or through electronic
means of communications and are free to contribute and share their
views at meetings and major decisions will only be taken after
deliberation at meetings. Directors who are considered to have
conflict of interests or material interests in the proposed transactions
or issues to be discussed will not be counted in the quorum of
meeting and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

The Company Secretary records all matters considered by the Board,
decisions reached and any concerns raised or dissenting views
expressed by the Directors. Minutes of all Board meetings and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to all Directors for information and records.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and confirm that the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and are
prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements
and accounting standards.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 107 to 116 of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Company has
developed and adopted risk management procedures and guidelines
with defined authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including project management, financial
reporting, human resources and information technology.
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The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have
been developed with a clear governance structure, policies and
procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to
manage its risks across business operations and to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The risk
management system consists of the following phases:

° Identification: identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

All departments continuously assess and identify risks and internal
control defects that may potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Any risks
identified shall be reported to the management, which will direct the
internal audit department to develop or refine policies and procedures
to address such risks. Any material internal control defects identified
shall be reported to the management and the Audit Committee,
which will provide directions for management to resolve and remedy
such internal control defects and direct the internal audit department
to develop or refine policies and procedures to address such risk.

The management, working closely with department heads and the
internal audit department, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence,
devised risk management plans, monitored the risk management
progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on key
issues and the effectiveness of the systems. Also, working closely
with the management and department heads, the internal audit
department develops and refines policies and procedures for each
applicable operational and financial process, which may include
approvals, authorisation, verification, recommendations, performance
reviews, asset security, and segregation of duties as appropriate.
Each department conducts regular evaluations to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with. The management has provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the internal audit function
of the Group was performed by the Company’s internal audit
department, which is responsible for performing regular review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The internal audit department examined key issues
in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and
provided its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.

The Company also engaged an external professional advisor in
possession of relevant expertise to conduct an annual independent
review of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024, in order to ensure (i)
proper process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks; (i) main features of the risk management and internal control
systems were identified; (i) the systems were designed to manage
the risks to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss; (iv) appropriate
process to resolve material risk management and internal control
defects; and (v) effective procedures of risk management and internal
controls for inside information management.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, internal audit findings and the preliminary report
issued by the professional advisor, has conducted a review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024. Such review
covered the areas of all material controls, including the Group’s
financial, operational, compliance control and risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, training programmes,
budgets, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions. Based on the internal
control review, no significant control deficiency was identified. The
Board considered that such systems are effective and adequate.



TRERRSE (&)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

i B BUER

RAFIRBER2018FE1I2A 4R ETHNEES
SHEEMREBE(TREERE])  WH20224F
12816 HEHIEIE R - FRE RV & E E
AARIREBREBEST - REXBEEFEAHE
- REHEKBTEHRS  WAEDBE
BIRREZGHME - A QR W ETMIBLERT
MR ELL R WEGRKBH (MEE2H)A]AE
ERAREMEFRE  ELEERERAQT
¥R CHE - BREBEBINTAEERABES
ERETEARARTAKES KL SEHEREEZEN
Hx:

LS
fi
47
it

N
k>
=
il

1
B
Eijl
M

o EBMBMNR:

s BHRH:

e  REAIFE: R

s EXgURRAHEBEMNEMER-

FERARENE RN MEBEHXRREAZE
RARRARE BREBRRMAE  MBRERA
fem MR E M A 0k BB o REMRE
NS RETREIORRARRE L EERH
BRIZOEARRERS - RFAKENHT
BRAR EXHENGEEREENE EF2
ARERTBRFEERRE R HE MK EA 8
RREENTHRE - REBE - HRIKE R
LRV AE A 23 R - i A fa) i 2K B R 4R R DK 3 B R
S AFRRA AR SAEE -

Dividend policy

The dividend policy was adopted by the Company pursuant to the
Board meeting held on December 14, 2018 (the “Dividend Policy”)
and was revised and adopted on December 16, 2022. The Dividend
Policy sets out the factors in determination of dividend payment of the
Company, the frequency and form of dividend payments. The
Dividend Policy will be reviewed periodically and submitted to the
Board for approval if amendments are required. The Company does
not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio and intends to
retain most, if not all, of available funds and any future earnings to
operate and expand the business of the Company. The Dividend
Policy outlines the following factors of the Group that the Board
should take into account in determining the distribution and the
amount of any future dividends:

° results of operations;

o cash flows;

° capital requirements;

° general financial condition;

° contractual restrictions;

° future prospects; and

° other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will
be subject to the Articles of Association and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders and that dividends can
only be paid out of profits or other distributable reserves. The future
dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend upon the
availability of dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries that
are established in the PRC. Depending on the financial conditions of
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, interim
dividend, final dividend, special dividend, and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate may be proposed and/
or declared by the Board during the financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval.
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Whistleblowing policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
possible standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy, which was
revised and adopted on December 16, 2022, for employees of the
Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about
possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

Anti-corruption

The Company has in place the Anti-Corruption Policy, which was
adopted on December 16, 2022, to safeguard against corruption and
bribery within the Company. The Company has an internal reporting
channel that is open and available for employees of the Company to
report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also
make anonymous reports to the internal audit function, which is
responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking
appropriate measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-
corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity,
and actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held one
anti-corruption training and briefing to 58 employees. The Group’s
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Internal
Guidelines were also accessible to all employees on the group
intranet at all times. During the Reporting Period, there were no non-
compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

Information disclosure policy

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited. The Board is entrusted with the responsibility for
monitoring and implementing the procedural requirements in the
information disclosure policy.
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ZE R £ AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

RABINEZYEEXPM(ES) S EH  The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor of the
FTBRARMEEEEHANE E2024F12  Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliated firm, for
AB1HIEFEEMZEBNIEZERBEMEE SN the year ended December 31, 2024 in respect of audit and non-audit

NMEESZSHOMESEHINT services is set out below:

B (Bx)
2RMER% Services provided Fees (HK$)
% B AR TS Audit service:

HAREBHE2024F12A31HIEFEH  Annual audit on the consolidated financial statements of
RAEMBHRRETTFER the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 3,000,000
JEIZ B PR 7S Non-audit service:
HWAREBEHEZ2024F6 A30H 1E/51@ AH  Interim review on the consolidated financial statements
AV BRRETHEER of the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2024 950,000
HRIBETHITES T (HFE) Industrial analysis on internal controls (Note) 850,000
wEt Total 4,800,000

ek : AEKITBRARBREEERAA(EXKPM(ES)E5  Note: Performed by SHINEWING Risk Services Limited, an affiiated company of

MEBMARARZEE AR ETT SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
AEME COMPANY SECRETARY

NAEWMERBERATNEETIHEEEEE B  The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and is

EWHHEEenRESeREFESETNESE appointed by the Board, who supports the Board by ensuring board

CRFEALESHET - FMABEBRES  procedures are followed and board proceedings are efficiently and

RO THMBEBRERE HRA - HH XD effectively conducted. The incumbent is also responsible for ensuring

XEOHERE- that the Board is fully apprised of all applicable laws, rules, regulations
and corporate governance developments.

NEMEDHER  BREE2024F12 31 H 1 The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
FEERND2 M D15 E/NEHEZESE - B than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and
BT ERERMGE A EMARBISE32916K  knowledge for the year ended December 31, 2024 in compliance with
HIE ° Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward enquiries
to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Board
of Directors by mail to 11/F, Microsoft Comtech Tower, No. 55
Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan, Shenzhen 518057, PRC or by
email to ir@ingdan.com. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Shareholders may propose a person for election as Director, the
procedures for which are available in the section of “Corporate
Governance” under the column of “lnvestor Relations” on the
Company’s website (http://www.ingdangroup.com).

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Company to be
discussed at general meeting. Shareholders who wish to put forward
a proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by the
procedures set out in “Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting”.

Contact details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 11/F, Microsoft Comtech Tower,

No. 55 Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen 518057, PRC

(For the attention of the Investor Relations Director)
Fax: +86 (755) 2674 3522

Email: ir@ingdan.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the Group

meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and participates
frequently in other conferences and presentations.
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To further promote effective communication, the corporate website is
maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
The policy aims at promoting effective communication with
Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders to
engage actively with the Company and enabling Shareholders to
exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively. The Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(@ Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its
summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) the quarterly report; (d)
a notice of meeting; (e) a listing document; (f) a circular; and (g)
a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.
hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by the Listing
Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-registered holders
of the Company’s securities shall have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the
Corporate Communication (in printed form or through electronic
means).
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Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.ingdangroup.com) under the Investor
Relations section.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make
an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and other
Board members, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if
any). The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, via its
online holding enquiry service at www.computershare.com/hk/
contact, or call its hotline at +852 2862 8555, or go in person
to its public counter at 17M Floor Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has
amended its Articles of Association. Details of the amendments are
set out in the circular dated April 29, 2024 to the Shareholders. An up
to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

On behalf of the Board

Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, March 31, 2025
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

v Y &5
Independent Auditor’s Report

BEXPA(EER) GBS HAARAE
HBIEEETFEI11R
EEZREREASAELTE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF INGDAN, INC.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ingdan, Inc.
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 117 to 268, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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ARBAFEERBERAMANEZHE  REY
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BRETSE
The key audit matter

R2024F12A31H EEEMNEFEERD
ZREE D B4 A ARK298,037,000T K AR
#607,007,0007T - EAEETRANBEESEES
fiie EXEENEEEBEHBVEEREEET
BENGEE  DUEHeEFAEUNEHAEE
STEFAER B E2024F12A3B LFEEL
BRI MREES -

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s intangible assets and goodwill are
approximately RMB298,037,000 and
RMB607,007,000 respectively. The management of
the Group performed impairment assessment on
the intangible assets and goodwill based on value-
in-use calculations of each cash-generating unit. No
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2024.

BMEEEEERBENRERR H—HHASR
BEFER RAEEPEERBEENREEY
GEMBRREEMSBER AP Kk B
EREETETRENGEREEEREZENH
ki Al at -

We have identified the impairment of intangible
assets and goodwill as a key audit matter because
the carrying amounts of intangible assets and
goodwill are significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement of a
significant degree of judgements and estimates
made by the management of the Group when
performing the impairment assessment.

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies on pages 136, 151 and 152.

EMNESFNMEERAREGSEH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHMPNEAREFEAEREEBNNME UREAARETELE
7 N i B ORUE R S0 5 R B e

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment, and its estimations and judgements used in the impairment
testing on intangible assets and goodwill.

BHMEFERRENEEHSREELEMLFLNBEN A REE R
B EEHSReELABLEEN O EREERE -

We have assessed the reasonableness of the identification of each
cash-generating unit and the allocation of goodwill and intangible assets
to each cash-generating unit for impairment assessment.

BHMMENE ESEEREEMETHRENIR RMEERR
E BSEBETHEEMZANTEE  ASEMNENRIBSREEA
FRAMEREBELRE TEEERERNMHRIEATESHERE
BETER - RAMTRBRAAGERNERNEIERER N R A TEA
REene@ATNAEREFEEAE  BEFEREANHEEERE
RE-HZMMTEBERAEER R R@MABETISHR  EA
EEEEREERE L GEMNERBEAEMRANITERE -
We have also assessed the impairment testing performed by the
management of the Group. We have tested the underlying data and
assumptions used in the profit forecasts and cash flow projections by
agreeing the budgets approved by the management of the Group and
compared with actual results available up to the report date. We have
also challenged the reasonableness of the management’s judgements
and estimates used in the profit forecasts and cash flow projections,
including the forecasted sales and growth rate, against latest available
information. We have also challenged the discount rate adopted by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer in the value-in-
use calculations by reviewing its basis of calculation and comparing the
input data to market sources.
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R2024F12A31H - ESENFEREEAE
Rk FE & &4 A R 132,780,000 1% -
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ABBIEEE ERIALNMREFEREHNHA
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As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
the Group’s inventories is approximately
RMB3,510,501,000, net of allowance for
inventories of approximately RMB32,780,000.
The net allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB4,416,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

KMEFEERGERRA L —HBARSEFSE
REZ BESEEFENREEHGS VKR
REBMEBER UEkPk BE£EERE
BRERRERFHFERERTFENRR R
MisERETAERFENAZRFEDK
[ EDNE] NS R

We have identified the allowance for inventories
as a key audit matter because the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories is significant
to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and there is involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Group when identifying
obsolete and slow-moving inventories and
determining the net realisable value (“NRV”),
which are based on conditions and the
marketability of the inventories.

Allowance for inventories

Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 153.

EMHEFNAEERARENSHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB REFE AT EBEEEEHINRERFHEEAR
EERETFEAE -

Our audit procedures were designed to evaluate the management’s
assessment on identifying obsolete and slow-moving inventories
and determination of the net realisable value.

BMEHFENAER FEETEENSBEELHTMG - I
Y ESEEEEMRAFEENMRALTISHERIELTE-
BAERMEEERTENREDMEARRX G ETRSE -
BPTERMEEESREHE BAR M ETHZSE -

We have assessed the reasonableness of the basis adopted by the
management of the Group on determining the NRV of inventories
and evaluating the conditions and marketability of the inventories.
We have performed testing on the ageing analysis of the inventories,
on a sample basis, to source documents. We have also tested the
subsequent sales, on a sample basis, to source documents.

BATERMBEEE K2ZEK0EE  FTHHRERFHET
EEENBEES R RG] 837 FE -

We have also assessed the adequacy of allowance for obsolete and
slow-moving inventories and the estimated NRV with reference to
the latest selling price, on a sample basis.
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R20245F12A31H - EXEEMNE 5 EKK
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1,924,098,0007T ° B £2024F 12 A31H L F
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As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
the Group’s trade receivables is approximately
RMB1,924,098,000, net of loss allowance on
trade receivables of approximately
RMB89,307,000. Net reversal of loss allowance
of approximately RMB26,440,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024.

BMEESRKRRIENEEEERRS -
AREAZEH RAE BESEEZEKX
EMNEHEHGEARMBRAERBNEEBE
R UREFHEHEEBR(EHEES
BHR PRLEBERBREINGEEBER
BOEBARENABEHEERREBESZNEE
RIBEL B REEH)H B R -

We have identified the loss allowance on trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables
is significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement
of a significant degree of management’s
judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the expected credit loss (“ECL”), based on the
historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking information specific to the debtors and
their economic environments.
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Loss allowance on trade receivables

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies from pages 160 to 166.

EMHEFNTEERRENSHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB EFEEBREEEHES RN KRBEREES
BIER AR

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL on trade receivables.

BMETH EXEEEEERBCEEBEELMEBNS
EREEIETRR T ©

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used and
its development processes adopted by the management of the
Group in the ECL model.

BMTENE ESEEERBRYUBHEEERTM R
2HYRMEBHABEETRMELORERAGES S
B-RZMTEMEERRPCEEEERAMANEESRE - A
I E Y RGBT -

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
assessment, parameters selected and the internal credit rating
used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL model
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and reasonableness.
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R2024%12A31H - EXENEKRERE
M B 4 5 A R 806,497,000 7T + & M 1R &
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B E20245F12 A31 B ILFE W R
B -

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
the Group’s loans receivables is approximately
RMB806,497,000, representing the loans
granted to customers, associates and non-
controlling investees of the Group under the
financing services, namely IngFin Financing
Services and employees. No loss allowance was
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024,

BPMEEKEFNEERERR S —HBAR
BFEE RAR BESEEREROEKRE
EHNGRAVBRIABEMEBERN ULE
AEEHEEERER PRk ESEETERE
MBI GEMBEREATNEEESRELR &
BAREONEEEHNRKSENKEBERRE
B KA ) T R k5 o

We have identified the loss allowance on loans
receivables as a key audit matter because the
carrying amount of the Group’s loans receivables
is significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement
of a significant degree of judgements and
estimates made by the management of the
Group and the independent valuer in assessing
the ECL, based on historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information
specific to the debtors and their economic
environments.

Loss allowance on loans receivables

Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies from pages 160 to 166.

EMHEFNTEERRENSHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB REFEABREEEHMEREREHREEERE
e B RT A -

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL on loans receivables.

BHMPETH ESEEEEERBUYMGEMERAGEERR
BARAN T EREHET R -

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used and
its development processes adopted by the management of the
Group and the independent valuer in the ECL model.

BMITENE EXEEERMBEVHEMBEREEEE
L PTKE2HBERAMRANRNEE TR ELNRR
AMRES B BT EHMEEREHEEERRAMAY
TEHE UMEEERERSEL -

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group and the
independent valuer on the ECL assessment, parameters selected
and the internal credit rating used. We have also examined the key
data used in the ECL model on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and reasonableness.
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R2024F12A31H - ESERATEGTA
HzERaNemEENEREOR/AR
#796,786,0007T - B EM I EHH
ERERBEENR2024F12 A31 M IE LK
AREZEHNATEMES -

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
the Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI is
approximately RMB796,786,000. Independent
valuer was engaged by the management of the
Group for the fair value determination of each of
the unlisted equity investments as at 31
December 2024.

B EERATFEAAEMEAREN S
MEENATVERRLS HBARESSE
FREARZEEEHGAVBRRBEEBME B
BR UREEERBEHREQXFEA
H2ERRNEeREENDATER PR
EEBEERERE MBS ERELE XA
Rfst BEECAERTAHEHAE-
We have identified the fair value determination of
financial assets at FVTOCI as a key audit matter
because the carrying amount is significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and
there is involvement of significant judgements
and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs, made by the management
of the Group and the independent valuer when
determining the fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI at the end of the reporting period.
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Fair value determination of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 167.

EMNEFTNMEERRENSR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANEARFEEBRAGLAE(BEER E£EER
BREBUHEMNEETATERRANERTIREH AME)
ERARE-

Our audit procedures were designed to review the reasonableness
of judgements and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the fair value determination by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer.

BMERBIEMAREERE R TEEREBR;E
ERERKBRBASBETISE KRR BN BEEEEEELSE
SR ERD R BT A AR A &Y R B R AR R BUR (I af &
FTEBRANBMNGEEIEEEERESE -

We have discussed with the independent valuer on the valuation
methodology and challenged the reasonableness of the underlying
assumptions and data used by the management of the Group and
the independent valuer in the fair value assessment, such as the
earnings multiples and sales multiples adopted in the fair value
assessment by reviewing its basis of calculation and comparing the
input data to market sources.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in corporate information, directors and senior management, report of
the directors and corporate governance report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report,
and the financial highlights, chairman’s statement, management
discussion and analysis and five-year financial summary, which are
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read financial highlights, chairman’s statement,
management discussion and analysis and five-year financial summary,
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the Group financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purpose of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
31 March 2025



meEBEERkEMZEKRER
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®B T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 7 10,129,127 8,863,382
[N Cost of sales (9,239,666) (7,833,461)
EF Gross profit 889,461 1,029,921
Eu A - x5 BB Other income, gains and losses 9 24,059 52,845
HEMRDHAZ Selling and distribution expenses (186,226) (175,713)
A Research and development expenses (104,126) (102,582)
THEEMG&ERS  Administrative and other operating expenses (221,697) (315,031)
TREEREEE Reversal of impairment losses (impairment
BE OREEE) losses) of financial assets 26,440 (24,115)
B 75 B 7R Finance costs 10 (125,260) (109,295)
JE(REE & DRI S Share of results of associates 6,400 4,435
B B¢ A Profit before tax 309,051 360,465
FriS i X Income tax expenses 11 (35,561) (40,595)
E Ayl Profit for the year 12 273,490 319,870
LUTEEEARRA Profit for the year attributable to:
EiN/NEIE RPN Owners of the Company 189,854 210,700
eI hE Non-controlling interests 83,636 109,170
273,490 319,870
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reEasREMEERKER ()
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
B 7 AR®B T AREET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiv2HEMAXZ Other comprehensive expense
AT 8FM7HZE Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
BmhEE - to profit or loss:
WEmEkBNEEE Exchange differences arising on translation
BEAEEWREBHE of financial statements from functional
AHE R ERE currency to presentation currency 18,304 (23,131)
ERFEGTAEAM Net change in fair value of equity investments
2EBEHBRAKRE at fair value through other comprehensive
B AT EEE))FEE income (399,367) (182,617)
(381,063) (205,748)
HEREE D HEE Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
EBamhEE profit or loss:
MEGINETE I T Exchange differences arising on translation
WMEFTEED of financial statements of foreign
N ZER operations 67,742 (5,296)
67,742 (5,296)
FREMZ2EMAX Other comprehensive expense for the year (313,321) (211,044)
FremE (AR ke Total comprehensive (expense) income for
FERE the year (39,831) 108,826
LTEGEFERNZE Total comprehensive (expense) income for
(X)) =4 the year attributable to:
EIN/NEIE RPN Owners of the Company (134,456) 12,575
FEVE AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 94,625 96,251
(39,831) 108,826
& & %I EARNINGS PER SHARE
ER(AR®ETT) Basic (RMB) 16 0.139 0.154
BmE(AR%IT) Diluted (RMB) 0.138 0.154
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GEMBRRE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
M2024412 A31 B As at 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
B 7 AR®B T AREET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
B E & Plant and equipment 17 15,600 14,569
TRAEEE Right-of-use assets 18 104,904 122,702
HEME Investment properties 19 207,347 222,403
mEEE Intangible assets 20 208,037 445154
EES Gooduwill 21 607,007 607,007
BEAFEFAEMEE  Financial assets at fair value through other
KWEHEmEE comprehensive income 22 796,786 884,596
U E 3 Loans receivables 27 803,622 284,612
REtZ R AR Interests in associates 23 33,239 26,839
R—HEAENEMNMELI  Interest in ajoint venture 24 = —
2,866,542 2,607,882
mEEE Current assets
ENY Inventories 25 3,510,501 4,506,058
Z 5 RrINFE - R Trade, bills and other receivables
EEREAMERRE 26 2,380,719 1,932,233
JE B 3R Loan receivables 27 2,875 424,635
AT e BT A5 Income tax recoverables 6,215 3,129
BEEBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 28 231,458 287,705
ReERBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 28 608,229 437,777
6,739,997 7,591,537
mEEE Current liabilities
g 5 [ H e 5k IR Trade and other payables 29 2,475,227 3,304,924
HEBE Lease liabilities 18 11,269 19,193
BHAaE Contract liabilities 30 137,276 101,700
HtbemBE Other financial liabilities 33 249,618 —
B FTB R Income tax payables 21,917 4,378
RITEX Bank loans 31 1,885,882 1,597,377
4,781,189 5,027,572
MENEE TR Net current assets 1,958,808 2,563,965
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rE IR R (E)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
M202412 A31 B As at 31 December 2024

2024 & 20234

2024 2023

B 7 AREBT T ARETTT

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 4,825,350 5,171,847
EREBEE Non-current liabilities

BEERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 32 26,226 33,878

Htwema@E Other financial liabilities 33 384,555 610,699

HEaE Lease liabilities 18 5,685 12,550

416,466 657,127

BEFRH Net assets 4,408,884 4,514,720
BEARRGEE Capital and reserves

fi% 7 Share capital 34 1 1

Tt Reserves 3,846,054 3,993,792

3,846,055 3,993,793

FEPE e == Non-controlling interests 562,829 520,927

BEm Total equity 4,408,884 4,514,720

F117E 268 B4R A B 15 R 12202543 A31  The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 268 were
BREZEFeEH BN  AHIATRESEK  approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

KEE: March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
R E A B

Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey Wu Lun Cheung, Allen

BF BE

Director Director
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REERBER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EH ZE2024% 12 A31 H ILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

ROEE TN 1
Attributable to owners of the Company
HRBAEEN
REEE  HAEE BRERE  REBE  ERRG  EXERE iR ATEBR  REEA a3 FERER
Share-hased Non-
Share Capital  compensation Other Treasury  Exchange  Statutory  Fairvalue Retained Controlling
premium reserve reserve reserve shares reserve reserves reserve profits Total interests
ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARMTR AR®Tr ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETr
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(GE) (W) (W) (W3t() (Wie) (W)
(note (i) (note (if) (note (i) (note (iv) (note (v))  (note (vi))
ROUF1A1R At 1 January 2024 2,023,351 18,923 28,214 (110,184) (38,058) (24,599) 13,891 (627,145) 2,709,339 3,993,793 50027 4514720
ERET Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 189,854 189,854 83,636 213,490
FRAH2ERE(RY) Qther comprehensive income (expense)
forthe year - - - - - 75,057 - (399,367) - (3430 10989 (313321)
ERENA(RR) 88 Total comprehensive income (expense) for
the year - - - - - 75,057 - (399367) 189854  (134,456) 94,625 (39,831)
KEADRERRESAE  Distrboutions by a subsidiary to
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - (47,853) (47,853)
R-BHBARNEEE Changes n ownership interest in a
EanzB (i) subsidry (note 39) - - - (14423) - - - - - (14423) (470 (19299)
REXRHRAEMLHE Issue of shares under the RSU scheme - - 1,696) - 1,696 - - - - - - -
BTG (Wikar) note 37)
REAEENRGAZRE  Equiy-setied share-based compensation
BER (W) expenses (note 37(b) - - 1,141 - - - - - - 1,14 - 1,141
2045128318 At31 December 2024 2,023,351 18,928 21,19 (124,607) (36,362) 50,458 13891 (1,026512) 2,899,198 3,846,055 562820 4,408,884
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MREERBE R (E)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

H Z=2024% 12 A31 H 1L F[Z For the year ended 31 December 2024

HBE1A1R At 1 anuay 2023 1o 18 AN (1008 R0 @09 13891 (458 24860 4UBETE  4ET 44533
FRE Proft for theyear - - - - - - - - - 20000 20700 19170 319870
FREBRERT Other comprehensive expense for

e ear - - - - - - (15509 - (e - B (2919 R

FR2EEL) hE8E Total comprehensive (expense) income for

the year - - - - - - (15,508 - (182,617) 210,700 12,575 96,251 108,626
e Diidends Y] - - - - - - - - ]
REZRARBEME  looue of shares under the RSU scheme - - - (1842 - 1842 - - - . . . _
BTG (H3ta7) (note 37)
FREEEENURHTAEG  Eouty-setled share-based compensation
BER (W) expenses (note 37(0) - - - 2044 - - - _ - _ 2044 _ 204

2024512318 At 31 December 2024 12023351 18923 28214 (110,184) (38,058) (24,59) 13,801 (627,145) 2709339 3,993,793 50027 4514720
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

BB

EEREE2012F12A31 A L FE AN R B E A
& R 0E ABFIES,000,000% T (HEROARKE
18,923,0007T) °

LA AR A E T e 1 (B
BEHEEREBEMESHENRND AERO N FTRAN NG
SR T 3R 0 AR 1B B2 IR ) A (0 B A A &) (TSR il A 40
BUFEADRTFARAREAMBRAREEREEN
BT L BRAAFES -

Hth

Hi#HAREENE AR AR EY T EY
BRI B o

EFR A

ms LBEARARND ZENREZINAEFR
] MEBSREE @R

RARBWENAGBEMEETZREARL  ERED
RERGDMEBERATATERRG A - 5[ AR
DAREROFHERE ELAERE-

Notes:

(i)

)

H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

Capital reserve

It represents an amount of US$3,000,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB18,9283,000, contributed by the shareholder of the Company in the form of
cash during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Share-based compensation reserve

It represents the portion of the grant date fair value of the shares granted to the
directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries under the Restricted
Share Unit Scheme (“RSU Scheme”) that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 3.

Other reserve

The other reserve is to deal with the changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control.

Treasury shares

The consideration paid for purchasing the Company’s shares from the market is
presented as “Treasury shares” and the amount is deducted from total equity.

When the Company’s shares are transferred to the awardees upon vesting, the

related costs of the awarded shares vested are credited to “Treasury shares”, with
a corresponding adjustment made to “share-based compensation reserve”.
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REERBER(E)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

B o -

(vi)

(#)

EE B

REPEARAMB(HEDIIERECENERE
P ABERARRERRPBEENEINLTERTN
EE - FEMBARBIEEREFRAARG T RAI
(TEAREFRUDEEHAMNNEEBOERE
SHER R - REBREERSKER(RBDEE
EwE -

BRoREENS  BREE-REFNSEAARDH
MEBARMNEEMIBERAE ZREETHESERS
RAAERREBREDIK

WETBESBRFEETS  BETENBEARNARRES
AR & AR B EE R AR M 10% 8 B 20X E AR
B EEFRHEHREIEETENBARZEMELRN
50% - ERE U FEBAR D IR SAET - AERR
RETERNEFEZEBERWMB) A LA AR
RIZEBERH R PIBITH - I N RRE
REZEROEE  FHEATRBREBRBERA  HEH
TN B ZEHTF/LRNEME AR Z25% © 50%H#
BEANIINENESSEITHABRTERNBEATS
EAERBRARERE  ABTERRTE -

AFEEHR

AFPEBREEERBSHRARRAIFEA AL MR
AR EREENRATEZELEFR  TIREH
AESPTE A & AT R R IR -

YR BEEMRER

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

Notes: (Continued)

)

(V)

*

Statutory reserves

According to laws applicable to the foreign investment enterprises in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the Articles of Associations to laws applicable
to the foreign subsidiaries in the PRC, the subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate part of their net profits as determined in accordance with the
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC (the “PRC GAAP”) to various
reserves. These include general reserve and statutory surplus reserve (collectively
referred to as the “statutory reserves”).

For general reserve, appropriation to general reserve is at the discretion of the
directors of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC. The reserve can only be used for
specific purposes and is not distributable as cash dividends.

For statutory surplus reserve, 10% of the net profit, as determined in accordance
with the PRC GAAP, of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC is transferred to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of dividends. The statutory surplus reserve can be
utilised with the previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholders or by increasing the par value of the shares currently held by the
shareholders, provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of
the registered capital. Any amount of funds outside of the 50% reserve balance
can be distributed as by the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC, as advances or cash
dividends, subject however, to complying with applicable requirements.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of

financial assets at FVTOCI at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in note 3.

The English name is for identification purpose only.



GERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET R AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
weEEE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B B¢ A g A Profit before tax 309,051 360,465
PLLAT B IEMEL T Adjustments for:
B Kk ETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,286 2,424
CTRAEESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,653 24,464
WEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 3,482 15,250
EEE#S Amortisation of intangible assets 181,078 287,672
5 75 B 7R Finance costs 125,260 109,295
#HRATF B A Bank interest income (13,407) (14,991)
2 ZREWE (BERE (Reversal of loss allowance) loss allowance on
B BEia trade receivables (26,440) 24,115
GFEEEFE Allowance for inventories, net 4,416 2,622
X R NCIE ¥ Share of results of associates (6,400) (4,435)
HEREYEEIE Loss on disposal of investment properties 774 —
T B Government grants (4,625) (19,777)
il 58 R S K 3% Written off of plant and equipment 26 159
TESEEURD NN Equity-settled share-based compensation
HERX expenses 1,141 2,944
LEESHINKERS Operating cash flows before movements
meE in working capital 599,295 790,207
FE®D OG8N Decrease (increase) in inventories 874,327 (460,752)
ZSEWTE  JEWZEE L Increase in trade, bills and other receivables
H i Uk 3R IE 38 A0 (360,180) (488,251)
JE W B 3R FI B N Increase in loans and interest receivables (87,598) (5,245)
B 5 & H AT SRR Decrease in trade and other payables (900,648) (165,641)
X B EL MK D) Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 35,576 (162,795)
RergmE A RE Cash generated from (used in) operations 160,772 (492,477)
EREER Income tax paid (28,760) (80,864)

BEEFHMEB(FFAES NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING
FH ACTIVITIES 132,012 (573,341)
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mERERER(A)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET R AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEETEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES

R B BIR 1T K Release on pledged bank deposits 107,577 100,000
B U F 8 Interest received 13,407 14,991
g% éf LE iR C TG Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 10,800 —

BEAFEFAHMEAEWEZ  Investment in financial assets at FVTOCI

MNEMEERE (100,000) —
FREEMRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (51,330) (197,166)
BERFPAEAE Purchase of intangible assets (27,660) 64,411)
BREBRE Investment in debenture (10,000) —
BERE L&E Purchase of plant and equipment (3,333) (8,833)
BEEREEE Purchase of right-of-use assets - (94,789)
BRAFEFAEZR(EAF  Proceeds from financial asset at fair value through

Bt ABm] B H profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

BEEMMEHRIE - 6,000
RETHMARESFEH NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (60,539) (244,208)
mMEES FINANCING ACTIVITIES
MBRITER New bank loans raised 1,880,843 2,778,686
BT 7 Bh W3k Receipts of government grants 4,625 19,777
BERITER Repayment of bank loans (1,611,783) (2,083,353)
EATF E Interest paid (99,086) (65,787)
=N Dividend paid (47,853) (50,402)
HEABER Repayment of lease liabilities (20,908) (24,102)
Wiz e B 8 2 ) BB SRR B Payment for acquisition of additional equity interest

51 5% (B 3£ 40(@)) in a subsidiary (note 40(a)) (19,293) —
METHREBRESTER NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 86,545 574,819

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

RERTRER(E)

2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ReERBESEEYWEM NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
(R 2) F8 CASH EQUIVALENTS 158,018 (242,730)
FUERESRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 437,777 676,419
fEREGBH g E Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12,434 4,088
FRESRESEEY - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
RTTSR SRR 2R & OF THE YEAR, represented by bank balances
and cash 608,229 437,777
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EMBHRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

—REHR
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1BEHEHERENSBEEANE2E
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BRAE (B AT]) ERET -

KRN AFEM P EE M H U A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
RAREELEM I AU & BRI
el RSB MBI R KE
1148 -

ARBEBEZERE AEENEERERAA
MBEREBRARBREBRELEE (X
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Investments Limited °
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Ingdan, Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited company incorporated
on 1 February 2012 in the Cayman lIslands under the
Companies Law (Chapter 22, Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and its shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18
July 2014.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of the principal place of
business of the Company is 11/F., Microsoft Comtech Tower,
No. 55 Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Group are Envision Global Investments Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The Group was principally engaged in the sales of integrated
circuits (“IC”), other electronic components, Atrtificial Intelligence
and Internet of Things (“AloT”) products and proprietary and
semi-conductor products, service revenue from software
licensing and provision of financing services, namely IngFin
Financing Services (“IngFin Financing Services”).

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) incorporated
in Hong Kong is United States dollars (“‘US$”) while the
functional currency of the subsidiaries established in the PRC
are Renminbi (“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB for the convenience of users of the
consolidated financial statements as the central management of
the Group was located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”) which are effective
for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2024:

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and the
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance in the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”);
and Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

Upon application of the amendments, the Group has
reassessed the terms and conditions of its loan arrangements.
The application of the amendments has no material impact on
the classification of the Group’s liabilities.
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2. KAFIIEARBUBEHREER 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
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& 3T () FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

&3] o effective.

ERPBREER BHBREHEI R HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
%1858 WES Financial Statements®

BBV BRELER FARZTEEH HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
F195% BRAMHEE® Accountability: Disclosures®

FE G £
FE 215 B ET

.o B e Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

EAVKHREED HERmITANE Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
FORRBBYK  HEMBEE and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
WA ERE TR Instruments®
1BaT

BEAMBHREEN BEPBHREER Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS

S EAMER]

S ENEE
i — F1152

Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards —
Volume 117

BEAMBHRELER REFLEBREA Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
FI0HERBEE ARG EhEY 10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
&1 22 Rl 28 28 5% #Y /& E &k Associate or Joint Venture®
1&5T BAY

BEAUBHREEDN FREEBALR Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
FORRBEHE AEEEINAL and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
AR E TR

fE 8]

W
pull;

I R T

ARREEAY R TXABESN

20254F1 A1 B 32 1% 7 56 &9 & 5 HA ) A2 &K
202641 A1 H sk 2 &5 A8 F E HA R A2
R2027F1 A1 B3 2 % 568 & E B £ &
REFETEN AR BHBNTEBE4ER

A

H A3 8] RGBT &AM # 3 & £ R
(RN SO SRR - 954

EARE-

N

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except described
below the application of other the new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements and will replace HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements”. HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash
Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted.

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material
impact on the financial position of the Group but is expected to
affect the presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows and disclosures in the future
consolidated financial statements. The Group will continue to
assess the impact of HKFRS 18 on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Company Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal (or
most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

the power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s return.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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EXGHBEER @ MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. The amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating unit) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-
generating unit) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or groups of
cash-generating unit). Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill relating to an associate or a
joint venture that included in the carrying amount of the
investment is set out in “Interests in associates and joint
ventures” below.

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method. Under the equity method,
interests in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates and joint ventures. If the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate or joint venture, which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or joint venture, the Group
discontinued recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate or joint venture is recognised as
goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.

The requirement of HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied
to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s interests in
associates or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwiill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently
increases.
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(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at

BRBEBEEBEMBREE E'J EA L= that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
RELAFE BEAAXEGELEL ¢E recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
HMESEFMNREEZ Z EFTE & e between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
ERANAEELEEEAERSBEN Ffr and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
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from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of.

F3R 2024 WEAIH

139



140

e MR MR (R)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEAETHEER @
AR

BRABAEEMAARRERBLR® M
EPREHEARE IR M A EREN
RENEFRATFEZZFTER LR
HeAEME AKEERAOLLEAER
WA

s FFRHBERFPITUMNAHN

s F_F:RMANTHNEMNEAL

s FE=ZH EBEEXSE
s FENFH: BRFEBOEEAHTHN
BHEME

s FOAF MAKEEZREHOAEER
(S pt i) FERMA -

AEENRTHRBEORTE (L) ER
WA - BNERERAOEREHAMEE MR
Bt 8mTEFE -

BHOETEANAERDOE MRS (X
—EFERIME) KRBHEE ) — X
AR D 28 mak RS -
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services to a customer.
Specifically, the Group uses a five-step approach to recognise
revenue:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled specified in a contract with a
customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties, discounts and sales related taxes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° Sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT products
and proprietary and semi-conductor products; and

° Service revenue from software licensing.

Sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT
products and proprietary and semi-conductor products
and marketplace income

Revenue from sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT
products and proprietary and semi-conductor products is
recognised at the point when the control of the goods is
transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of
equipment).
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Service revenue from software licensing

For granting of a licence that is distinct from other promised
goods or services, the nature of the Group’s promise in granting
a licence is a promise to provide a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property if all the following criteria are met:

o The contract requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the intellectual property to which the
customer has rights;

o The rights granted by the licence directly expose the
customer to any positive or negative effects of the

Group’s activities; and

o Those activities do not result in the transfer of a good or
service to the customer as those activities occur.

If these criteria are met, the Group accounts for the promise to

WAEGEARI AR —BREANRENE grant a licence as a performance obligation satisfied over time.
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A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

At inception of the lease contract, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date, including extension options exercisable by the Group
which are likely to be exercised taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for
the Group to exercise the options. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the
site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a
provision is recognised and measured under HKAS 37
Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The
costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets below).
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its investment properties. Leases for which
the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.



e M HmRRMEE (E)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEAXAETHEER @® MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
i IE () Taxation (Continued)

HERMBRARMNRERNBE QA & —
MEECENEEBANERNERZ
BMOEA/EERAAE EAKEAEZ
BERERNELD AREREREREA
EENERN A RASRAEL RIBRSN - AR FHR
ErESAENAMBEREZEMES
MEERBEE ENAIEEETERER
MABMmMASRERZHEONE MTEM
SRARBRBEE T T IARER -

EERAEEENREERSEREHER
FTURE  YEFBRAIEEE BHOER
MABAYWE 2K BLEENBRT
1 H R

ik

'E
W 2

A

ELERBAEERABNREAIEE
BERBREEDHEAOY KRFTE
MEDREBENB S BERS HM K
EEEMOB R (RBX)EE -

\;

/

ELERAABEREENTERBRAEE
RBERERBEHAIKLEHEEELEE
RBEREEMNTABERMRBGRR -

EEAAENITRMNABEMHBEEE
HEMHAERERE  BASHAEER
BIEI R B B R — M5B Bl 2 AR
GHRER ABECHBEEELANARAE
T IAHE S

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, interests
in associates and a joint venture, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment other than construction-in-progress are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.
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Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain and loss arising in derecognition of the property is
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value of inventories represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and
bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand
deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are shortterm
(generally with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather for investment or
other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents, as defined above.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Impairment losses on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (other
than impairment of goodwill set out in
accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating unit for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (other
than impairment of goodwill set out in
accounting policy of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial asset at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on
the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future
cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt

instruments) (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “other income, gain and losses” line item (note 9).
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Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for
trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain

FOoBEEHERAKRENER  RMBE or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the

BREREB R - equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
profits.

WERATERLRENRERETEE B # Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are

W ER % B O HE ) R _LH7ET§ SHER - B recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
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the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income, gain and losses”
line item in profit or loss (note 9).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at
the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated on an individual
basis for customers with significant balances and/or collectively
by using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.
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ETREE &) Financial assets (Continued)
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Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s operations.

BRmE  ENEEERR S UK ERINA In particular, the following information is taken into account
REGEBEENSZENEROT - when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
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since initial recognition:
° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to
which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than
its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

ETREE &) Financial assets (Continued)
SREENRE#E Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the debt instrument has a low risk of
default; (i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (i)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” in
accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,

having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

ETREE &) Financial assets (Continued)
SREENRE#E Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
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Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over 180 days past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an
investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the fair value reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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@I A @) Financial instruments (Continued)

TRIBERRAT A E) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination; (i) held-for-trading; or (iii)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, interests in associates, goodwill and intangible
assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy
for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on
recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group grants shares of the Company to employees at nil
consideration under the RSU Scheme, and the awarded shares
under the RSU Scheme are either newly issued or are
purchased from the open market. The cost of shares purchased
from the open market is recognised in equity as shares held for
the RSU Scheme. The fair value of the RSUs granted to
employees is recognised as an equity-settled share-based
compensation expenses with a corresponding increase in
share-based compensation reserve within equity. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the RSUs, the total estimated fair
value of the RSUs is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the RSUs will vest.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of RSUs that are expected to ultimately
vest. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based compensation
reserve. On the vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of RSUs that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the service
conditions. The equity amount is recognised in the share-based
compensation reserve until the RSUs are vested (when it is
included in the amount recognised in share premium for the
shares vested).
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Control obtained through contractual arrangements

As disclosed in the note 42(c) Shenzhen Kegoubai Information
Technologies Limited (formerly known as “Shenzhen Cogobuy
Information Technologies Limited”) (& Yl 1 7] B8 & 12 B & it A
R 2 B]) (“Shenzhen Kegoubai “) is considered as an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Although the Group
does not own any shareholding in Shenzhen Kegoubai, the
Group has the control over Shenzhen Kegoubai since the
Group has the power to appoint and remove the board of
directors of Shenzhen Kegoubai to direct the relevant activities
of Shenzhen Kegoubai to affect the amount of the Group’s
return, through various contractual agreements signed between
the shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai and the Group.
Therefore, in the opinions of the directors of the Company and
the independent legal adviser of the Company, the Group has
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of Shenzhen
Kegoubai unilaterally and hence the Group has the control over
Shenzhen Kegoubai.

Significant influence over associates

As disclosed in note 23, the directors of the Company
considered ZIM (HK) Limited (“ZIM HK”), in which the Group has
15% equity interest in, is an associate of the Group as the
Group has significant influence over ZIM HK by virtue of its
contractual right to appoint one out of three directors to the
board of directors of ZIM HK.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwiill

The management of the Group performed the impairment
assessment on the intangible assets by identifying the indication
of possible impairment of such intangible assets. Once
identified, the management of the Group performed impairment
testing, which requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units to which such intangible assets
belongs.

The management of the Group performed impairment testing
annually, or if there is indication of possible impairment
identified, for the goodwiill.

Determining whether intangible assets and goodwill are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill and intangible
assets have been allocated. The recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is determined using the value-in-use
calculation, which requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from each of the cash-generating
unit and a suitable pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of intangible
assets and goodwill were approximately RMB298,037,000
(2023: RMB445,154,000) and RMB607,007,000 (2023: RMB607,007,000)
respectively. No impairment loss in respect of intangible assets
and goodwill has been recognised for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Amortisation of the intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the
Company review the estimated useful life and the amortisation
method of intangible assets, based on the historical experience
of the actual useful life of intangible assets of similar functions or
the useful life of similar intangible assets adopted by the market
participants. The directors of the Company will revise the
estimated useful life and amortisation method prospectively if
there is a need for the change with reference to the actual
usage.

As at 31 December 2024, there is no revision of the estimated
useful life and amortisation method on the intangible assets with
carrying amount of approximately RMB298,037,000 (2023:
RMB445,154,000).

Fair value determination of financial assets at FVTOCI

For the determination of the fair values of FVTOCI as at 31
December 2024, the directors of the Company use their
judgements and estimates in the underlying assumptions and
data for the fair value determination of financial assets at
FVTOCI. The directors of the Company and the independent
valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited (“CHFT”),
exercises judgements and estimates in applying suitable
earnings multiples and sales multiples with reference to the
available market sources. Where the actual inputs are varied, a
material variance on the fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI
may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI was approximately RMB796,786,000 (2023:
RMB884,596,000), with corresponding net decrease in fair
value reserve of approximately RMB399,367,000 (2023:
RMB182,617,000) recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate
in determining the fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories of the
Group and makes allowances for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such
inventories based primarily on the estimated and subsequent
selling price in the ordinary course of business. The Group
carries out an inventory review at the end of each reporting
period and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
items.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of inventories
was approximately RMB3,510,501,000 (2023:
RMB4,506,058,000), net of allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB32,780,000 (2023: RMB28,364,000).

Loss allowance on trade receivables and loans
receivables

The loss allowance on trade receivables and loans receivables
are based on assumptions and estimates used in the ECL
model. The Group uses significant judgments in making these
assumptions and estimates and selects inputs in the ECL
model, based on the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional loss allowance in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and loans receivables are approximately
RMB1,924,098,000 (2023: RMB1,679,780,000) and
RMB806,497,000 (2023: RMB709,247,000) respectively, with
accumulated loss allowance on trade receivables of
approximately RMB89,307,000 (2023: RMB115,747,000). No
loss allowance on loans receivables has been recognised as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 32, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses of
approximately RMB307,166,000 (2023: RMB241,436,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams as at 31
December 2024. In addition, no deferred tax liabilities has been
recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with
the PRC subsidiaries’ undistributed retained earnings of
approximately RMB2,231,803,000 (2023: RMB2,099,709,000)
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
such temporary differences will not be reversed in the
foreseeable futures. In case where the actual outcome differs
from the management’'s assessment above, a material
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the pricing of products and services that
commensurate with the level of risk and by securing access to
financing at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-equity ratio on a semi-annual basis. The Group’s policy
is to maintain the net debt-to-equity ratio at not more than
100% (2023: 100%), which is determined and reviewed with
reference to the funding needs of the Group semi-annually. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities disclosed in note 18, bank loans
disclosed in note 31 and other financial liabilities disclosed in
note 33, net of pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents disclosed in note 28, over total equity. The net
debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the reporting period was as

N follows:
2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE Net debt 1,697,322 1,514,337
M= Equity 4,408,884 4,514,720
FEEEDIE %) Net debt-to-equity ratio (%) 38.50 33.54
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ol =] 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
@I AEER Categories of financial instruments
2024 & 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EtRMEE Financial assets
HEHEK AT ENEREE Financial assets at amortised cost
(BRASERRESESED) (including cash and cash
equivalents) 3,716,612 3,198,329
BAFEFAEMEE Financial assets at FVTOCI
WHH & /& E
—EEARAFEFAEM — Equity instruments designated
ZHEWEMBRARTA at FVTOCI 796,786 884,596
4,513,398 4,082,925
e s Financial liabilities
REBENRATENCRAE Financial liabilities at amortised cost 4,995,282 5,513,000
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5 RWR - BIREERKE MR KR
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BR) EERBRERESERR - BN
AR ERZEFRRZBERN X - B8
BEEEREEZSTRARUEREEAR
WHRBUEE fEE -

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include certain
trade, bills and other receivables, financial assets at FVTOCI,
loans receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, bank loans and other
financial liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments included market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has certain pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the
subsidiaries of the Company, which expose the Group to
currency risk. The Group did not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group has applied the sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%)
increase and decrease in relevant foreign currencies
against RMB and USD. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB5,455,000 (2023:
RMB57,146,000) which represented pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents that mainly
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries of the group entities.

As at 31 December 2024, if the foreign currencies
strengthen 5% (2023: 5%) against RMB, the post-tax
profit for the year will be increased by approximately
RMB205,000 (2023: RMB2,810,000). If the foreign
currencies weaken by 5% (2023: 5%) against RMB, the
post-tax profit for the year will be decreased by
approximately RMB205,000 (2023: RMB2,810,000).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed interest rate loans receivables (note 27),
pledged bank deposits (note 28), bank loans with fixed
interest rate (note 31) and other financial liabilities (note
33).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank balances with variable interest rate (note
28) and bank loans with variable interest rates (note 31). It
is the Group’s policy to keep its loans at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) and loan prime rate
(“LPR”) arising from the Group’s US$ and RMB
denominated bank loans, respectively and variable
interest rate bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2023: 50) basis
points increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2023: 50) basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB1,537,000 (20283: increase/decrease
by approximately RMB1,883,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Company’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank balances and bank loans.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to discharge their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from trade, bills and
other receivables, loans receivables, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an individual basis for
customers with significant balances and/or collectively by using
a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For loans receivables and other non-trade related receivables,
the Group has assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked a team
responsible for developing and maintaining the Group’s credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by
independent rating agencies where available and, if not
available, the operation management committee uses other
publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.
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6. €@ T AW 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
tREREEEEREEK @ Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
FERE (&) Credit risk (Continued)
«'4-‘% HNEER Fﬁiﬁkiﬁ (1) The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)
REBRENEERBRRBIERBEIN The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
T4 A the following categories:
RMEEBEN
Wl i ut BRAEE
Basis for
Category Description recognising ECL
Raf HECREENENRARE SERREVERAARLEREIE 12@ABHEE
e AR I EEBEEEERE(ERBE1ER) &8
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not been a 12-month ECL
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
R LhEEMEENEERRBVBEERURCEZE N BELEE4E HFEPBEHESR
EERMEERFE2MER) B — REAE
= ERE
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in credit Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer to as not credit
Stage 2) impaired
EQ E-ERZHRUCREENETARBESREBR AN EN FERBEHREER
EHEORBELER ZeREERITCREEECEEREES BB — B84
E3MREER) = ERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events  Lifetime ECL —
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of credit impaired
that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
6! ERBRTEBABABRENV RS AEETEERAKE X TE HE 8
HE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty ~ Amount is
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery written-off

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024
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= & = (80

AEENEERBRARE (@

TRHSAEEISLBARNEEE
= URAEBREERRIRBELEH

B & = 5 B E R AE

2 HENE

Trade receivables

eSS

Bills receivables

H i MR OR

Other receivables

H it R FOR

Other receivables

FEWE R R FI B
Loans and interest
receivables

P &

Notes

26

26

26

27

27

HBEE ABEE
& B3
External Internal
credit credit
rating rating
rEm (W)
N/A (Note)
TER  RY

N/A Performing
TER  RY

N/A Performing
TER  RY

N/A Performing
TER AR

N/A Doubtful
TER  RY

N/A Performing
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s major
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to

credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

20245 12H31R
31 December 2024

128 A5k
FEERAEE
E#& BREAE
Gross
12-month or carrying
lifetime ECL amount
AR® T
RMB’000
FEBEAEEER
Lifetime ECL 2,013,405
12 AEBEEER
12-month ECL 41,778
12EAESHEEEE
12-month ECL 21,371
12EAESHEEEE
12-month ECL 10,000
FEREREERE
Lifetime ECL 650,797
12EAEBEEER
12-month ECL 228,881

ERER

BREEE
Net
carrying
amount
AR®T T
RMB’000

Loss
allowance
ARBTR
RMB’000

(89,307)

1,924,098

= 41,778

= 21,371

- 10,000

= 650,797

- 228,881

202312 A31H
31 December 2023

EHEE EEERE BREFE
Gross
carrying Loss  Net carrying
amount allowance amount
ARBTT ARETRT ARKTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,795,527 (115,747) 1,679,780
22,196 - 22,196
22,488 — 22,488
737,821 - 737,821

MizZ: MEZRRKRANE  AEEEEAEBHB
BELAFSRF MBI L BEFEHESR
EEBRAEBRBA AEEEREBADN
BHBERHLERAEEEAEEER LB
B AR R O R B R SRR
ARRAEH AR - Bt - WEBEENFEERR
BRKBEEEERAHERZT - MIzE26H

EHEEEBRBHENE-TFHS -

these assets.

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items based on the past due status of the
debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and
estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile
of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the
provision matrix. Note 26 includes further details on the loss allowance on

F3R 2024 WEAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. &FEIT A

cREREREBRERBE®

L E )
AEENEERBRARE (@

MNo024E12A31E B EWH B A
PEW AR S E & ARINBEE R AR KN
MEERRED BIE7% (20234 : 17%)
F25% (20234 : 40%) At A& B A &

PR EERR -

AEEERWRE SN EFEERREE
URFPBE(BERSD)  (h1R2024F 1218
31HE S EWHKIELRZEA100% (2023 F :

100%) °

REE SR

AEBEETHELLEEREARTRE
ReElBIF ERREBKNEHKE
REEEFARNERREF R HEME
EBLETHEEREKEE  AREAR
AEFENHE - AEENREREEHE

RERPESFTELE T EREH

REEFERNRSHERLEEZZMH
BERSREANAERERE  UEMHE

RBAERYRBESHK -

AEEKBERBRTERATERDES
R - FR2024F 12 A31 B 1 4% A iR 17 @b

BFIERM RS EE -

TERRAEENESREBEEHRTAOIH
AEVFFS - AR REBEAKE AR ERI
TRAEBERTRASARENKEEHRE
BERARFTRRERERE -SHAEEBENE

HBERHEERBHFTE -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 7% (2023: 17%)
and 25% (2023: 40%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest external customer and the top five
largest external customers respectively as at 31 December
2024.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC (including Hong Kong), which
accounted for 100% (2023: 100%) of the total trade receivable
as at 31 December 2024.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surplus and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the board of
directors of the Company when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with loan covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. Details of the available bank facilities as at 31
December 2024 are disclosed in note 31.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The maturity dates for financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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6. €I A 6.

SRl E ke EEE S RBUER@#E)

REES R @)
ZRBENERACHERE - WEFE
MERFHNE  RATRSBUARREH
RAROERMNEXFESFE -

15 R

Within

1 year
ARETR
RMB’000

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from effective interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.

M2024F12H31H
At 31 December 2024

HiB1E
BELR25F
More than
1 year but

less than

B2
EBLR5F
More than

2 years but
less than

AFRBE

e

fREE

Total
undiscounted

Carrying
amount
AR TR
RMB’000

cash flows
AR® T
RMB’000

PATCETES
AR T
RMB’000

5 years
AR® T T
RMB’000

BHNEM Trade and other
FEAS SRR payables 2,475,227 - - 2,475,227 2,475,227
BITEXR Bank loans 2,049,872 - - 2,049,872 1,885,882
Hibe@mBME Other financial
liabilities 253,438 420,946 — 674,384 634,173
4,778,537 420,946 — 5,199,483 4,995,282
N REBHESEMNRHBBERAT In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s lease liabilities is

HEaE Lease liabilities 11,799

as follows:

4,716 1,161 17,676 16,954

F£3R 2024 BWEAH
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€/ T A@m 6.

cREREREBRERBE®

REE SRR (@)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

7R 2023F 12 531 H
At 31 December 2023

A1 wHmiE2E  KIHBE S
1R BLR2FE  BLREEF e R FREE
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Total
Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
ARETT ARETRT AR¥ETRT AR%®FTrT AR®F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
5 KEM Trade and other
J& 1~ FR3E payables 3,304,924 — — 3,304,924 3,304,924
RITERX Bank loans 1,740,662 — — 1,740,662 1,697,377
Hib&mB[E Otherfinancial
liabilities — 665,478 — 665,478 610,699
5,045,586 665,478 — 5,711,064 5,513,000
N REBHEEBEMNIEBBERRAT In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s lease liabilities is
as follows:
HEAE Lease liabilities 20,358 10,111 3,121 33,590 31,743

NEBEOHEMLERE &SI E33H
RENBLOREREERAEEAEND

RS T e

1455 B0 i o 10 58 b 5 4R 4 B9 PO O 8 5 A
FIE R - B0 A M0 b T8 A=A
SHEENSHETEE RS-
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The other financial liabilities included above are the maximum
amount the Group is required to be settled if the redemption
right has been triggered as disclosed in note 33.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.
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£/ T Auwm

REAUBRRREINQFE
B

AEBRBEEHEERQNFENE
NMEMEENLFE
TREHRENEREDE KRR R FET
ENERTADIN  WIHREARENE
ARREATENBERERERQY
BEREZE—E=-

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance
to the Group’s accounting policy.

7"20245F12A31H
At 31 December 2024
FZH EF=H
Level 2 Level 3
ARSTRT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000

E—&

BEr

Total

AR T
RMB’000

Level 1
ARET T
RMB’000

BRATEFAHMEZE Financial assets at
KWEmemEE FVTOCI
JELETRRATES Unlisted equity securities - - 787,681 787,681
FELETMBRAES Unlisted equity fund - — 9,105 9,105
— — 796,786 796,786

BAFESAEMZE Financial assets at
KENEBEE FVTOCI
ELETIRAESH Unlisted equity securities — — 875,491 875,491
LT AES Unlisted equity fund — — 9,105 9,105
— — 884,596 884,596

REMEBEFENAFEBRZEL

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in
the current and prior years.
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6. €@ T AW

REAUBRRREINQFE
T2 (3

AEBRBEKEHEERNFENE
MEREEN D FE @
BREKFUHEEAEZE SR ITANAT
BERMANMBERD i A BB
LI

2024

AR¥ET

RMB’000
FETRE  E=H 787,681 875,491
RE
Unlisted equity  Level 3
investments
EETRE E=& 9,105 9,105
e

Unlisted equity  Level 3
fund

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring
basis are set out below:

& — BH BrfEg/ BAEH 660522495 RBIKHEEHRY
fEg/ HERER  HERY 1% (20234 1 214315 5 ATEER
25.23(%): SHE R 289
52101615 (20235 :
3845 ET411E)
Market Earnings multiples/  Earnings multiples: from 6.60 ~ The higher of
approach — eaming  sales multiples to 24.96 times (2023: from earnings or sales
multiples/sales 21.43 t0 25.23 times); multiples, the
multiples Sales multiples: from 2.89 higher the fair value
to 10.16 times (2023: from
3.84 o 7.41 times)
mHEEE FLmRERES 883000%LE BERENS
A HRRENE 1,702,000 7T AYEHS
ERE (2023 : 831,000% L2
2,561,000% T)
Adjusted net assets  Net asset value of ~ US$883,000 to The higher the net
method underlying US$1,702,000 asset value, the
investment of (2023: US$831,000 to higher of the fair
unlisted equity US$2,561,000)) value
fund

796,786 884,596
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€F T Am@m

RESUBRRREANQTE

& (|

AEBREBELEHEER AT EFE
HNeEMEEN L FEE
MEEAEATEEBRAPEZPNKEEHE
ANFEHEMS  WMAEBEBRAOHTATEE
BASEGEETRARENAFEE L
HERSHURIELTREESHBERE
MEEFE) RS T IES%(2023F :
5%) MATEHEMESHFTTE  BIK
AFEFAEMZERINERHEEDN
NEEFE DR I8 AR 39,225,000
7T (20234 : A R %31,199,0007T ) /& 4
4 N R #39,225000 7T (20234 : A R ¥
31,199,0007T) °

REEEMEEESREESE=RATE
5B O

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
For recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy, if the unobservable inputs (earnings
multiples and sales multiples for unlisted equity investments and
net asset value of underlying investment for of unlisted equity
fund) to the valuation model were 5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower
while all the other variables were held constant, the fair value of
the financial assets at FVTOCI would be increased by
approximately RMB39,225,000 (2023: RMB31,199,000)/
decreased by approximately RMB39,225,000 (2023:
RMB31,199,000) respectively.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets on recurring basis:

FLEHBRARE

REES

Unlisted equity

investments/

equity fund

ARET T

RMB’000

7R2023F1 A1 H At 1 January 2023 646,024
FELEMEAEETE Capital contribution in unlisted equity investment 421,189
HEt2ml S AFERE  Fair value loss in other comprehensive income (182,617)
R2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2023 884,596
FELEMBEAKETE Capital contribution in unlisted equity investment 311,557
HEt2mWK N AFERE  Fair value loss in other comprehensive income (399,367)
R2024F 12 A31H At 31 December 2024 796,786

T35 2024 EEAIF 189
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RESUBRRKREANQTE

i E (|

AEERBEEHEER QA FENE

NEmMEEN D FE@E

HE2024F12A3IBILFEE AR E
HE2EREZHNAFEBEOARE
399,367,0007T (20234 : R FEEEAR
#182,617,0007T) AR MEHERAIFH
EEARAEATETAEMZEKEMIE
FTRALERREESNRER IS

HEE -

REEEMEELFZNTFEFEN

EMIANLDFE

ARPEERR FEMBHRRPIREH
RAGENEMMEREERERAED

FREEEEAFEMES -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fair value loss
recognised in other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB399,367,000 (2023: fair value loss of RMB182,617,000)
was unrealised gain or loss on unlisted equity investments and
equity fund designated at FVTOCI held at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of IC, other
electronic components, AloT products and proprietary and
semi-conductor products, service revenue from software
licensing and interest income generated from IngFin Financing
Services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as

follows:
2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB B IS s A Revenue from contracts with customers
FE15RBEANNE P ALUA © within the scope of HKFRS 15:
—IC-EMEFEH - — Sales of IC, other electronic
AloT & & 8 fff £ components, AloT products and
FEEELNEESE proprietary and semi-conductor
products 10,085,107 8,816,984
— HHERELEERBEKRA — Service revenue from software
licensing 3,040 4,622
10,088,147 8,821,606
KB EMRIRABA Revenue from other sources:
— ka5l h&ReFEKA — Interest income from IngFin
Financing Services 40,980 41,776
10,129,127 8,863,382

F3R 2024 WEAIH
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue
from contracts with customers and the reconciliation of revenue
for contracts with the amounts disclosed in segment
information:

BB

Comtech

BEEMNE st
Ingdan Total
AR®TRT AR¥BTR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R
RMB’000

HE2024F12A31H

For the year ended 31 December

IEFE 2024

EBREBMGHREE  Revenue from contracts with
BI85 15 55% &6 B A &Y customers within the scope of
EPEKHRA HKFRS 15:
—IC - EMEFIT — Sales of IC, other electronic

a5 14 - AloTE mh

components, AloT

kB EE products and proprietary
EmmEER and semi-conductor
products 9,568,549 516,558 10,085,107
— B ERELE — Service revenue from
PR 7 A software licensing — 3,040 3,040
9,568,549 519,598 10,088,147
KB EAMRIRE Revenue from other sources
A — 40,980 40,980
9,568,549 560,578 10,129,127
EEA#W AR Disaggregation of revenue from
5 A B9 3 48 contracts with customers by timing
of recognition
WA REREM Timing of revenue recognition:
— R — A2 — Ata point in time 9,568,549 516,558 10,085,107
— R— BB — QOver time — 3,040 3,040
BEAHBIRA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 9,568,549 519,598 10,088,147

192 INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024
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7. WA @ 7. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
i 5 T EER FET
Comtech Ingdan Total
AREET T ARBT T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
H £2023F 12 A31H  For the year ended 31 December
EFEE 2023
BN EBIMIBHRE %A Revenue from contracts with
F15REABEANMEF  customers within the scope of
XL ONE HKFRS 15:
—IC- EMEFIires — Sales of IC, other electronic
% AloTE @M components, AloT
ERNR SN products and proprietary
EmiEHEE and semi-conductor
products 7,835,381 981,603 8,816,984
— MR ELERE — Service revenue from
A software licensing — 4,622 4,622
7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606
B EAMFRIREAHUA  Revenue from other sources - 41,776 41,776
7,835,381 1,028,001 8,863,382
BEEA#HUWALTEZ  Disaggregation of revenue from
SRR contracts with customers by
timing of recognition
WA TER R Timing of revenue recognition:
— R ERE — At apoint in time 7,835,381 981,603 8,816,984
— R — B K — Over time - 4,622 4,622
7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606
EEAHBEA Total revenue from contracts
with customers 7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT products
and proprietary and semi-conductor products and service
revenue from software licensing are with an original expected
duration of one year or less or contracts for which revenue is
recognised at the amount of which that Group has the right to
invoice for the services performed. Accordingly, the Group has
elected the practical expedient and has not disclosed the
amount of transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) as of the
end of the reporting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services provided.
The executive directors of the Company have chosen to
organise the Group around differences in products and
services.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has identified two reportable segments:

Comtech: Sales of IC, other electronic components and
AloT products
Ingdan: Sales of proprietary and semi-conductor

products, Ingfin Financing Services, software
licensing and incubator business

Operating segments in Comtech and Ingdan, as identified by
the CODM, have been aggregated in arriving at reportable
segments of the Group.
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8. HWER @ 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
DEBRAREE Segment revenues and results
LWTAREBEIZAZEHRD I E 5 AU A The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
LEED - by reportable segments.

BE2024F 12831 B LEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE £ 1o EE B et
Comtech Ingdan Total

AR®TR AR®TR AR®T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue

— HHNHE — External sales
— D EBREIH & — Inter-segment sales
Pal= 1 /N Segment revenue
c )
53 & F Segment profit )
Ko B A Unallocated income ‘_/f
RKAOMARFAEZ Unallocated corporate '
expenses
R 5 Bt B 75 B AR Unallocated finance costs
JEEEE AR EE Share of results of
associates

B B A & A Profit before tax
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8. DH{ER @ 8.

DEBUYA R EE E)

RTR/RAEEZAZHRD ME D RA
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segments. (Continued)

HZEZ2023F12A31BALEE For the year ended 31 December 2023

196

38 5 g W E R @Et
Comtech Ingdan Total
ARET T AREFTT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2 3N Segment revenue
— HHNHE — External sales 7,835,381 1,028,001 8,863,382
— DHEEE — Inter-segment sales - — —
7 EHA Segment revenue 7,835,381 1,028,001 8,863,382
7 8B 5 K Segment profit 352,358 156,642 509,000
Ko B A Unallocated income 52,845
FOBRARFX Unallocated corporate
expenses (96,520)
A9 B B 75 B AR Unallocated finance costs (109,295)
R g RN T4 Share of results of
associates 4,435
B 75 A1 g ) Profit before tax 360,465
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administrative and certain other
operating expenses, other income, finance costs, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, and share of results of associates. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable segments:

DEBEE Segment assets
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R} 38 = fig Comtech 5,664,135 6,162,761
W E R Ingdan 3,031,892 3,248,314
D EPE E BT Total segment assets 8,696,027 9,411,075
REEE R R AR Interests in associates 33,239 26,839
RARHEMEE Corporate and other assets 877,273 761,505
BmEE Total assets 9,606,539 10,199,419

F3R 2024 WEAIH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

8.

o 2 E B @@

2 &P

N

MEEREE @

DEEE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment liabilities

2024 & 20234

2024 2023

AR T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

138 AT Comtech 2,419,387 3,005,801
e & B Ingdan 106,299 336,638
DE AR Total segment liabilities 2,525,686 3,342,439
RElREMEE Corporate and other liabilities 2,671,969 2,342,260
BERLTE Total liabilities 5,197,655 5,684,699

REEDSHRBARDESIERMNS -

MBRENRERLZE D HER B
ERAR-—HALELENERE &
THHEERE REEINE
B-AlkEmEH EEAFRTE
R RENRBEFEWEHRI: R

FMERBEITRERESM HET
HENRE HEAE EBNAA
BH-ROTEXR HpeBRAER
BT IBBERI -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— Al assets are allocated to operating segments, other than
interests in associates and a joint venture, certain other
receivables, investment in debenture, income tax
recoverable, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents; and

— Al liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
than certain other payable, lease liabilities, income tax
payables, bank loans, other financial liabilities and
deferred tax liabilities.
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8. 7EER ) 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Hitt o H&E R Other segment information
HZE2024F12A31BLLEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB B i BEMNEK * 7B #at

Comtech Ingdan Unallocated Total

ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TR AR®BTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

FADEDEAE  Amounts included in the
NEEEFEN measure of segment

RIA - profit or segment assets:
REFERBEE Additions to non-current
(B 3E) assets (note) 29,448 - 6,400 35,848
e R Depreciation and
amortisation 43,314 166,185 — 209,499
B 5 WG TEH Reversal of loss allowance
BB E D on trade receivables (10,766) (15,674) = (26,440)
GFEREFR Allowance of inventories,
net 4,416 - — 4,416
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H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. DH{ER @ 8.
i=a

HihpIER @
BE2023F12A31BLEE

SFADEHE M Amounts included in the
DEEEEN measure of segment

RIE profit or segment assets:
REFERBEE Additions to non-current
(B 5E) assets (note)
I E K Depreciation and
amortisation
B 5 E W RIEH Loss allowance on trade
E R receivables
GEREFE Allowance of inventories,
net

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

M3 £ i
Comtech
ARET T
RMB’000

68,809

25,947

21,437

2,622

=R
Ingdan
ARET T
RMB’000

117,617

303,863

2,678

KoL 45T
Unallocated Total

ARETT ARBTRT
RMB’000 RMB’000

4,435 190,861

— 329,810

— 24,115

— 2,622

Ma: ERBDEETBERAFEMAEM2EK
ENERMEEREKEN -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

Note: Non-current assets excluded

receivables.

financial assets at FVTOCI and loans
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. Z#IWER @ 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
EE R Geographical information
REBMETFAERAKXREBPR(GES Substantially all of the Group’s revenue is derived from the PRC
BYRIIERHEEMRNTR (BESE) - (including Hong Kong) and non-current assets are located in

the PRC (including Hong Kong).

EETEXENER Information about major customers
B = 0024 F 2023412 A 31 B IF & E #E No customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the
mEANEBBIWAI0%IA FHEE o Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
0. HigA  WxEER 9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARB TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WATA WA Bank interest income 13,407 14,991
7S #78 B (Bft 3) Government grants (note) 4,625 19,777
PE 5 W & 0 5 Exchange gain, net - 3,766
H Al Other 6,027 14,311
24,059 52,845
BT BB T e ER AT B B B - R 3R Note: The government grants were granted at the discretion of the government
B o Uk EN A 7R B T 2 5 o TR AT E’\]‘f‘lﬁ R and were non-recurring in nature. There are no unfulfiled conditions and
% ===8= ) other contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.
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10. Bf & B A& 10. FINANCE COSTS

2024 F

2024

ARET T

RMB’000
Httga &N (i) Interest on other financial liabilities (note) 39,352 39,352
RITEFRFE Interests on bank loans 83,208 65,787
HEAGENE Interests on lease liabilities 1,264 2,486
RE KA Factoring costs 1,436 1,670
125,260 109,295

11. FIEHEX 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2024 F

2024

AR¥T T

RMB’000

RO ER#R I8 - Current tax:

MG PRC Enterprises Income Tax 13,668 37,598
BAENGEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 29,545 10,649
43,213 48,247
EIERIE (M1 5E32) Deferred tax (note 32) (7,652) (7,652)

35,561 40,595
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. Fr8 BB X (@)

(i)

REREREREBELEENERER &
SEBABMRERERABRELESNE
I PR

EEEMARHFEHHET  AEREZEE2
BEE T E M A5 12825% 2 F - dBiB2H BB
TC Y i F 6 12 16.5% 22 Bt o Bl 22024 4F 22023
F12ANBLEEE ASECEBERNE
BREHBEMRAGNFNEHHETE - AEE
Hi TEMARMBHFNESHIEHNEEEE
BE T A B IE16.5% 58 — B RRH -

BERECEFEBE(REMERE]D) R
¥FEBAERIEN - R EWNEARRZMIE
FENMERE B25%  HETHEMBARAA
B BB D W 2022 F 2023 F EF W
FRMRE0AFREZZ=FRELEBRFE -

BEBITCEMSREREBEER  FPE
ERMC¥3E2008F1 1A ERFAHETERE
REREEHRBFRENRS - WEU10%H
BT (R IERBER B 5 E I EURBERK) o
MR2008F1 A1BHRIEAK KD KR F| EH R
BANE BB -

REBE(AMEBBRNTREBAREMFES
EEEHBAL LAIRE T H) R EEEE
BHMEEREERIEGHEAAIRRBKED
EKAMBEET —BRAERBEATRHERMER
Los%H ik AEE  AIMBEERAFIRNY TH
EERERER QA RS A B RE%H TR
T MIEME -

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the
BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualified entity of
the Group is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The profits of other entities of the Group in Hong Kong not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years, except for certain PRC subsidiaries which were qualified
software enterprises and being granted two-year tax exemption in 2022
and 2023 followed by three-year 50% tax reduction since 2024.

According to the prevailing the EIT law and its relevant regulations, non-
PRC resident enterprises are levied on withholding tax at 10%, unless
reduced by tax treaties or similar arrangements, on dividends from their
PRC-resident investees for earnings accumulated beginning on 1 January
2008. Undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are
exempt from such withholding tax.

Under the Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation
and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and
its relevant regulations, dividends paid by a PRC resident enterprise to its
direct holding company in Hong Kong will be subject to withholding tax at
a reduced rate of 5% (if the Hong Kong investor is the “beneficial owner”
and owns directly at least 25% of the equity interest of the PRC resident
enterprise for the past twelve months before the dividends distribution).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

11. TEHBA X @ 1. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

SHALTHEAESREM2AK The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the profit before
= i% AR AR FIERAT tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR TR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 156 B s Profit before tax 309,051 360,465
BREAMEHRHRE25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate of
(20234 : 25%) st E KT 1A 25% (2023: 25%) 77,263 90,116
MEZRFEENRBTE Tax effect of two-year exemption and
three-year reduction (42,288) (47,089)
BESMAGHOAEERD Tax effect of entities with jurisdictions
ERONBEE not subject to income tax (804) (2,601)
JEMEBE AR EENBEETE  Taxeffect of share of results of
associates (1,600) (1,109)
BERTBRANREZE Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes (3,335) (3,850)
T M LR G& Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 4,627 3,169
HABERERNTIEBEN Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
Mg e previously not recognised (3,058) (5,758)
FERREEENPRIEFE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 17,598 15,246
£ E b B E 8 @ B R Y B Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
NATREMENTZE operating in other jurisdictions (12,823) (7,538)
EEEFENESHARNTE Effect of Hong Kong Profits Tax
(B 3E) exemption granted (note) (19) (11)
FEHAX Income tax expenses 35,561 40,595
fieE : B E S5 %EE £2024F K2023F Note: Hong Kong Profits Tax exemption granted represented a reduction of

12ABILEENEEMNERER ESE
B2 £ R 73,0007 7T (48 & R 4 A R #2,700
JC (20235 : AR#62,7007T)) °

Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
subject to a ceiling of HK$3,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,700
(2023: RMB2,700)) for each entity.

EFED AR F IR HNA M FES2

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 32.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. FREF 12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRm A TR (GEA) AT Profit for the year has been arrived at
FIEBER: after charging (crediting):
EEREETHA B N Directors’ and chief executive’s
(P 5E13) emoluments (note 13) 5,298 4,822
HMET: Other staff;
—FHe IE FEBERHEM — Salaries, wages, allowance and
18 A other benefits 169,027 170,956
— RIKEFEEIHR — Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 31,859 32,233
— B EEUROZA® — Equity-settled share-based
mE RS (B3E37() compensation expenses
(note 37(0)) 1,141 2,944
Hith 8 TR Total other staff costs 202,027 206,133
ZEE N & Auditors’ remuneration
— RQRAZ BN — Auditor of the Company 3,605 3,600
— H iz EEm — Other auditors 3,459 7,369
7,064 10,969
AT EEARER EE S © Amortisation of intangible assets
included in:
— HEKAR — Cost of sales 59,185 97,400
—THREMEERAE — Administrative and other operating
expenses 121,893 190,272
181,078 287,672
EREETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,286 2,424
TREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,653 24,464
HEWERE Depreciation of investment properties 3,482 15,250
fE 5 B 1R (W) F 8 Exchange loss (gain), net 4,479 (3,766)
B S REBGRERN (BEBHERD)  (Reversal of loss allowance) loss
R allowance on trade receivables (26,440) 24,115
TR 5 o 3% 1 il 85 Write off of plant and equipment 26 159
HEREMERBSE Loss on disposal of investment
properties 774 —
FEREBFE Allowance for inventories, net
Gt AHEKA) (included in cost of sales) 4,416 2,622
o R 2 (Bt EE) Research and development expenses
(note) 104,126 102,582
BRAEMIMEFERIE Amount of inventories recognised as
an expense 9,180,481 7,745,574
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2024%12 A31 H ILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. FRHF @) 12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)
BeE: BE2024F 12A3BLEFENHAERABRE Note: Research and development expenses include staff cost of employees in

et B AFIEENBEIRNAODARE
55,696,0007T (20234 : A K #50,138,0007T) *
ZAETE A EXPT BN R TRAR -

HZE2024F12A31B L FENHAERAITE
W AN R 780,000 (20235F : A R %
738,0007T) M I EF X - ZKIBIRET A EXFT
BHEOBE RSETER-

the design, research and development function of approximately
RMB55,696,000 (2023: RMB50,138,000) for the year ended 31 December
2024, and such amount is also included in the staff costs as disclosed
above.

Research and development expenses also include depreciation charge of
approximately RMB780,000 (2023: RMB738,000) for the year ended 31
December 2024, and such amount is also included in the depreciation of
plant and equipment as disclosed above.

13. EERBETHRAENME 13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) ESREBTRASNMS ()

BN KEN T65(2023F : 6%) &
ERERITRABRZEAEHNMEWT

HZ2024%12A318  For the year ended 31 December 2024

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 6 (2023: 6)
directors and the chief executive were as follows:

e B RABER

E=He REMEF BT T B
Salaries, Retirement

allowance benefit

Directors’ and other Discretionary scheme
fee benefits bonus contributions Total
ARBTRE AR%®TRT AR¥TR AR®TR AR%T:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ILEE

HITEF Executive directors

FHERE(FEELEE])  Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey (‘Mr. Kang’) - 473 669 64 1,206

il Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen - 1,203 913 16 2,132

FHELL Ms. Guo Lihua 544 494 - 100 1,138

BUFHTEF Indlependent non-executive directors

g4 Mr. Ye Xin 274 - - - 274

BRETEL Dr. Ma Qiyuan 274 - - - 274

wa—EE Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie 274 - - - 274
1,366 2,170 1,582 180 5,298
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EH ZE2024% 12 A31 H ILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Continued)

Ezns

Directors’
fee

ARB TR
RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5 BH
REAMER
Salaries,
allowance
and other
benefits
ARB TR
RMB’000

Discretionary

bonus

ARBT T
RMB’000

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

RABER
B MR
Retirement
benefit
scheme
contributions Total
ARBTRE AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ILEE

HITEF Executive directors

FHERE(FEELEE])  Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey (‘Mr. Kang’) - 1,137 - 54 1,191

il Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen - 1,209 720 16 1,945

BHRZELL Ms. Guo Lihua 484 230 97 65 876

BUFHTEF Indlependent non-executive directors

g4 Mr. Ye Xin 270 - - - 270

SRt Dr. Ma Qiyuan 270 - - - 270

W — ok Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie 270 - - — 270
1,294 2,576 817 1356 4,822
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H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

(a)

(b)

(©)

ESERERTRARN
& ()

MERMTROBITEETFHEZ LR
RERHEERAKREEHERN
ART o

BEENRARAZRSITHRAER
REXHBEERZHFMBERIER
RRITBABRERBEOME -

AEMBENRBEATBARE
WFMEZEeRREARRMEE -

REL = 2024 F K 2023F 12 A31 8 1+
FE - ARAANESTBRABRAE
MEEHREREXRERNELREE
BTS2 14 8 BN & - A B 22024 F &
2023F 12 A31ALFE ' AEBE W
EOARNAIERITHRABRESEX
NEMNHESEANAREENES
S ERBEE A (E -

EENRAKENRBEREFN

BREXFEREN REZE20245F
K2023F 12 A31HIEFER AR
7) 2 2 I £ Y ER (T o] £ Ath 2R 1K 4@ F
SRR AR T o

MTYE=FTREEERHEH
KE

RE RSN E E2024 F ;20235 12
A31H I FEAEMER - FELH
THREWRE=ZFRHEZTREN
RAE -
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(©)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Group.

Mr. Kang is also the chief executive of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Discretionary bonuses disclosed above were determined
by the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
reference to the individual performance.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors of the
Company waived or agreed to waive the emoluments
paid by the Group during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. No emoluments were paid by the Group
to the chief executive and directors of the Company as an
inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company
did not receive any other retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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d EHEAES ZAFEENI

(e)

2k AEBREE R
BOER EERRHMR
SH0ER

PR20244F [ 2023F 12 A31 B s i &
F2024%F k2028F 12 A1 B IEFE
AERERE WEFEEAREAD
AEE RENIEHEABS

HEETRBRERNEMAER  BUE
HUARERZEATHEMRS -

EEREARS  R¥DSE
HWHWE KRR =

R Bt SESHFT 4% 5 & Hh - 7R 2024F &
2023%F 12 A 31 H sk R E £ 2024 F &
2023F 12 A31 8 I+ F & A T 7] BF
M YEARAABTHIMESZRN
EREESEELESE ARG
BORASEEBBENEARS
THES A HDIRER -

14. EEM &

REAEEREZRaMEALH B—%
(2023%F : —R)ARBEE  EMeHER
EXHEBHNBEEENR HH A
0BF:-ME)EZBHFMALHBHE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of directors of the Company, their controlled
bodies corporate and connected entities subsisted at 31
December 2024 and 2023 or any time during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance

Except as disclosed in note 35, no significant
transactions, arrangements or contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2024 and 2023 or
at any time during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

Group, 1

(2023: 1) director(s) of the Company whose

emoluments is included in the disclosures in note 13 above.
The emoluments of remaining 4 (2023: 4) highest paid

R individuals were as follows:

2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e R RHAMER Salaries, allowance and other benefits 8,584 5,723

RRAE FIET &I 5K Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 300 241
IR AEENEERE Share-based compensation expenses 184 2,723
9,068 8,687
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H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. EEBN € &)

mENMESETNIEBER

1,500,001 % Jt & 2,000,000/ T
(FEE R ARKA,369,126 T E
AR #1,8255007T)

(20234 : AR#¥1,350,270 T &
AR #1,800,3607T)

2,000,001 % 7T Z 2,500,000 7T
(FEE R ARA1,825501 TE
AR #2281,8757T)

(20234 : AR #1,800,361 L&
AR 2 250,450 7T)

2,500,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 T
(FEE R ARK2281,876 TE
ANER#2,738,2507T)

(20234 : AR#2,250,451 L&
AR #2,700,5407T)

14.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2024 & 20234
2024 2023

A A
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

(equivalent to approximately

RMB1,369,126 to RMB1,825,500)

(2023: RMB1,350,270 to

RMB1,800,360) - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

(equivalent to approximately

RMB1,825,501 to RMB2,281,875)

(2023: RMB1,800,361 to

RMB2,250,450) 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

(equivalent to approximately

RMB2,281,876 to RMB2,738,250)

(2023: RMB2,250,451 to

RMB2,700,540) 3 2

R E £22024%F N2023F 12 A318 Ik &F
B AREBYERALZZSTMA LT XA
TS EENALAEENESSNIES

BEBfE

15. K&

15.

BE12A A LFEALEFAA QA RR
IMBEHERIRERS  BREHARETE

BEIREEMAS -

HE2023F12A31HIEEE AKRQ A
1% 19 & (B H 7 77k 25 & = 2022 12 A 31
BIEFERRPKREFR004BTT &4

24 A K #50,402,0007, ©
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No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the shareholders of the
Company during the year ended 31 December, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a final dividend of
HK$0.04 per share in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022, in aggregate amount of approximately RMB50,402,000
was recognised as distribution out of the Company’s share
premium.
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H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following:
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR® TR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZF Earnings
REITEERERREFERZF M Earnings for the purpose of basic and
BF - ARARHEE AEEER diluted earnings per share,
i A representing profit for the year
attributable to owners of the
Company 189,854 210,700
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR® TR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
gk g=| Number of shares
BHAEBREABF O LA IMNE Weighted average number of ordinary
I i’J £y shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 1,370,327 1,368,853
EBTEHBERENTAKMNFE . Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares:
BIEAZREREALQFNTR  Deemed issue of shares under the
I A% 15 B B 1T R 1D Company’s RSU scheme for nil
consideration 665 2,175
BHESRBERNO L AEMNE Weighted average number of ordinary
I i’J £y shares for the purpose of dilutive
earnings per share 1,370,992 1,371,028

MEFENRFEESRERARMNNE B
B g 15 B g X RE A RIE R IR HI AX
MEMERBENRDREFRONOF
EEHHE-

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
calculation of earnings per share for both years has been
adjusted for the effects of the shares held by the trustee
pursuant to the RSU scheme and treasury shares.
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H Z=2024% 12 A31 H 1L F[Z For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. BMERZE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

%N COST

R2023%F151H At 1 January 2023 846 7,037 12,410 - 20,293
wNE Additions — — 729 8,104 8,833
i 5 Write-off (858) — (203) — (1,061)
fE i A% Exchange adjustments 12 — 53 — 65

R2023F 12 831 H At 31 December 2023 — 7,037 12,989 8,104 28,130
NE Additions 404 — 955 1,974 3,333

e Write-off - - (94) - 94)
HAE Exchange adjustments - - 70 - 70
2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 404 7,037 13,920 10,078 31,439
FE DEPRECIATION

202341 F81H At 1 January 2023 661 4,410 6,916 - 11,987
F RN Charge for the year 58 1,407 959 — 2424
055 B B B Eliminated on write-off (726) — (176) — (902)
BEE 3,38 2 Exchange adjustments 7 - 45 - 52
2023512 A31H At 31 December 2023 — 5,817 7,744 — 13,561

F Rk Charge for the year 10 1,220 1,056 — 2,286
i 84 B B Eliminated on write-off — — (68) — 68)
fE A% Exchange adjustments — — 60 — 60
R2024F12 831 H At 31 December 2024 10 7,037 8,792 — 15,839
REE CARRYING VALUE

2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 394 — 5128 10,078 15,600
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 — 1,220 8,104 14,569
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. BB KRR E @ 17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
B K& E(ERETIERIN R EF Plant and equipment, other than construction-in-progress are
HREBEEBZATMHETFERFHUERS depreciated on a straight-line basis after less their residual
EETHE values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
TE 5% Motor vehicles 5 years
HEMEEE MEFHANHEF Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term
(AR 52 & B %E) of the lease or 5 years
RERWHAEERHE 1E5F Furniture and office equipment ~ Over 1 to 5 years
18. HE 18. LEASE
(@ FAEEE (a) Right-of-use assets
2024 2023
2024 2023
ARETR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
T Hb Land 88,470 91,630
EFREE Buildings and warehouses 16,434 31,072
104,904 122,702
FTAEEERRMANP BN L E Right-of-use assets consist of RMB88,470,000 (2023:
FA #E A R #£88,470,000 7T (2023 4F : RMB91,630,000) which represents land use rights
A R #91,630,00070) - AER & = + located in the PRC with a lease terms of thirty years. The
F-AEENREFREEAM Group also has lease arrangements for buildings and
ELHE HEH-—"RBNTITWMEAF warehouses with the lease terms of generally ranged from
(20234 : MZEINEF) © two to six years (2023: two to six years).
MRt REFHE  WEH Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
E2024F 12 AN B IEFEEHBFER December 2024 amounted to approximately
BEEMMNE BH ARA855,000 RMB4,855,000 (2023: RMB117,617,000) due to new
70 (20234 : A R#117,617,0007T) ° leases of land and buildings.

3R 2024 EEAFH 213



A B R M A ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H Z=2024% 12 A31 H 1L F[Z For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. A E @) 18. LEASE (CONTINUED)
b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
2024 £
2024
ARBT T
RMB’000
ERE Non-current 5,685 12,550
mEh Current 11,269 19,193
16,954 31,743

HE2024F12A31HLEFE A&
EpHEEFI LA THHEER
FOURHEAREEREERA
&8 E ARE4,8550007T (20234 :

AR #22,828,0007T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into a number of new lease agreements in
respect of renting buildings and recognised lease liabilities
of RMB4,855,000 (2023: RMB22,828,000) was
recognised at inception of leases.

2024 F
2024

ARBT T
RMB’000

HEBBEETITHENSHE Amounts payable under lease
liabilities
—F A Within one year 11,269 19,193
—FHREWFER After one year but within two years 4,549 9,509
MEBREBREFA After two years but within five years 1,136 3,041
16,954 31,743
B 1218 A REIB A B Less: amount due for settlement
EGIRNEHEEET) within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities) (11,269) (19,193)
R12E A& HENSNESE Amount due for settlement after
12,550

12 months 5,685
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. A E @)
(c) REZHIHEIANESE

H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. LEASES (CONTINUED)

() Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
AR T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000

FTREEEMNITERX Depreciation expense on right-of-
use assets 22,653 24,464
HEAGBNHBERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,264 2,486

HEHREERBENRX Expense relating to short-term
leases 1,218 13,807
(d) Hftb (d) Others

HE2024F12A31HIEFERN M
EMBHEeRBNBEBENLNAEARE
22,126,000 7T (2023%F : A R #§

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash
outflows for leases amounting to approximately

RMB22,126,000 (2023: RMB132,698,000).

132,698,000 7T) °

19. REWE 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ARETIT
RMB’000

22N COST
202351 A1 8 &2023%F12 A31H At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 237,962
& Disposal (23,650)
R2024F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 214,312
ERRE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
#2023F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 309
FREAE Provided for the year 15,250
M20234%12 A31 H At 31 December 2023 15,559
i & B 4 8 Eliminated on disposal (12,076)
FREAE Provided for the year 3,482
M2024412 A31 H At 31 December 2024 6,965
BREE CARRYING VALUE
MNo0244%12 A31H At 31 December 2024 207,347
2023412 A31H At 31 December 2023 222,403
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. BE WX (@)

LR EMERE NI FENERAE KX

e :

ME i T4 FH

BF MAFE R 62F
(A& EE A%)

MR2024F12A31H  REEBKREWENRN
FE B AR EE222 704,000 7T (2023 4F

AR #0252 551,0007T) °

RFEDEREAEE T ERENE L
BMEMBRRITAENGENSL - AE
Ti2E R E AR ELU Y E T

HImEETE -

HRBEFEMAGBERMLEZES -1
HAMENRFER PEHNERS REE

Rz AR AE-

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease
Buildings Over the shorter of the term
of the lease and 62 years

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB222,704,000 (2023:
RMB252,551,000).

The fair value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried
out by Cushman & Wakefield, independent valuers not
connected with the Group. The valuation was determined by
reference to recent market prices for similar properties in the
similar locations and conditions.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.
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H Z=2024% 12 A31 H IE &€ For the year ended 31 December 2024

20. B EE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BA CosT

7202341 F1H At1 January 2023 2,722 80,030 2215 283,182 93,000 1,368,101 440 1,829,690
RE Additions - - - - - 64,411 - 64,411
HE Disposal - - - - - (114227) - (714227)
A Exchange adjustments - - 38 - - 18,360 - 18,398
720235124310 At 31 December 2023 2,722 80,030 2,253 283,182 93,000 736,645 440 1,198,272
RE Additions - - - - - 27,660 - 27,660
AR Exchange adjustments - - 34 - - 10,696 - 10,730
2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 2,722 80,030 2,287 283,182 93,000 775,001 440 1,236,662
B4 3 ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

7202351 A1A At1 January 2023 2722 49,796 1,995 126,826 20636 591,249 440 802,664
FRMNG Charge for the year - 5,741 194 31,465 8500 241,682 — 287672
HeE Disposal - - - - - (375840) - (375840)
X AR Exchange adjustments - - 47 - - 38,575 - 38,622
720235123310 At 31 December 2023 2,722 55,537 2,236 158,291 38226 495,666 440 753,118
FRMB Charge for the year - 5,741 16 31,465 8500 135,266 - 181,078
B AR Exchange adjustments - - 35 - - 4,394 - 4,429
2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 2,722 61,278 2,287 189,756 46816 635326 440 938,625
BEE CARRYING VALUE

R2024E12A31R At 31 December 2024 - 18,752 - 93,426 46,184 139,675 - 298,037
720235124310 At 31 December 2023 - 24,493 17 124,891 54774 240979 - 445154
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

20. B EE @)

taEpEEAAEEAERFEH-

2 Paray
2%

BEERNTHAAIERFHRER

R

HHREFE 3%
=FE & 594
4 kg 114
1 FE 7 B 1R 9%
THFE = 9%
EREL 54
B O] BE 5%

REE2024F12831B ILFEEEBE R
MARERARAEEBHIL M ARB R
DENEEERFNFIENAARE
27,660,0007T (20234F : A R #64,411,0007T) °

REE2023F12A31BIEFE A&EE
MAEARTEERSAAEFREF T
g -HAKER B AKRAFETAEM

EEBENEREE

“SERERME

A B £ 8 5 i ,%77%)\&%338 387,0007T

(2024 F : ) WREH BT ALE -

ZEEREEMNRETENFER
21 N FE o
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B 7

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Internet platform 3 years
Customer relationships 510 9 years
Domain name and trademark 11 years
Supplier relationships 9 years
Non-compete agreements 9 years
Information systems 5 years
License 5 years

Additions to information systems during the year ended 31
December 2024 represented the additions to the information
systems used in the automotive business of approximately
RMB27,660,000 (2023: RMB64,411,000), and included into
Comtech segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group used
certain of its information systems as capital injections to its
investees in which the investments are classified as financial
assets at FVTOCI. The carrying amount of these information
systems amounting to approximately RMB338,387,000 (2024:
nil) at the time of transfer and included in disposals in the
movement.

Details of the impairment assessment of such intangible assets
are disclosed in note 21.
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21. & 21. GOODWILL
ARET T
RMB’000
5N COST
72023F1 A18 ~ 2023%F 12 A31H + At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 and
2024F1 A1 H K&2024%F12 A31H 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 607,007
A IMPAIRMENT
R2023F1 HA18 ~ 2023%F 12 A31H + At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
2024F1 A1 H K&2024F 12 A31 H 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —
AR B CARRYING VALUES
R2024%F12 A31H At 31 December 2024 607,007
M2023%F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 607,007
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RBREINRENTE  REBEHEEN
BESEZEAESR R ME(20234F : A{E) &
IR © E 4 B AL R2024F K2023F 12
A3 EHSEZNHEEVUNEENEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the
business combinations was allocated to five (2023: five)
individual cash-generating units of the Group. The carrying
amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

L N allocated to these units are as follows:
BmE
Goodwill
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R R Comtech:
— HEICKEM — Sales of IC and other electronic
BFILEH components 180,674 180,674
— EZRobot Inc. X EffE /A7  — EZ Robot Inc., and its subsidiaries
(IZEEAER]) (“EZ Robot Group”) 155,515 155,515
WER Ingdan:
— Heicolink Holdings Limited — Heicolink Holdings Limited and its
N E B E ([ER subsidiaries (“Heicolink Group”)
=81 121,509 121,509
— New United Holdings — New United Holdings Limited and its
Limited } £ ¥J & 2 7] subsidiaries (“New United Group”)
([New United &£ & ) 105,546 105,546
— Risingnovas Holdings — Risingnovas Holdings Limited and its
Limited X E Hff & A~ &) subsidiary (“Risingnovas Group”)
([Risingnovas &£ & |) 43,763 43,763
607,007 607,007

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024
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21. BE @) 21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

BeELEN - HEICKRHEME
F e

REEELASBMMNIKRE S FEREGE
BEENEET HFEARBEALEEE
BEEMANATFHVBEEENR S RE
78R Wl A R R 53%(20234F ¢
3%) BERAFHMNREAEFARIRS
EABEMMIETEEREI%(20234F : 3%)
HE -ReREFEARAHKAEERT
DRESELEBUBAEMNRBERITEEER
BABKE FANEEERT NMEBHES
EXBUKEEBENRPFHEER -

e m=EME A AT R £14.6% (2023
fF:155%) ¥R -

20244 N 2023F 12 8318 » R & B
BEAE(BEASEEEERBYME
MENFR) MRS EEEMHATIRE £
HeREEAE Bt TERGEER
FEMEEmWSIREREENREEE
(2023%F : &) - AKBEREMRE  £M
WEBKLREMSERNEEDBETS
BYHRWRSELEEMNEDRERL I
REEEBMAA KBS -

Cash-generating unit — Sales of IC and other
electronic components

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2023: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
14.6% (2023: 15.5%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and
2028. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2023: nil). Management of the
Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

21. BE @

REEEEN - BEBBEAEE

RS EAEMH A IRE &5 REF
HEENEET HEARBEAEEE
BEEHAEANAFTFHMBEEENR S RE
78R MM A R KR 53%(20234F ¢
3%) BBERAFHMREAEFEARRS
EXBMMIETEEREI%(20234F : 3%)
FE M RETRARANKAERERT)
NRESELESEUBENRBERITEEER
FERAKIE FHAMBREL TNBEHIRE
EXBULKEEBENRPFHEER -

ReR=EMF AR AT HE £14.1% (2023

F :13.8%) IR -

N 20244F 202312 A31H » R #E £ A
BEFE(DHAEEEEERBILGE
MESGE)MNRESEELEEMHATKRE S
FenrHEERmE At WERGEEE
FEMEmEEREREEMNREEIE
(2023%F : &) - AEEERENEE W
hWEBREKLEREASENEEETE
BN RSELEEMNEDRERD I

ReEEBEUNAIKE -
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21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Cash-generating unit — the EZ Robot Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2028: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
14.1% (2023: 13.8%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and
2028. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2023: nil). Management of the
Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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21. BE @) 21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

ReEAEN — BHNBER

tIREEAEMO A IE &5 IR EF
AEENEETE  HEARBEAEEE
BEHAEANATFHMBEEENR S RE
78R M od A R KR 53%(20234F ¢
3%) BERAFHMREAEFEARRS
EABEMAIETEE R EI%(20234F : 3%)
FE M RETRARANKAERERT)
NRESELESEUBENRBERITEEER
FERAKE FHAMBREL TNBEHIRE
EXBULEEBNRPFHERER -

Hem=MF AR AT £13.1% (2023
F 0 13.2%) IR -

R 20244F 202312 A31H » R & £ A
BEFE(DHRAEEEEERBILGE
MESGE)MNRESEEEMHATKE S
HenrHEERE At WERGEEE
FEMEmK SR EREEMNREEE
(2023%F : &) - AEEERBENEE  £H
WEBRKLEREMASENEE TS
BN RSELEEMNETDRERL I
e EEBEMMATKE S -

Cash-generating unit — the Heicolink Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(20283: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
13.1 (20283: 13.2%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and
2028. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2023: nil). Management of the
Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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21. BE @

3 £ 2 4 B {7 —New United &£ 8

RS EAEMH A IRE &5 REF
HEENEET HEARBEAEEE
BEEHAEANAFTFHMBEEENR S RE
78R MM A R KR 53%(20234F ¢
3%) BBERAFHMREAEFEARRS
EXBMMIETEEREI%(20234F : 3%)
FE M RETRARANKAERERT)
NRESELESEUBENRBERITEEER
FERAKIE FHAMBREL TNBEHIRE
EXBULKEEBENRPFHEER -

ReR=EMF AR AT HE £14.1% (2023

F :13.8%) IR -

N 20244F 202312 A31H » R #E £ A
BEFE(DHAEEEEERBILGE
MESGE)MNRESEELEEMHATKRE S
FenrHEERmE At WERGEEE
FEMEmEEREREEMNREEIE
(2023%F : &) - AEEERENEE W
hWEBREKLEREASENEEETE
BN RSELEEMNEDRERD I

ReEEBEUNAIKE -
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21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Cash-generating unit — the New United Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2028: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
14.1 (2023: 13.8%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and
2028. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2023: nil). Management of the
Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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21. BE @) 21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

¥ & & 4 E (Y —Risingnovas &

tIREEAEMO A IE &5 IR EF
AEENEETE  HEARBEAEEE
BEHAEANATFHMBEEENR S RE
78R M od A R KR 53%(20234F ¢
3%) BERAFHMREAEFEARRS
EABEMAIETEE R EI%(20234F : 3%)
FE M RETRARANKAERERT)
NRESELESEUBENRBERITEEER
FERAKE FHAMBREL TNBEHIRE
EXBULEEBNRPFHERER -

Rem=MF A AT HE £14.1% (2023
F14.7%) PTIR -

R 20244F 202312 A31H » R & £ A
BEFE(DHRAEEEEERBILGE
MESGE)MNRESEEEMHATKE S
e HREE @Al WEE ZE2024
FR2023F12A31B ILFEREZEA B
PHMEEHUBWARERTENREES
B-ASEEREEMRE FWLHERR
REMAGEARESEIeERLR S
EXABNMNEHAEBLNHESELS
Y AT U [B] & 58 o

Cash-generating unit — the Risingnovas Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(20283: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
14.1% (2023: 14.7%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and
2028. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. Management of the Group believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the aggregate carrying amount of this cash-
generating unit to exceed the recoverable amount of this cash-
generating unit.
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22 BAFEFAEMEEKEMN 22, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI
cREE
2024 & 20234
2024 2023
AR® T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEBEAFEGFAEMEE Equity investments designated as
W RAKZE at FVTOCI:
— FETRAES — Unlisted equity securities 787,681 875,491
—FLrTREES — Unlisted equity fund 9,105 9,105
796,786 884,596
BREBMAMENS T : Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—ERBEE — Non-current assets 796,786 884,596

HERENRAFERMEOARE -

K EBRARERENES B R
BRESTMKL IO AEE
TTHIIE E AR AR RE 25 ¢ Mo (i) 3F £ A
THRE -

AEETETAENZEEANES
PRBEREAFNEES - ARAE

Sy
P %
A

mA

B HERAEBEFRELIFFFIEEE - M

EREPERRBEAN - Bt - &
EECEEBRBUERAREEER
FEAAEMZENDZ  RERRK
B TREBEZABRRLEREQFE
HEHHRAKEFEHEREE

NG
/N
F
Fs)
R

B RERERYRBED 2 RETF

REE2024F12 A3THIEFE » A&

LINS

PFEKEEETAR BEREBS
311,577,000 .( — T — = F: AR K
421,189,0007T) * MAIR & A R 100,000,000
T RASEREEDARK211,557,0007T

MEE(ZCE-_=F:KREE D
% 338,387,000 7T & A K # 82,802,000
BYEERFR)XMNRE-

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

AR
TC Y

The fair value of these investments is disclosed in note 6.

The above equity investments represent investments in ()
unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated/
established in Hong Kong, the PRC and the BVI; and (i) unlisted
equity fund.

The Group did not have any right to appoint any directors in the
board of directors of the above-mentioned investees. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, these investments in
equity securities are not held for trading. Instead, they are held
for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company have elected to designate these
equity investments as at FVTOCI as they believe unrecognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit
or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising
their performance potential in the long run.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group invested
in certain companies in the PRC with total investment amount of
RMB311,577,000 (2023: RMB421,189,000) in which the
considerations were settled by cash of RMB100,000,000 and the
Group’s inventories with carrying value of approximately
RMB211,557,000 (2023: intangible assets and inventories with
carrying value of approximately RMB338,387,000 and
RMB82,802,000 respectively.
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23 NE QT NER 23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 5
2024

AR®TR
RMB’000

RIS DA ERK A — FF £ Cost of investments in associates

— unlisted 16,325 16,325
FEEWEER Z2EE - MBRERRE Share of post-acquisition results, net
of dividends received 16,914 10,514
33,239 26,839
2024 F K2023F 12 A31H K&EER At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the
THEE N AR following associates:

EMEE (et iz Bt LRk 15% 15% 15% 15% ICREMEFTRNES
Zim HK (note i) Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary shares Trading of IC and other electronic
components
IngDan Japan Corporation Eai e ZEN L@k 30% 30% 30% 30% AEEBEBICRATERES
(TIngDan Japan )
IngDan Japan Corporation Incorporated  Japan Ordinary shares Trading of IC and AloT products
(“IngDan Japan”) related to Automotive business
B & Note:
0] HRAEREEBEENEENEZEZEEA i) The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Zim HK because it

AIBIMEXEE=ZREETTHN - BEE

has the power to appoint one out of the three directors under the
BEUHEMBEREALES -

provisions stated in the Articles of Association of Zim HK.

HAKEMEsBEABRAEZ EZAR The summarised financial information in respect of the
MEBL NG ENMEENUBER £ associate, namely ZIM HK, which is material to the Group and
QN INIE I s S = H . . 0

FILRH N o Ny
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23. REtE RNV (@) 23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
ENER Zim HK
2024 %
2024
ARET T
RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 801,306 588,699
IEREBEE Non-current assets 199 196
mBAG Current liabilities (627,433) (456,195)
A Revenue 2,647,780 1,796,518
FNREAME 2K ELE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 41,372 34,047
NEZ2MHBERBMEERAZE D The reconciliation of the summarised financial information
AIMEREmMENSEREYOT presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the

associate is set out below:

2024
2024
ARET T
RMB’000
EMEBEBNFEE Net assets of Zim HK 174,072 132,700
KREBREMBENHAEEZ  Proportion of the Group’s ownership
Lt 1 interest in Zim HK 15% 15%
AEBEEGEZEE ARIHNFEE  Group’s share of net assets of
the associate 26,111 19,905
= Goodwill 6,297 6,297

AEBREMBEEN#EZKEME  Carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Zim HK 32,408 26,202
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23. RAEEE N BB R &= (| 23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
N £ B 7 IngDan  Japan (H 4 17 & I 3E (& The financial information and carrying amount of the Group’s
FIBERNARBEDSEAR BB ER interest in IngDan Japan, which is considered as not individually
FEEEmEHIWT : material and accounted for using the equity method, are set out
below:

2024 F
2024

ARETR
RMB’000

AEBREREFNZMN(BE) & Group’s share of profit /(loss) and total
2E (W= AZBE comprehensive income (expense)
for the year 194 672)

REBEBRIFEEAM L QAFREZA  Carrying amount of the Group’s

BREE interest in an immaterial associate 831 637
24 R—BEELENESR 24. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
2024 %
2024
ARET T
RMB’000
R—HEERENRENKR Cost of investment in a joint venture
— L™ — unlisted - 1,000

L EEREE Share of post-acquisition losses - (1,000)
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24. R—HE4&

ErENEDS @

A2024 4 K2023F 12 A31H - A&EE B

T EELEPHEEER

24. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interest in the
following joint venture:

HHR BRI (LE) FX 3L HE
BRAR(WHR LE])
Z7J Intelligent Technology Established ~ The PRC

(Shanghai) Limited *
(“ZZJ Shangha'”)

AEBECRKRAESZHRIEEREE
HHKREK EBHEIER - WIRR L5 0 R
REMRMEFERRFHERNEEM
EEBTEKX-

Mt : SRR ERE T 2024F 12 A31 B 1FF E Hs
-

AEBAR - - -
(B &E)
(Note)

REEBRMEKRE

Contributed capital Provision of Information Technology

integration services

The Group has stopped recognising its share of loss of ZZJ
Shanghai when applying the equity method. Unrecognised
share of ZZJ Shanghai are, for both years and cumulatively
insignificant to the Group.

Note: ZZJ has been deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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25 78

26.

H Z=2024% 12 A31 H IE &€ For the year ended 31 December 2024

25. INVENTORIES
2024 F
2024
AR® T
RMB’000
7 ah Merchandises 3,510,501 4,506,058
R2024F12A31H AEEMNHFEERR As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
BE &K DN AE AR EI2780,0007T inventories were net of allowance for inventories of
(20234 : A R #28,364,0007T ) B 17 & approximately RMB32,780,000 (2023: RMB28,364,000).
i o
REE2024F12A31BIEFE AR During the year ended 31 December 2024, allowance for inventories
4,416,0007T (20234 : A R #2,622,0007T ) of approximately RMB4,416,000 (2023: RMB2,622,000) has

MEERBERBERL T AHEEKRLAA -

i3
i

M

85
tb & U 5K 1R

R EAART IR B IARIE

been recognised and included in cost of sales.

MHE EWEERHE  26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

Receivables at amortised cost

comprise:

— 5 WA — Trade receivables 2,013,405 1,795,527

— BKRER — Bills receivables 41,778 22,196
g5 EWE R EREE Trade and bills receivables 2,055,183 1,817,723

BB SRR SRS Less: loss allowance on trade

receivables (89,307) (115,747)

1,965,876 1,701,976

FEUE F A (7 (@) Loan interest receivables (note (a)) 73,181 28,574
B 5%e RENREAE Trade deposits and prepayments 310,291 168,633
H th & W k8 (BT 7E (b)) Other receivables (note (b)) 21,371 33,050
RNEEFNRE Investment in debenture 10,000 —

2,380,719 1,932,233
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26. EZEWNFRE EREERH

b FE UK R 1E (@)

MR2024F12A31H RKEEFAHME
SREWMGENEREEBELHEARE
2,055,183,0007T (2023412 A31H : A B
#1,817,723,0007T) °

AEBEREFHEESNTEEZEEAHR
FF0E 120K (20235 : 0&E 120K ) o A T
BRHEHBRERIMNE RS RERS
Af(ESENEABRABMAEAE) 27
MESERFREREREER(ENGRES
FEUGGRIEH SIB B E) MIRER D AT

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of trade and bills
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately RMB2,055,183,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB1,817,723,000).

The Group allows credit period ranging from 0 to 120 days
(2023: 0 to 120 days) from the date of billing. The following is
an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of loss
allowance on trade receivables, presented based on the dates
of delivery of goods or rendering services, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period.

2024 20234

2024 2023

AR T AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000

1@ AR Within 1 month 1,839,691 1,595,943
12218 A 1 to 2 months 42,347 71,024
2z 31E A 2 to 3 months 11,751 7,468
HBi@31E A Over 3 months 72,087 27,541
1,965,876 1,701,976

AEBZAERNFENRAAEEEEN
CRAEEIRUKERBREENE
BRE -BZRKFENTRHREEERT
SREBABERNERIEEBAES
Al B B AR R D AT (BB ARE
AE BEHARETENERBLEHENRIR
K& B EIE AT K& FEORAOR 77 A B RE
FHRAE) REXEHRNTFPRERE
HERBRBREESEMH -

R B E20244F K2023F 1231 B ILF &
AER B R AR ERBRRL BN E -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

The Group measures the loss allowance on trade and bills
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on
trade receivables are estimated on an individual basis for
customers with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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26. ESRWAIE -BEWEERHE  26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ftb FE U 5% 18 () (CONTINUED)

REBRBENERTEPHIEMERERXR The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
ERPFERERBERESIEKNFENTE on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers
HEMEEEBEEOT collectively that are not individually significant as follows:

InREFE g
FEHEREE B TH 48 {E EBEEE
Weighted
average Gross

expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AR® T AR® T

% RMB’000 RMB’000

202412831 H As at 31 December 2024
HEAXGEHMEFE  Individual basis for customers

18] 51 2 2 {d 5 with significant balances
BEAEERMEREUY Credit impaired receivables

MIE—ERN — Default 100% 1,263 1,263
REHZERMEREW Not credit-impaired receivables

I — R — Doubtful 75% 64,171 48,128

B G E[E E 2 & 51 Collectively using a provision

matrix
HiZE FEUFIER  Other trade receivables aged:
IR -
— R B Ef — Not yet due 0% 1,777,938 -
— wHI1-60K — Past due 1-60 days 13% 188,453 24,499
— @ BB 60K — Past due over 60 days 66% 23,359 15,417

2,055,183 89,307
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EWRE EREERHA 26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Uk ) (CONTINUED)

e
A
il

A2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023
FE XA HEF %18 Individual basis for customers

Bl B E A AT with significant balances
B EEERERNEN Credit impaired receivables

B — EL — Default 100% 1,263 1,263
REEEERMEMNEUW Not credit-impaired receivables

WIE — R — Doubtful 75% 98,608 73,956
iE FH B B D [ S 2 1 5F Collectively using a provision

matrix

Hih B S EUFKIER  Other trade receivables aged:

BRHR

— AR EE — Not yet due 0% 1,312,364 —

— @ H1-60K — Past due 1-60 days 9% 400,430 37,190

— @ HA B 60 K — Past due over 60 days 66% 5,058 3,338

1,817,723 115,747
B EWRENEREBEEEHEHEI| T - The movement in the loss allowance on trade receivables is set
out below:

72023F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 67,227 24,405 91,632
FAROKD) LM (Decrease) increase during

the year 47,257 (23,142) 24,115
M 2023912 A31H At 31 December 2023 114,484 1,263 115,747

F N Decrease during the year (26,400) — (26,440)

7202412 A 31 H At 31 December 2024 88,040 89,307
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26. ESZRWMFE BWREERHE  26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
ftb FE U 5% 18 () (CONTINUED)
B aE - Notes:
(@) R EREARERERF EMBEMAZ250T - (@) The breakdown of the loan interest receivables at the end of the reporting

period is presented as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ TR ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REBHEE QA Associate of the Group 4,451 3,381
NEBHHLERNT  HEAEAFE Investees of the Group, classified as financial
AR EERENSREE assets at FVTOCI 22,476 8,415
AEENEES Employees of the Group 21,308 16,075
HAt Others 24,946 703
73,181 28,574
BREEHEESBEFERRERFENEIE Details of the measurement of the loss allowance on loan interest
BEFBEEHRM 27 - receivables under the ECL was set out in note 27.

(o) AEBRHESR1I2EABHEERENSSE (o) The Group measures the loss allowance on other receivables at an
FTEEMERKRIENEBEE  R2024F Kk amount equal to 12-month ECL. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
202312 A31A AEBEE R BB HME management of the Group estimates the ECL on other receivables was
WHRENEREEERBETEX - insignificant.
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27. ERERK

27. LOANS RECEIVABLES

2024

2024

ARET T

RMB’000
R E ) At the beginning of the year 709,247 704,002
Zm Addition 183,946 72,399
BERAEK Repayment from borrowers (96,348) (80,128)
TE 5, 38 & Exchange adjustments 9,652 12,974
RER - BT At the end of the year, secured 806,497 709,247

BHEBIERN DT : Analysed for reporting purpose:

— e — Current portion 2,875 424,635
— ERBEH D — Non-current portion 803,622 284,612
806,497 709,247

N2024FF K2023F 12 A31H » Bl B &
REBEVERBANHERANREST
R GFE BHRBREIERAFTEN
BT IR -

BEFRANEN2INRKERNT

The loans receivables are secured, throughout the contractual
loan period, by the borrowers’ cash deposits, inventories, trade
receivables or certain equity interests held by the borrowers as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The loans receivables, presented based on the identity of the
borrower, are as follows:

2024 F
2024

ARETR
RMB’000

AEBRBE QT Associate of the Group 60,742 94,554
KEBRWIRERNT > DA Investees of the Group, classified as financial
BAFEFAEMEEKZE  assets at FVTOC

WEmEE 409,627 277,388
AEEZEE Employees of the Group 117,600 117,600
E A Others 218,528 219,705

806,497 709,247
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27. ERE R @) 27. LOANS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

UTABREREFRNBEMRREAHRK
KREEINBMBZ270FHIBR

The following is a maturity profile of loans receivables, presented
based on their contractual or renewed maturity dates at the end
of the reporting period:

2024 & 20234

2024 2023

AR TR AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

61E AR Within 6 months - 117,600
621218 B 6-12 months 2,875 307,035
i1 F Over 1 year 803,622 284,612
806,497 709,247

REE2024F12A31HILFEE - AR
706,372,000 7T # & K B X (20234 : &)
ERIPERZAEELERIBAT
HZHN—F -

FEWE M A/ E A B RETEFF X
N F3.8%F7% (20234 : FFEE6%ET7%)
AEBRENERFNEDNZRERSBEK
EEFLABENEMERFERMET

R2024F12 A31B M EWE KA A+
BIEARFAERERENERNAREK
117,600,0007T (2023 4F : A & # 117,600,000
TL) AN EEEEREM IR ERE
BAREBEEBHRG °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, loans receivables of
approximately RMB706,372,000 (2023: nil) has been renewed
on or before due date and extend original maturity date for
more than one year.

Loans receivables carried effective interest at fixed rates ranging
from 3.8% to 7% per annum (2023: 6% to 7% per annum).

The interest rate of the loans granted by the Group are
determined at rates to others with similar amount and credit
rating.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at 31
December 2024 is loans to employees of approximately
RMB117,600,000 (2023: RMB117,600,000) given by the
Company for the purpose of enabling the selected employees
to acquire the shares of the Group’s entity from NCI.
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27. EWWE R @)

R B E2024F K2023%12 8318 It F
E - AETRBERLEWERFEH
EAEHEESER  ASEEREE
EEZRBANGCEBELR RZEFH
AR EHRREE UERBEBAKLE
ITEMRKRAS  WEEHEEZ @I
RENERREHLEER WS
TRHEERESEEBEETIHKREAARNS S
BEMEAORE UERESEBARATEY

R E 1R -

EFBEEEREEBRERNSOHER
BAER - M EFEMEL G TTAX

B AR -

R2024 F K 2023512 A31H » REFE
BEGTRERKERREWREZF S TEH
EEBEETHNEEREBEHES VKR

RMELFER -

28. CHFRTERRRERAS

EEY
EEFRITER

EEBIRTFERERBTRITERLSS
R 2024 5
K 2023F12 4318 * fTERITHFERE #®
ANEE G ARG R TER(H =

BERRBRTERERNER -

31) AFELDBESRBEE -

R20245F12 A31 8 » 2 || E 1777 IR
EFRZEANF0.22% E0.35% (2023 £ :

0.25% % 0.35%) 5T & °

RehBTEEY

R2024 4 R2023E12A31H * st AR &
LESEBYANBRITERKRESRTE

JEE-R

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

27.

28.

LOANS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, in
determining the 12-month ECL for the loans receivables and
loan interest receivables, the management of the Group have
taken into account the historical credit loss experience, the
financial position of the counterparties, value of collaterals as
well as the future prospects of the industries in which the
debtors operate, various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information, as appropriate, in estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets individually
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon,
as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the both years in
assessing the loss allowance on loans receivables and loan
interest receivables.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the management of the
Group estimates the loss allowance under the ECL on loans
receivables and loan interest receivables was insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to the
bank to secure banking loans granted to the Group. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, all bank deposits have been
pledged by the Group to secure short-term bank loans (note
31) and were therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carried fixed interest rates ranged
from 0.22% to 0.35% (2023: 0.25% to 0.35%) per annum as at
31 December 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances included in cash and cash equivalents carried
prevailing market interest rate as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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2. EZREMEMNKE

H Z=2024% 12 A31 H IE &€ For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024

2024

AR®T T

RMB’000
=Y AN Trade payables 2,388,410 3,244,183
JEEH B T A A Accrued staff costs 29,473 29,896
Hfh FE A ROE Other payables 57,344 30,845
2,475,227 3,304,924

ATARBEHMRAREZERZEAHZIM
B 5 RENRENRE DT

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2024 F

2024

ARE T

RMB’000
1@ AR Within 1 month 1,891,643 377,855
12 31E A 1 to 3 months 465,111 2,819,350
B iE31E A Over 3 months 31,656 46,978
2,388,410 3,244,183

AEBERNFY(EEH A30X(2023
F:3XR) AEBCEHRMERRE
B UHERAEEMZREREERRRA

REIB ©

The average credit period granted to the Group is 30 days
(2023: 30 days). The Group has financial risk management in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.
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30. ENAE

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2024 £ 2023 4F

2024 2023

AR T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HEICKHMEF st Sales of IC and other electronic components 137,276 98,660
R ELE R A Service revenue from software licensing — 3,040
Uik Current 137,276 101,700

EHNABERRHEEChEME FLsM
R B R R A2 AR A W AT MR B B
Ko HECkHEMEF RN RRMARE
RERBEANBEHEED B ERRA
ICREMEFTRMFRTKRRE ZH

REZE2024F12A31BH IEFERERL
SFAR2024F1A1EMAHBERNK
A4 A AR #101,700,0007 (20234 : A
R #262,551,0007T) ° # £2024 512 A 31
B 1FF E AR B UL A I £ B2 5 2024 4F 1
A1BRIRENRBAOEEER -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

Contract liabilities represents advances received for the sales of
IC and other electronic components and service revenue from
software licensing. The performance obligation of the sales of
IC and other electronic components and service revenue from
software licensing would be satisfied upon the time of the
delivery of IC and other electronic components and completion
of service respectively.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024
that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 January 2024
is approximately RMB101,700,000 (2023: RMB262,551,000).
There was no revenue recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024 that related to performance obligations that
were satisfied prior to 1 January 2024.
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31.

%(*E'&F’E NE A A

31.

BANK LOANS

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements):

—FRI R RENEEIE N5 Within one year and shown under current

liabilities

2024 & 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,885,882 1,597,377

R2024F 12831 EEHEHAR
#5169,700,000 7T (2023 4F : A R #&
142,346,0007T ) K iR 1T B ik — F
HLPRAO M RF B BEEF BIRFE
F ) & A F1. 5%i5 45% (2023 % :
1.5%%£6.6%) 5 &

R2024F 12831 EEEHAR
#179,180,000 7T (2023 F : A R &
74,810,000 7T ) K R 17 B 32 SOFR AN
1.5% (2023 : # SOFR N1 1.5%) H)
FEFE  BERMNEREHFER X
4.5% (20234 : 1% % &) F F| £ 4.3%)

u§r°

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
bank loans of approximately RMB169,700,000 (2023:
RMB142,346,000) carried interest rate of the one-year
LPR with an effective interest at floating rate of ranging
from 1.5% to 5.45% (2023: from 1.5% to 6.6%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
bank loans of approximately RMB179,180,000 (2023:
RMB74,810,000) carried interest rate of SOFR plus 1.5%
(2023: SOFR plus 1.5%) with an effective interest at
floating rate of 4.5% (2023: floating rate of 4.3%) per
annum.
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31. RITER @

€ F2024F12A31H FEAEHAR
#1,537,002,000 7T (20234 : A R #&
1,380,221,0007T) B R 17 E Fg N F
1.21% £7.01% (2023 F : 1.6% &
7A1%) MEE FF R B -

AEERTERNAEEZDAR

31. BANK LOANS (CONTINUED)

(c) As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
bank loan of approximately RMB1,537,002,000 (2023:
RMB1,380,221,000) carried fixed interest rate of ranging
from 1.21% to 7.01% (2023: from 1.6% to 7.11%) per
annum.

The exposure of the Group’s bank loans to interest rate

RN changes is as follows:
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR% T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEMER Fixed-rate borrowings 1,537,002 1,380,221
FRER Variable-rate borrowings 348,880 217,156
1,885,882 1,597,377

HE2024F 128318 It FE K&
E S 4 A R ¥1,880,843,000 7T
(20234 : A R #2,778,686,000 7T )
ZHER - REBE—ME
BES -

AEBRTEROEENEGE
mF :

Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
obtained new loans in the amount of approximately
RMB1,880,843,000 (2023: RMB2,778,686,000). The
proceeds were used for general operating working capital.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s bank
loans are as follows:

2024 & 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR¥ T AREETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

1.60% £7.11%
1.60% to 7.11%
1.560% £ 6.60%
1.50% to 6.60%

1.21% £7.01%
1.21% to 7.01%
1.50% £ 5.45%
1.50% to 5.45%

R2024%F12 831 H  FTARTRED
Bl LA AN & B 49 A R 231,458,000 7T
(20234 : A\ R #287,705,0007T) K1 2
AR 8R 1717 3¢ ] A R 678,796,000 7T
(20234 : AR ¥119,799,0007T) K &
SEWRBIEAER -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

As at 31 December 2024, all banking facilities were
secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits and trade
receivables of approximately RMB231,458,000 (2023:
RMB287,705,000) and RMB78,796,000 (2023:
RMB119,799,000) respectively.
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31. RITER @ 31. BANK LOANS (CONTINUED)
REREHERNBITRESERFERE The amount of banking facilities and the utilisation at the end of
METT ¢ the reporting period are set out as follows:

2024 F
2024
ARET T
RMB’000
MESHE Facility amount
— —FANEM — expiring within one year 3,056,631 5,458,735
EEMA Utilisations
— —5RNEM — expiring within one year 1,885,882 1,597,377
RABARITHE Unused banking facilities 1,170,749 3,861,358

32, IEERIE 32. DEFERRED TAXATION )
UWTAXFERBAFERRANEIZR The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
EHREAEERESHIEN and movements thereon during the current and prior years: /

2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 41,530
FFAEZE (MEE1) Credited to profit or loss (note 11) (7,652)
R2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 33,878
FrAEE(FsE11) Credited to profit or loss (note 11) (7,652)

M2024F12 A31 H At 31 December 2024
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H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

32. EEBIE (@)

2024512 A31H + @7 & R i F) 3R £
SETER - M B AT R AR IEBELA
R #307,166 7T (20234 : A R #241,436,000
T)IBRAELERBEBEE - Fir A8 A
FRIEEEB®EH AR 214,879,000 7T
(20234 : A R #158,913,0007T ) H) & 4
HERARREFANEm - BBt KRB AR
HSE A ER B A -

R2024F 128318 SBPBEKMBERE B
2008F1A1THRBY RERNELEHIES
EONRDPERBENEENERH YR
EZEBBBELH A AR K2231,803,0007T
(20234 : A R#2,099,709,0007T) ° AR
AREBRETFBOYESEZENRRE BZ
EEREZBEAFAURETE N R KR KE
B MR SR EERRECERE
afE o

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of estimated unused tax losses of
approximately RMB307,166 (2023: RMB241,436,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the
estimated unused tax losses was a balance of approximately
RMB214,879,000 (2023: RMB158,913,000) that will be expired
within next five years. Other estimated unused tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of taxable
temporary differences associated with the PRC subsidiaries’
undistributed retained earnings for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised from 1 January 2008 onwards were
approximately RMB2,231,803,000 (2023: RMB2,099,709,000).
No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of
these temporary differences because the Group is in a position
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such temporary differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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33. HttemE & 33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2020 - KR Al B 2 & W B A 7
Alphalink Global Limited ([ Alphalink]) £2
Optimum Profuse Technology (HK) Limited
([Optimum Profuse] * —& W& =77) 5]
S — R E WA - B IL - Optimum Profuse
& = A A R #35,000,0007T K930 & R E 5t
RN REE T AR ) B BR 2~ |l (AT 8 AR
BIERMORID) BR 2 A (RN
B HBNBAERTE - F—REE
(TE—REE]DR2021F1A1B £
R Y B R AD R AR R B %A 75% MR N
ENEERNBAG -BRE—RIFEIN -
Alphalink E212 & & Z] 2 Z 0 )F B e - U
A R #341,900,0007T 8 #8310 & X B #E 1T
EZRFB(NEZRIED - FZRFE
FTERIE - AATRRRYIBI RS ENRES
75% ¥ 58 £65.65% + AMAYE B A
KARKIM B QA -

FE_RITENFBENARARBEHA
202059 A 108 - 202049 A 25 H 2020
F10A16HHAER »

B LM ZEREESE —KTE AR T
MEREERTERE -WELHANEE
EREEEG ASKREEFEERAA
REERERBREERNFIEBHA
B #E - B E2021FE12A31B IEEE - B
—ZREEITL—DEERE REAA
R #150,000,0007T ° % T &% & & 5t bt F
BMELEEE — T EMEREMRR -

- WX ATBERBA -

In 2020, Alphalink Global Limited (“Alphalink”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital contribution
agreement with Optimum Profuse Technology (HK) Limited
(“Optimum  Profuse”), an independent third party in which
Optimum Profuse agreed to contribute for 25% equity interest
in Shenzhen Comtech Limited.* (J7& 3| T Bl Bl i 10 B BR
~A]) (formerly known as Bl T ZFEMORYI)E R A )
(“Shenzhen Comtech”) at a cash consideration of
RMB35,000,000. The first capital contribution (the “First Capital
Contribution”) was effective on 1 January 2021 and Shenzhen
Comtech remained as an indirect subsidiary with 75% equity
interest owned by the Company. In addition to the First Capital
Contribution, Alphalink entered into various capital contribution
agreements with the investors for the second capital
contributions (the “Second Capital Contributions”) at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB341,900,000. Upon the
completion of the Second Capital Contributions, the equity
interest in Shenzhen Comtech held by the Company has been
diluted from 75% to 65.65%, while Shenzhen Comtech
remained as a subsidiary of the Company.

Details of the Second Capital Contributions are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated on 10 September 2020, 25
September 2020 and 16 October 2020.

Pursuant to the Second Capital Contributions from investors as
mentioned above, a redemption right is granted by Company to
each investors. Each investors shall have the right to request
the Company to repurchase all of their equity interests in
Shenzhen Comtech at the redemption price, if any of the
triggering events occurs during the redemption period. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, another investor entered
into a capital contribution agreement at a consideration of
RMB150,000,000. Same redemption right granted to the
investor in respect of this contribution as Second Capital
Contribution.

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.
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Httemedmw

BLOBERATEMNEAFNE(BERIE
TRAHEEAZEREERNDNELQEE
AEVFERR8%) BREREEFERRIF

BREMEEBNEMRSBAGE

BOEBER-—DHEH ETE=AKERE
(EIRN/NETE Y= /N EJ&LKIEE’J%W A EK
H IR 1R # 35 X

BRUEDSREBELRN
K& -

HE204F12A3IBLEFE  EFTRE
EOBAARBTHFEERDRE Hilt - XA
ABERARRIZEENB AR ERE
EFEBECRIDBRAGRKEEEERD
FYNRIBA HLL558% 2 #F((EE]) -

AAFIRBELENEEE ZRELSH
4 B AN R #249,618,0007T © #5 720254
EH FBEEHNRB B AE2025F1H1H 2

At

HE2024F12A31BLEFE - HTEE
FEAQRARBTEMESHAEBOAR
#5384,555,000 7T 5] 3 1 78 h ek + R UL - i
EA2026¢6H30E|Eﬁ?“i&ﬂﬁ%?’*%ﬁ-

B EEAERERARABEEEER

YR8 ) P B AHE o
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33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The redemption price was the principal amount plus accrued
interest, being 8% per annum calculated from the date of the
completion of each capital contribution to the date of receipt of
the redemption price from each Investors, less any cash income
received by each Investor as the shareholders of Shenzhen
Comtech.

The redemption right constituted a contract that contains an
obligation for the Group to repurchase the equity instruments of
the subsidiaries of the Company gives rise to a redeemable
financial liability recognised and subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain investors
had notified the Company of the exercise of the redemption
right. As a result, the Company through Kugouwang,
Ecommerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited* (& & 48 & F 5 7%
(FIN AR A7), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
would repurchase from the investors (the “Redemption”) an
aggregate of approximately 5.58% interest in Shenzhen
Comtech. The amount payable by the Company to these
investors pursuant to the redemption in aggregate amounts of
approximately RMB249,618,000, will be settled in 2025. Details
are set out in announcement dated 1 January 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, supplementary
agreements have been signed between certain investors and
the Company for the remaining other financial liabilities of
approximately RMB384,555,000, in which shall the investors
have the right to request the Company to repurchase all of their
equity interests in Shenzhen Comtech if any of the triggering
events occurs before 30 June 2026.
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33. HittEmE & @ 33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
EmemaEgsinmT The movement of other financial liabilities is as follows:

2024 & 20234

2024 2023

AR T AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000

R E ) At the beginning of the year 610,699 571,347

HEtEmeEF B8 (MFE10)  Interest on other financial liabilities (note 10) 39,352 39,352

2T F B Interest paid (15,878) —

RER At the end of the year 634,173 610,699
AWMEBNMENSIT: Analyzed for reporting purpose:

— mEhE o — Current portion 249,618 —

— SEREEH S — Non-current portion 384,555 610,699

634,173 610,699
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34. B 34. SHARE CAPITAL
LIRS E RERE B
KR#HEE K] ESELARTRS
Shown in the
Amountin  consolidated
Number of original financial
shares currency statements
ET ARET T
USs$ RMB’000
}%0.0000001 2 7cH)  Ordinary shares of US$0.0000001
LR each
ETE - Authorised:
R2023F1H18 - At 1 January 2023,
202812 A31B & 31 December 2023 and i A
202412 A31H 31 December 2024 500,000,000,000 50,000 N/A
BEITRAR : Issued and fully paid:
R2023F1H18 - At 1 January 2023,
202312 A31 8 & 31 December 2023 and
202412 A31H 31 December 2024 1,394,262,732 139 1

B RE -

[0) H E20244F & 20234F 12 A31 B IF £ [ 1 £
0 A& 13 LA R 5T 8K o

(ii) H E20244F K2023F 12 A31 B L F & - &
B PR B R DI FE AR GRS EN
5

(iii E =20249F12A318 It F E 1,060,000 &
(2023 : 2,285,0001E) bR #ll ik 17 B 5 & T
S A R#HAR®A1,606,0007T (& =20234F
12A31BIEFE : AR¥1,842,0007T) 57 A5t
SRR ECETEFEHRS -

BTIROEZRERDEMTEZFEA

NEFREATE BEERXRBIBRMEML
BEEZERTEaARLE(RMESE) -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

Notes:

(i) There were no shares repurchased for cancellation during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

(ii) No shares were repurchased through the Stock Exchange and deposited
under RSU Scheme trustee during the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

(iii) For the year ended 31 December 2024, 1,060,000 (2023: 2,285,000) units
of RSUs were vested to the beneficiaries, and approximately
RMB1,696,000 (year ended 31 December 2023: RMB1,842,000) were
credited to the shares held for the RSU Scheme.

The remaining shares are held on trust by the RSU Scheme
trustee until their release to the beneficiaries upon the vesting of
the RSUs (see note 37(a)).
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35. B A RS
BREBLIXRS

(a)

fRA MR E A #B o P I

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Transactions with related parties

Save

as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

BEN AEEEBEE T REANG statements, the Group entered into the following
TR S transactions with related parties during the year as
follows:
220 s REME 2024 FF 20234
Related party Nature of transaction 2024 2023
ARETR ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Envision (China) Group (i sFi &ii) ARNEF HEEE - 22,828
Envision (China) Group (notes i &ii) Additions to right-of-use assets
HE % 12,911 12,056
Rental payment
HEBEMNE 883 1,582
Interest on lease liabilities
ENYMEERE 1,552 1,524
Property management fee paid
ENEEHEeRX 1,218 12,445
Short-term rental expenses paid
ENMEEFRLA KEHE AR R ERAEKA 5,320 7,191

Zim Hong Kong Limited

Loan interest — income
from associate

o

RERAEEE HEMNK

R2019F 12 A23H + & A 7] £ Envision
(China) Group (FRERSEEHA) 5T LM%
THE KB ERBIEZE % ([20191E £ 15
1) #EIt  Envision (China) Groupi &
BERAEHRZENHRERAMANEERME
MERERREEERS -

R B £2023512A8318 Ik F & ®B
20191E B Z Bl i 6 A& ® &
Envision (China) Group ] 32 % — 3 ¥ %1
ERERARRBER HE - A5 E R
Envision (China) Group H) #8 B8 72 & 13 3% 35
HERRERET HAEHNTF2E6F
(20244 : 2ZE6%F) WHERAEAEELE
EEEHHEE & ELH AR 22828000
7T (2024 4F : #&) - jA2024F 12 A31H -
£8 Envision (China) Group 8 7l & E 4 K &
AEEERFEABRNEREELES L
A AR #10,496,0007T (20234 : A R#
21,731,0007T ) & A K # 11,005,000 7T
(20234 : AR #22,150,0007T) ©

Notes:

0

Additions to right-of-use assets/rental payment

On 23 December 2019, the Company entered into the property
leasing and complementary services framework agreement (the “2019
Framework Agreement”) with Envision (China) Group which was
owned by Mr. Kang. Envision (China) Group provides property
leasing and complementary management services to the Group
during the lease terms under each individual lease agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into
another property leasing and complementary services framework
agreement with Envision (China) Group after the 2019 Framework
Agreement expired. The relevant lease agreements with Envision
(China) Group represents the lease of offices and buildings with
lease period ranged from 2 to 6 years (2024: 2 to 6 years) and
recognised right-to-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities
of approximately RMB22,828,000 (2024: nil). As at 31 December
2024, the aggregate carrying amount of the right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities arising from leases with Envision (China) Group
were approximately RMB10,496,000 (2023: RMB21,731,000) and
RMB11,005,000 (2023: RMB22,150,000) respectively.

F3R 2024 WEAIH
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35. BEE TR B @

(@ EHBEBEAERS (#E

BiaE - (B8
(i) ENYMEERE

BIEEXHFOTEEOIELR G H
Envision (China) Group £ 7 % & 51| 18 & #
FNHEHNAAEEBREREE R
AR 75 -

REE2024F12A31ALFE A&
BEEXNVEEBEERENARE
1,552,0007C (2023 4F : A R # 1,524,000
7o) e

(b) BEHS 2B MER
BERE M B RE D EMES BB

EH REBEEBEE D ZHALER
b B R AR o
) FEEEEKEHRMH

FR ARAEERTEZEEEH

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) Property management fee paid

Under the Framework Agreement as disclosed in note () above,

Envision (China) Group has provided complementary management

services to the Group during the lease terms under each individual

lease agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has made
property management fee payment of approximately

RMB1,552,000 (2023: RMB1,524,000).

(b) Balances with related parties
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no other material balances
with related parties.

(c) Compensation of key management

personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other

MR BB T : members of key management personnel during the year
was as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR®B T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRR R Short-term benefits 10,754 8,299
RKAE Post-employment benefits 508 376
VAR 1 B E B B 1 3K Share-based payment 184 2,723
11,446 11,398

ARBEFEREBRITHA B R F M
HFMHEZEeRBEEARALTS
BEEE -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and

market trends.
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36.

37.

iR ¢k 48 7 5 2

REBAMBCERBEERER LB
S8l - ZEHEMNBEERAEBMNEE
PHEBEE THETANEESAE A&
EiZ M T E K ARRI5% (20284 : 5%) A
BMMEETEMERHE 8 A LR A1,500
7 70 (20234 11,5008 70) © B B B9
LR INAE c ZATESIMHKEAEFE -

REBEFBERZEZRORE  HEMERA
BREEEARFEH -—ELORMAEE
BEHBREREARTEHSK -BRER
MEKRFEBEXNAERKREINE
MEAREER  REBREERIKGT
g AREEFEHFUINEREARS
HERNRRENTERBEE - TR - %
B H KA RS -

LRGN HR S

R TF W RZ RS R ADEAEE

XREIBDELAEEERBHAKTEE
EhEEMNBHRKRI - REZRHIKMN
B8 5t &I P AR TE RO R SRR IR 4D BB AU
BRENEOBERKWRARRRD - &X
REBNDEMBETFHEEARTERED
RIEFAAD EVRER o 2K =] F2 BE 52 P i [
MR B X RBID EMFTEXFEAR
AERAE  EERIR G D ELFERR

T8 ABIT o

36.

37.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes 5% (2023: 5%) of relevant
payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per
month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees. Contributions to the plan vested
immediately.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries
in the PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed
retirement plan for all its employees at a certain percentage of
the basic salaries of its employees. The state-managed
retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to all retired employees. Under the state-managed
retirement plan, the Group has no further obligations for the
actual pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. Contributions to the plan vested
immediately.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

RSU scheme of the Company

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to reward the fidelity and
performance of the directors and employees of the Group. The
RSUs are the rights to receive Company’s shares when they
vest pursuant to the conditions provided for under the RSU
Scheme. Each RSU gives the holder a right to receive a share
at the end of respective vesting period. The shares repurchased
by the Company on the Stock Exchange were held on trust by
the RSU Scheme trustee until their release to the beneficiaries
upon vesting of the RSUs.
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37. UBRBZAHRSZ @ 37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
RN T K 32 PR 6l iR 49 B8 {51 & () RSU scheme of the Company (Continued)
@ BT R G RAD B8R RAR T (@) Details of the terms and conditions of the grant of RSUs
B are as follows:

F{E B &R THX R RSUs granted to employees:

Bt B
— R2019F9A3H — on 3 September 2019 14,000,000 1.24 17,360 B ()
Note (i)
— 720207 A16H — on 16 July 2020 7,680,000 1.09 8,371 B2 ()
Note (i)
— R2022F 4 F20H — on 20 April 2022 3,900,000 1.60 6,240 B ()
Note (i)
=RE:Siokd ) Total RSUs granted
BRAEHR 25,580,000
B & Note:
[0) BETHXRGIRMD BB R i) The RSUs granted have a vesting period of three years in twelve
=F EEREBHES12AFEESRE quarterly equal installments from the grant date.

BE -
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37. UM TN Z @) 37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
AR PDE) Y Z R H AR 0 B FH 8 () RSU scheme of the Company (Continued)
b)) FARHIBREBRHOEM2EZH) (o)  The movement of the grant of RSUs during the year is as
W follows:
TRERBENLHE
Number of RSUs
2024 £ 2023
2024 2023
R1B1EAEE Outstanding as at 1 January 1,265,000 4,270,000
FRNHB Vested during the year (1,060,000) (2,285,000)
FRZ U Forfeited during the year - (720,000)
M12A31BAGEE Outstanding as at 31 December 205,000 1,265,000
RREZEEUROAEROHER Equity-settled share-based compensation expenses of
4 AR %1,141,000 7T (20234 © A approximately RMB1,141,000 (2023: RMB2,944,000)
R #2,944,0007T ) 1A & 22024 F 12 were recognised as staff costs in profit or loss for the year
AR ILFENEPHEARET ended 31 December 2024 and the remaining balance is
RA - MeprEEsErERBER to be recognised in the future based on the respective
H&MER - vesting periods.
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8. R—BNBLARANERTERER

Y & B

» B =2024%F 128318 It F E - Gold
Tech Holdings Limited (A& A 7] 2 JE & & Y
BARBEEMEREESR AR HED R
T—MEEWHE A ARE19,293,000
TR e KR E R H E U B Comtech
Photoelectric Holdings Limited % #h #)40%
B #E o 3% B W BB 1R 2024 F 5 20 H A &K
R 58 B & R Comtech Photoelectric
Holdings Limited 2 A% # B60% % & &
100% °» Comtech Photoelectric Holdings
Limited X KB ARTMEZEBK ABICHH
FERAREFEFMDE -

TR ZEKEIETERERD 2 HHRE
X 5 - 34 R {8 E Comtech Photoelectric
Holdings Limited 2 B A G FEERE
ENHEBENMEZHANEZEENOARE
14,423,000 7L A E i FE 5 30 Bk ©

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2024

38. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A

SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Gold Tech Holdings
Limited, a non wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Apex Will
Investment Limited (“APEX”) to acquire additional 40% equity
interest Comtech Photoelectric Holdings Limited from APEX at
a cash consideration of approximately RMB19,293,000. The
acquisition was effective on 20 May 2024 and the equity
interest in Comtech Photoelectric Holdings Limited has been
changed from 60% to 100% upon the completion. The principal
activities of Comtech Photoelectric Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries are application design and distribution of IC chips.

The above-mentioned transaction constituted an equity
transaction with non-controlling interest and the difference
between the cash consideration and the relevant share of the
carrying amount of the net assets of Comtech Photoelectric
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries of approximately
RMB14,423,000 was debited to other reserve.
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39.

METHMELERENER

TERHFAAEERERHELNEEER
B ERRAENMIRGED BETPE
EHNEBERESREIRKRRESTER
RAEEGAHRERERTOBERBE
APRERENAG-

H £ 2024F12 A31 B 1L % E For the year ended 31 December 2024

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

PE A BB & Hti&m

HEAE FE b =R 5t
Accrued Other
Lease interest financial

liabilities payable  Bank loans liabilities Total
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR%¥TR AR¥TR AR¥T=x

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Pt 18) (Bi# £29) (B =E31) (Bt £ 33)

(note 18) (note 29) (note 31) (note 33)

R2024F1 A1H At 1 January 2024 31,743 - 1,597,377 610,699 2,239,819
MERSRE Financing cash flows:

— 1 — Additions - 1,880,843 - 1,880,843

—B¥% — Repayment (20,908) (83,208) (1,611,783) (15,878) (1,731,777)
FReEEH - Non-cash changes:

— B A8 — Accrued interest 1,264 83,208 - 39,352 123,824

— T E — New leases

arrangement 4,855 - - - 4,855

— ERAE — Exchange adjustment - 19,445 - 19,445

2024912 A31H At 31 December 2024 16,954 - 1,885,882 634,173 2,537,009
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3. MEFTHMELEEN 39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
¥R (#) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

720231 H1H At 1 January 2023 30,531 - 888,116 571,347 1,489,994
BERSTE Financing cash flows:
— 1&m —Additions - - 2,778,686 - 2,778,686
—EBX —Repayment (24,102 (65,787) (2,063,018) — (2,152,907)
FRGEY Non-cash changes:
— [t FA —Accrued interest 2,486 65,787 - 39,352 107,625
— FEHEERH —New leases
arrangement 22,828 — — — 22,828
—EXRE —Exchange adjustment - - (6,407) - (6,407)

2023412 A31H At 31 December 2023 31,743 - 1,697,377 610,699 2,239,819
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40. FEFBHEXRH

23

(a

(b)

RAMBBRREMIEIREEN £
REX5HNMT

MEEER

REE2024F12A31H IEFE » K
EBEREFII LT REERM
RRERNEREEERTEEARE
BH AN R ¥ 4,855,000 (20234 © A
R #22.828,0007T) °

MBEBREBETWEER A FEFTAEM
EHEBENETEREELETES -

REE2024F12A31BILFE - K
SERFPREEE TR UAE
EREEEENH AREK211,557,0007C
MIFE (20234 : (REEED N A
A R #338,387,000t & A R ¥
82,802,000t EFEERTFTE)E
ERE-

H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Except for disclosed in other sections of the consolidated
financial statement, the major non-cash transactions are set out
below:

(@) New lease arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into new arrangements in respect of buildings.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB4,855,000 (2023: RMB22,828,000) were recognised
at the commencement of the leases.

(b) Capital injections on certain financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income through intangible
assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
invested in certain companies in the PRC in which the
considerations were settled by the Group’s inventories
with carrying value of approximately RMB211,557,000
(2023: intangible assets and inventories with carrying
value of approximately RMB338,387,000 and
RMB82,802,000 respectively).
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M. EEXRATHBERARPVER 41.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
Mo 5E AR T AR T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
IERENEE Non-current asset
R B R ARIEE Investments in subsidiaries 204,979 204,979
mENEE Current assets
Be BAREREM Deposits, prepayments and
JE W 5k 18 other receivables 173,185 169,554
JE UGB B A Bl FRIA Amounts due from subsidiaries (@) 1,888,052 1,854,923
HBeMREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 890 3,677
2,062,127 2,028,154
mEAEE Current liabilities
oAt JE 5B Other payables 22,125 13,109
JE R IR Tax payables 3,606 3,553
25,731 16,662
REEE(BE) F8E Net current assets (liabilities) 2,036,396 2,011,492
BEFRE Net assets 2,241,375 2,216,471
BARNMGEE Capital and reserves
&% Share capital 34 1 1
1 Reserves (b) 2,241,374 2,216,470
1 = Total equity 2,241,375 2,216,471
B & - Notes:
(@) ERMEBARRIEAEER £ 8 RAKREX (@) The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
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M. EEARRTHERREKHB
—=10 )

M (8%

) HBEED

EH ZE2024% 12 A31 H ILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

41. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Movement in reserves

HZ204F12ANALEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
R 5
ERNAEE
ROEE EXREE ®E HitRE ERRG ELRE R ER

Share-based
Share Capital compensation Other  Treasury Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve shares reserve losses Total
ARBTT ARBTR AR®Tn AR%Trn ARETR ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥TZR
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

R2024%1A18 At 1 January 2024 2,023,351 18,923 28,034 186,196 (37,818) 286,456 (288,672) 2,216,470
FREE Loss for the year - - - - - - (5,067) (5,067)
EREM2EYPA  Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - 28,830 - 28,830

FERZEUWA(FE)  Total comprehensive income

a5 (expense) for the year - - - - - 28,830 (5,067) 23,763
REZRHBHER  Issue of shares under the

ERTRG RSU Scheme (note 37)

(Hi237) - - (1,696) - 1,696 - - -
REREENRNA  Equity-settled share-based

ERMHE compensation expenses

B (I 3£37(0)) (note 37(b)) - - 1,141 - - - - 1,141
R2024%12 A31H At 31 December 2024 2,023,351 18,923 27,479 186,196 (36,122) 315,286 (293,739) 2,241,374
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M. EEERQX T BEARRTERD 41. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
—=10 ) OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
B E - (48) Notes: (Continued)
(0) HEEE(E) (b) Movement in reserves (Continued)

202351818 At 1 January 2023 2,073,753 18,923 26,932 186,196 (39,660) 258,966 (276,093) 2,249,017
FABE Loss for the year - - - - - - (12,579) (12,579)
FREMEERA  Other comprehensive

income for the year: — — — — — 27,490 — 27,490

ER2EMA(HZ) Total comprehensive income

i (expense) for the year - - - - - 27,490 (12579 14911
A Dividends (50,402) - - - - - - (50402
REZB AR EL Issue of shares under the

BE BT RSU Scheme (note 37)

(H5E37) - - (1,842) - 1,842 - - -

REZHEEURN A Equity-settled share-based
EWMBERY compensation expenses
(W E£37(b)) (note 37(b)) -

2,084 - - - 2,084

K2023%512 4318 At 31 December 2023 2,023,351 18,923 28,034 186,196 (37,818) 286,456 (288,672) 2,216,470
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2. AAREENBLRANFR

TERANDBRARREER /Y AEE
XEHEENABRRIERENASE
MEBAR - ARAREFRARBEMMNER
AMEBEMIIL  ESAMBRITE -

H Z=2024% 12 A31 H IE &€ For the year ended 31 December 2024

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The below table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

BEEHERAA i B3l 2,000,0007% 7 - - 70% 70% BREMNEML  R4AREH
(RIERBEFERAA]) REMHE
Ingdan Broadband Corporation Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 Development and sales of
Limited (formerly known hardware, software, and
as “Comtech Broadband services for intelligent products
Corporation Limited”)
HEsF(FE)BRAA B £y 10,0007 7 - —  66.83%  66.83% S MRS HRE
Comtech Digital Technology Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Application design and distribution
(Hong Kong) Limited of chips
RBHFRE(RINEERE T8 TEER 300,000% 7T - - 6683%  6683% LAEAREAS RS
Comtech Digital Technology PRC Contributed US$300,000 Application design and distribution
(Shenzhen) Limited* capital of chips
RINEE e TEEK 20217 : - —  66.83% 66.83% GHEAXFAMDERS
AR #5,827,6807C
(2019% :
500,000% 7T
Shenzhen Comtech PRC Contributed ~ 2021: RMB5,827,680 Application design and distribution
capital (2019: US$500,000) of chips
REER(FE)BRAT e i@ 1,000,0007% 7T - - 6683%  6683% OFEARANSERS
Comtech International (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 Application design and distribution
Limited of chips
Ingdan Limited At LA 1T - - 100% 100% #EZRR
(R178 [ Cogobuy Limited |)
Ingdan Limited (formerly known as  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Investment holding

“Cogobuy Limited”)
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42, AR ETENRBE QTN 42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
15 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

EREBEFHHRINERAR SE TEEK 1,200,000 7T - - 100% 100% EEEMOEMS  DHANRED
((EEEETEHD REMHE

Kugouwang Ecommerce Services  PRC Contributed HK$1,200,000 Development and sales of
(Shenzhen) Limited* capital hardware, software, and
(“Kugouwang Ecommerce”) services for intelligent products

BB TR 880 CRYND e TEEXR 300,000% 7T - —  66.83%  66.83% LA EARAMAERE
BRAR

Comtech Information Technology ~ PRC Contributed US$300,000 Application design and distribution
(Shenzhen) Limited capital of chips

BEERAF EE 3! 1B - - 100% 100% EEEMOEMS  DHARED

HEMHEE
INGDAN.com Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 Development and sales of

hardware, software, and
services for intelligent products

BEME(FE)BERDA B i3l 100,000% 7 - - 100% 100% BEEROES  LHEANRED
RBEMHE
Ingdan Technology (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary US$100,000 Development and sales of
Limited hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

BEME(RINERRA hE TEEAR 1,500,000% 7T - - 100% 100% EEEROEMN  KHARBED
(TEZERY) REMNHEE

INGDAN.com (Shenzhen) Limited*  PRC Contributed US$1,500,000 Development and sales of
(“Ingdan Shenzhen”) capital hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

RITRSERRERMERLE +E AEER 200,000,000 7T - - 100% 100% B EMMBEN  BHMBRBH
A(AEAERBERBE RENHE
i (RYDERAR])

Shenzhen Qianhai Ingdan Limited ~ PRC Contributed HK$200,000,000 Development and sales of
(formerly known as “Qianhai capital hardware, software, and
Cogobuy.com (Shenzhen) services for intelligent products
Limited”)

Heicolink Holdings Limited EBEZEE LR 50,000 1 53% 53% - - RERR

Heicolink Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Investment holding
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42, ZARNTEETENRBEQEHN 42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
# 15 0 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

BRBNE (EE)BRAF EE el 10,0007 7T - - 53% 53% BHACTE M@ B4 B Rk
BORENHEE
Heicolink Technology (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Development and sales of
Limited proprietary AloT products,

hardware, software and services

THMBERAF Ek @ 1T - - 100% 100% REBRMEM;EES RS

Cogobuy Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Provision of supply chain financing
services in Hong Kong \

BIZ B (BB)BRAR BE il 5,000,000% 70 - - 100% 100% EeEMOEMS  SHENRLEDH \
FEMEE

Risingnovas (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary US$5,000,000 Development and sales of
hardware, software, and /
services for intelligent products /

BEEEERARA EBRXEE L@ 50000%7T  100% 100% - - REBRR

(RIS ER])
Ingdan Group, Inc. (formerly known  BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Investment holding

as “Cogobuy Group, Inc.”)

HEBLAEFERAA EE @ 100,0007% 7 - —  6683% 66.83% GHEAXFNDERE

Cogobuy Broadband Corporation  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 Application design and distribution
Limited of chips

RNHRMEARMERRT  PE EEER AR#1,000,0007T - - 6683% 6683% OAEARINSERS

Shenzhen FOXSAAS Software PRC Contributed RMB1,000,000 Application design and distribution
Technology Limited capital of chips

LEBaRERTBRAR FE TEEK AR #3,000,0007 - - 100% 100% BEEEMNEN  BHEMRBH

REMHE

Shanghai Bodi Communication PRC Contributed RMB3,000,000 Development and sales of

Technology Limited* capital hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

HENERTERAR BB i3l 3,500,0007% 7T - - 51% 51% BHERNEI  RHEARHH
HEMHEE
Cogolink Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,500,000 Development and sales of

hardware, software, and
services for intelligent products
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42, AR ETENRBE QTN 42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
# 15 0 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

AT HEBERTERAT  +E FEEBAX  ARM50,000,0007T - - 100% 100% B EEMMBEN  BHMRBN
REMHE
Shenzhen Xeno Communication PRC Contributed RMB50,000,000 Development and sales of
Technology Company Limited capital hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

RamBEf (R BERRE  SE TEEKX  ARW10,000,0007T - - 51% 51% BREMOBEME BHMRBH
HEMHE
Cogolink Technology (Shenzhen) ~ PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 Development and sales of
Limited capital hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

MATARTCER)BERRE  HE TEEK AR #2,004,8007C - —  66.83% 6683% LHEARFAMAERY
Comtech Xintron Technology (Beijing) PRC Contributed RMB2,004,800 Application design and distribution
Limited* capital of chips
FINTEE (M) e TEER AR ¥1,000,0007 - - 100% 100% & 8E MM AR
RAEMEE
Shenzhen Kegoubai (note (c)) PRC Contributed RMB1,000,000 Development and sales of
capital hardware, software, and

services for intelligent products

RBIZER(RIDERAR  +E FEEA  ARY%10,000,0007T - —  66.83% 6683% GHERXFNDERE
Comtech Industrial Smart (Shenzhen) PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 Application design and distribution
Limited Capital of chips

3 EX A TEEEH b The English name is for identification purpose only
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42. AATIFTEHMEQITW
EXRC )

B o -

@ FHAERTERIAERERNEETRAR
A

N
ERE/NGIID

b AREAZEWBARERMEEFHBEAS
BzEBAZRYUBEE RKIGLZ LRI —
ZINaNRFE(ENLH]) REBBETH
TEeH :

= HRIABETRAERNTE R EEE
4

= FTEERIYI AT AR B A g ARCR RORME

= AERBREER R MR & AR
% ERESRIITBEELENBAD
0 AR B M) 5 e B SR RAE

= EEmkeatBERYIAIEE 2K
AEDNBREN: &

= B #1822 T EUS BRI 8 B 2 AR AR
MR (ER BRI L ORI AT EE
BEOTAHZFAETHAEEETNNEE
am e

R BERARERABEEEREEMNE
B AR REET A E(ICPHFAE]) - RIE
FEERZERRER IEREERILERFE
ICPEFRAIF - AR EHNTH AEEEEES
BRI AT B EESMESAREE®K T HLE
NTEEE RN EENE N EZERR -
B I 7 52 B 4 45 5 39 R 1| AT B A AR A o
At RN ATEEERAAEENHERR -
AR YI o] i B &) B 75 3R 3k 5 2013F2 A1 8 (B
BRATHEESRAE) BT ARNEB RSB
WK o

H £2024F 12 A31H |FF E For the year ended 31 December 2024

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) The nature of all the legal entities established in the PRC is limited liability
company.

(b) Kugouwang Ecommerce, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,

entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with Shenzhen Kegoubai, wholly-owned by the Group,
and Ms. Yao Yi which enable Kugouwang Ecommerce to:

— exercise effective financial and operational control over Shenzhen
Kegoubai;

— exercise equity shareholders’ voting rights of Shenzhen Kegoubai;

— receive substantially all of the economic interest and returns
generated by Shenzhen Kegou bai in consideration for the
business support, technical and consulting services provided by
Kugouwang Ecommerce, at Kugouwang Ecommerce’s discretion;

= obtain an exclusive right to purchase the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Kegoubai from Ms. Yao Yi; and

— obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Shenzhen
Kegoubai from Ms. Yao VYi as collateral security to guarantee
performance of all of the obligations of Ms. Yao Yi and Shenzhen
Kegoubai under the Contractual Arrangements.

Shenzhen Kegoubai holds an internet content provider licence (the “ICP
licence”) issued by the Guangdong Communications Administration. Due
to applicable law and regulations of the PRC, foreign investors are
prohibited from holding an ICP licence. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with Shenzhen Kegoubai, has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over Shenzhen Kegoubai, and is considered to
have control over Shenzhen Kegoubai. Consequently, Shenzhen Kegoubai
is considered to be a subsidiary of the Group and the financial statements
of Shenzhen Kegoubai are included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements from 1 February 2013, the effective date of the Contractual
Arrangements.

FIR 2024 WEAIH

265



e MR MR (R)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
H £2024F 12 A31 H 1L E For the year ended 31 December 2024

42. AATFTEHMEITW
EXEC )

BeE : ()

© (&

Am - FEERRERAF R AKRNRERE
REETHERR ST EARELHRY
AEBITERENENED  HESRITER
EEMBRABOLBENROEN AREBER
NABENHBEEEHEASBEANE
WERMEN - ARFMEE  BEARFFEE
REMNZERER ANRFREERZNRIR
ATHT UEERTEREHEERER -

RBEHEAR AAREEMHAEEM S I
FBEANMBAR - REZEZEWB AR
EREERREGELE - TXARELTDER
MBUEREBHEE -ZEWB LB ERT
PUNNE

ETEEEK

Principal activities

42.

EEAR AR S SR R, B B

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CON

TINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(©

Place of incorporation or
registration / operations

(Continued)

However, there are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of existing and future PRC laws and regulations which could
affect the Company’s ability to exercise control over Shenzhen Kegoubai,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic interest generated by
Shenzhen Kegoubai, and its ability to consolidate the financial results of
Shenzhen Kegoubai into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company believes that, based on the legal opinion obtained from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, the Contractual Arrangements are legally
binding and enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A majority of these subsidiaries engage
in investment holding and inactive. The aggregation shown below based
on the geographical location and nature of business. A summary of these
subsidiaries are set out as follows:

Fi AR 2 E

Number of subsidiaries

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR HERS Cayman Islands 2 2
Investment holding REBREIHS BVI 15 13
B PRC — _
B Hong Kong 1 1
HmE K il PRC 5 11
Inactive BB Hong Kong 7 11
EAWIlIES ] Singapore 1 1
PN=E]l Israel = 1
31 40

7 R 18 4 & 2R s R 4F S R R B R B None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

BARMERTEMNREENERES -
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outstanding at the end of both years or at any time during both

years.
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42, AT ETEMBLIATN
18 @)

BEUAEEMSTBEANIFFERER
H Y B R R REIE

H Z=2024% 12 A31 H IE &€ For the year ended 31 December 2024

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Details of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group:

2024 2024
2024 2024
AR¥E TR AR¥ TR
RMB’000 RMB’000
RYIRHE H 33.2% 33.2% 70,208 67,093 406,768 384,413
Shenzhen Comtech PRC :
\
AEBHEEAFEREZNHE QT The summarised financial information in respect of each of the )
SMBARASESENTHENBRESH Group’s subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material .
FINT - AT BERMERNERR non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised s/

ARIEEHATN R

RYIBEEE

financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

Shenzhen Comtech Group

12024 F

12A31H

As at

31 December

2024

ARET T

RMB’000
mENEE Current assets 6,604,754 7,141,990
EMEEE Non-current assets 145,762 139,729
mEEaE Current liabilities (5,525,307) (6,123,826)
ANTHEB AEEREZ  Equity attributable to owners of the Company 818,441 773,480
FEIE R = Non-controlling interests 406,768 384,413
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42. KRB FEME LA TH 42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
15 @ SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
FEYIRHEEE (@) Shenzhen Comtech Group (Continued)
HZE12A31BLEE
For the year ended
31 December
2024 5 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 9,568,549 7,838,952
3 Expenses (9,357,054) (7,636,842)
F W% F Profit for the year 211,495 202,110

NARER AEIESEF R EE Profit and total comprehensive income

Woas 458 attributable to the owners of the Company 141,287 135,017
SEIE AR E RS E(E B A 2™ Profit and total comprehensive income
W 5 48 ZE attributable to the non-controlling interests 70,208 67,093
FREF R 2 ER SRR Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year 211,495 202,110
KB EBRIA SR AFE Net cash inflows from operating activities 2,175,597 2,323,896
WEEBMIR ML FE Net cash outflows from investing activities (3,483,259) (2,485,493)
BEESNIE SR L FEE Net cash outflows from financing activities 1,251,414 (227,117)
Be (R RAFE Net cash (outflows) inflows (56,247) (388,714)

43. FEHREE

R2025F2A7H ' A AR E—BAREA
FAIVRERE Bt REBAEEBIEER
EREMARGEBKREREZETRE
BRERD RBEBEATRABERM1.30
75 7T © #8& 58 /5 325,000,0005% 7T © Bx 19D 7R
BE 2 20253 A3H Tk o XI5 N H
Hi A2025%2 A10H ~ 20252 A20H &

2025 3HA3H Z A& -
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43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 February 2025, the Company entered into subscription
agreement with a subscriber, pursuant to which the subscriber
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue and allot, the subscription
shares at subscription price of HK$1.30 per subscription share
for HK$325,000,000. The subscription of shares has been
completed on 3 March 2025. Details are set out in
announcements dated 10 February 2025, 20 February 2025
and 3 March 2025.



EEMBEHRE

Five-Year Financial Summary

AEBWGEAEBEREEHABEBEHB EHY  Asummary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the

W Group is set out below:
B 220245
12A318
ILEE
For the
year ended
December 31,
2024
ARET R
RMB’000
ES Results
WA Revenue 10,129,127 8,863,382 9,535,519 9,452,436 6,185,100
mE R (M) Profit from operation (Note) 427,911 465,325 535,179 489,458 221,654
B AR Finance costs (125,260) (109,295) (67,746) (47,309) (8,965)
BR 3 A1 % Profit before taxation 309,051 360,465 515,895 459,997 204,897 . )
P51 Income tax (35,561) (40,595) (63,475) (47,612) (17,469) )
FREF Profit for the year 273,490 319,870 452,240 412,385 187,428 /
PAT RE{ Attrioutable to:
- ARREEA — Owners of the Company 189,854 210,700 314,414 296,151 123,200
— FPERER — Non-controlling interests 83,636 109,170 138,006 116,234 64,228
F R 7l Profit for the year 273,490 319,870 452,420 412,385 187,428
BREF Earnings per share
BER(ARET) Basic (RMB) 0.139 0.154 0.224 0.213 0.089
Bg(AR¥%T) Diluted (RMB) 0.138 0.154 0.224 0.213 0.880

e RERFTBFE)ELHBERARAENEESE - & Note: Profit from operation excluded () share of results of associates and joint ventures,
(i) E M B A R MK ES o and (i) gain on disposal of subsidiaries.




EEMBERE (&)

Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)

R2024 5
12A31 8
As of
December 31,
2024
AR T
RMB’000
EEREE Assets and liabilities
BEE Total assets 9,606,539 10,199,419 9,705,239 7,782,724 5,492,165
ZaE Total liabilities (5,197,655) (5,864,699) (5,251,887) (3,240,577 (1,268,579)
EEFE NET ASSETS 4,408,384 4,514,720 4,453,352 4,542,147 4,223 586
ALRERBRE Total equity attributable
[l BER to equity shareholders
of the Company 3,846,055 3,993,793 4,028,676 4,154,638 3,940,103
FERER Non-controling interests 562,829 520,927 404,676 387,509 283,483

aER TOTAL EQUITY 4,408,884 4,514,720 4,553,352 4,542 147 4,223,586




[2014F S PR $I B 1D B L
Bl
“2014 RSU Scheme”

[2023 4F = PR I A% f0 B8 L
F &)
“2023 RSU Scheme”

[Al]
“Ap?

[AIGC]
“AIGC”

[AloT |
“AloT”

[ Alphalink |

“Alphalink”

(AR =240 R ]

g

“Articles of Association’

Rk YN

“associate”

[BZZE g
“Audit Committee”

[E=2ZEg)

“Board Committee(s)”

(£
“Board of Directors” or
“Board”

[(REBREZES]
“BVI”

(R A
“CG Code”

=

Definitions

RNABFTEMMN2014F3 A1 B A% - K2014F 12 821 BEE] - WK 202346
AORZARRQF2023F IR R B F KNG 4 REK LS

the scheme adopted by the Company which took effect as at March 1, 2014,
amended on December 21, 2014 and terminated on June 9, 2023 at the conclusion
of the Company’s 2023 annual general meeting

KA EF2023F 6 A9 B FE AR Z R H B D 2 5T &l
the RSU scheme adopted by the Company on June 9, 2023

ATE g
artificial intelligence

ERAATERE
artificial intelligence-generated content

Al K loT
Al and loT

Alphalink Global Limited " —RARBEZHSHMN L2 AR AEEEEE
ZEEZENMBRARIRAYIE B EFERE

Alphalink Global Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Ingdan Group and the major shareholder of Shenzhen Comtech

KARR2014F6 A27 AFEM R R201457 18 A (L B H) £ XK BT
AEERMA RETNREE]

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted on June 27, 2014 and
with effect from July 18, 2014 (the Listing Date), and as amended from time to time

R R ODEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

RRRIEREZES
the audit committee of the Company

EEgETMWERES

committee(s) of the Board

NN =0
the board of Directors of our Company

REBREULEHE
the British Virgin Islands

TR A R C1 AT E MK EEIRSFAD
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

F3R 2024 WEAIH
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= (E)

Definitions (Continued)

[EE{THAE]
“chief executive(s)”

[FR B 5k [ AR B 4t
“China”, “Mainland China”

or “PRC”

[~ EDE]
“Companies Law”
(A2
“Company”, “our
Company”, “the

Company”

[ 58 B |

“Comtech”

[BEAL

“Connected person(s)”

[ 122 iR A% 3R
“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

=

“Director(s)”

[ Envision Chinal

“Envision China”

[ Envision Global

“Envision Global”

H A T ZAe R
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FEARATNE RXBSEMERESRAREMS AREMREMHO P
TEERE BEIORM  [FEN] —ATAERLRE

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and only for
the purpose of this report, references in this report to the PRC or China do not
include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau; the term “Chinese” has a similar meaning

FEHSRQAE(2018F B IEAR) (BT EEET)
Companies Law (2018 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended from time to
time

BERIF  —RKN2012F2A1RERSHESTMELNERRBER AR - Al
B LA

Ingdan, Inc. (i Z& &l ¥7), an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability on February 1, 2012 and formerly known as Cogobuy Group

EFERFRITE SV S

Comtech business unit

H B AR R T % 5 A B

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

H Em R A T & AR & - AN F I $8 R 5t 4 K Envision Global
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context of this
annual report, means Mr. Kang and Envision Global

ARBES

the director(s) of our Company

Envision (China) Holding Ltd. ( A & Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.) © — & #2002 4
SA2THRERBRAMHSAMAINERAR ARCEFREL2EHRSR
Envision (China) Holding Ltd. (formerly known as Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.), a
limited liability company incorporated in the BVI on May 27, 2002 which is indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. Kang

Envision Global Investments Limited * —R 1 2012F 2 A1 B R B E X B 5
MKW ERAR  BELEELZ2ERE U RABMOEEZERRR

Envision Global Investments Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI on February 1, 2012 which is wholly-owned by Mr. Kang and is our immediate
Controlling Shareholder
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[AREE] - T3k
[T FIR9]

“Group”, “our Group”, “the

LT

Group”, “we”,

%7
“HKS’

[& %]
“Hong Kong”

rcl
h’lC!l

(g E R

“Ingdan”

[tEEE]
“Ingdan Cloud”

[fEREH]

“Ingdan Group”

(5l &R

“Ingfin Financing Services”

[oT]
“loT”

[iPaaS ]|
“iPaaS”

[EEEETE®T]

“Kugouwang E-commerce”

us”, or “our”

B (E)

Definitions (Continued)

ARG -HMBRARARRIAERE(HUBREESERGHNRYMES AR
RARIMERARHMEBRR) KR XEMB) ERARRIBWBEA2EARR
BLEPNGIESNG

the Company, its subsidiaries and Shenzhen Kegoubai (the financial results of which
have been consolidated and accounted for as a subsidiary of our Company by virtue
of the contractual arrangements) or, where the context requires, the companies that
currently comprise the subsidiaries of the Company prior to their acquisition by the
Company

BT BEETES
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

hEEFBFRITERRER
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ERER

integrated circuits

BEMEIEHFES

Ingdan business unit

BERMEFERMRETA
Ingdan brand cloud computing technology services platform

BEEEEFRAG(ABBACSHEEERAR)  —KREBRLAHSEM
Y BRT RARRINEEZ2EWE QA

Ingdan Group, Inc., formerly known as Cogobuy Group, Inc., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

SINEREHEER

Ingfin Financing Services business unit

1) Bk 4
Internet of Things

EaFEeRRS

Integration platform as a service

EEREE T EE ORI B R A 7 (Kugouwang E-commerce Services (Shenzhen)
Limited* » Bij 8 Cogobuy.com E-commerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited) © —Z A
2012F7AMNBAEFBEKINAR  REMAOBEZEMNB LA

Kugouwang E-commerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited*, formerly known as
Cogobuy.com E-commerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited (B4 E T i 75 (& )
B BR A 7)), a company established in the PRC on July 31, 2012, and our indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary
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= (E)

Definitions (Continued)

[ 77 H 8
“Listing Date”

[ A A

“Listing Rules”

[k

“Main Board”

[#5 2 <7 B

“Model Code”

[ K4 ]

“Memorandum”

[T H]
“Mr. Kang”

[ #A % &
“Mr. Wu”

[#h2c £ ]

“Ms. Guo”

[k 22 + |

“Ms. Yao”

[ 4 H & 72 |

“NASDAQ”

[ #t 22 AT |
“NYSE”

[ BE R
“PRC Legal Advisor”

201457 A18H - RV MR P EH 2 B
July 18, 2014, the date the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange

ERBARXRGMARDRGES EMRAD(ETRERD
the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended from time to time)

BERZPTEIENEF RS (T RIEMETIS) - BRI PTGEMIL B E 3F 17
EAE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operates in parallel with GEM of the Stock Exchange

ETRAIMSRCIMERCEMBITAESRETESF R ZNRETAD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

KRAFR2014F6 27 HE MR R2014F7 188 (L B #1) £ M EEE]
ABERRNE R RER]

the amended memorandum of association of the Company adopted on June 27,
2014 and with effect from July 18, 2014 (the Listing Date), and as amended from
time to time

BHELE ARAER BEFATERATES  URKMOERKR
Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey (BE 2L &), chairman, chief executive officer and executive
Director of our Company and our Controlling Shareholder

HBELEE  ARFABERMBE RITEETRLAAMWE
Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen (#A5#¥), chief financial officer, executive Director and
company secretary of our Company

BFRFELZL ARAMITES

Ms. Guo Lihua (3B #]%£), executive Director of the Company

izt BMOEZERF - FINATEEOE —RRERFTESE (BB
R NETF

Ms. Yao Vi (#k18), our substantial Shareholder, the sole shareholder of Shenzhen
Kegoubai, and the wife of Mr. Li Feng (Vice President of Strategy, Comtech)

EXEHFRHBHEEDBRERR

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations

MHOBHR D
New York Stock Exchange

LR R A =P

Andie Broad Law Firm
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[BRER]
“Prospectus”

[ % ]
“R&D”

[ ¥ & AR A
“Reporting Period”

N
“RMB”

[ BR I A% 0 B AL 5T 8]
“RSU Schemes”

[52 IR il B ) B4z
“RSUs”

[%& % N HIE 15 ]
“SFO”

[ 17 ]
“Share(s)”

&R ]
“Shareholder(s)”
[ JII 7} 3 |

“Shenzhen Comtech”

[ARYIFRE A ]

“Shenzhen Kegoubai”

[k <2 T
“Stock Exchange”

[EZ R

B (E)

Definitions (Continued)

AKAFBEAE2014F7 ASHHN BB ER
the prospectus of the Company dated July 8, 2014

it 7% % e 3%

research and development

HE2024F12A31AILEE
the year ended December 31, 2024

ARBT FBEEEEY

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

20145 2[R # B 15 BB 51 & 2 2023 & 5% R &l A 15 B fr 51 &
the 2014 RSU Scheme and the 2023 RSU Scheme

R 6l i 0 BB L
restricted share units

BEREDESNEC(EF LBRGH)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

N A A AR AN F B R TH {8 0.0000001 3 7T B 3B AR
ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our company with a par value of
US$0.0000001 each

RRRTAENROFEE A
holder(s) of Share(s) of the Company from time to time

RYTREBRMRMERAR  AIERBIERMCORIDERLA] - — KR
20055 A4 B ERBRYNAR AR BRARAHEENE QA

Shenzhen Comtech Limited, formerly known as Comtech Industrial Technology
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (%l T2 1R I B R A Fl), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on May 24, 2005, which is an indirect subsidiary of
the Company

RYTABAEEERMERAR  —KR2012F12A13HRERBEKILINE
REFELA  AZTE2EHRE  WREASHNLZHEARINERMOK B AT
Shenzhen Kegoubai Information Technologies Limited (% 3l i1 A] B & 12 B & it &
R 2 |)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on December 13, 2012,
wholly-owned by Ms. Yao and, by virtue of the contractual arrangements, accounted
for as our subsidiary

EEBMERZMABRAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

A EW AR A T AR E
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= (E)

Definitions (Continued)

“substantial shareholder” the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[ Total Dynamic &8  Total Dynamic Holdings Limited *+ —ZK 20124 12 A 4 A 75 & i 2 B & =E it
WM EREERE ALK T2EHE  TRAKMOKRE

“Total Dynamic” Total Dynamic Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the BVI

on December 4, 2012 which is wholly-owned by Ms. Yao and is our Shareholder

[ &7 R 19 ¥ ALTRAUETZANEE

“treasury share(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

E= B EFBRERE -HEL BHRFEEENFMEHE

“United States” or “US” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to
its jurisdiction

Ey B EZn EZBEEEH

“Us$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

[%] ¥ Bk

“%” per cent

* E 35
For identification purpose only
RERZPEXIRANEEMMEZE - HARRABE (RPBAMEZEEEEBRERIN) -
In the event of any inconsistency, the English language text of this annual report (other than the names of the legal entities established in Mainland China) shall
prevail over the Chinese language text.
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